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Bidvest at a glance

The Bidvest Group Limited consists of four overarching divisions:

Bidvest South Africa
The division includes a variety of service and product offerings 

across southern Africa.

Bidvest Foodservice
Market-leading foodservice product distributors in its chosen 

geographies, operating through strategically located independent 

business units.

Bidvest Namibia
Bidvest Namibia is the holding company for Bidvest’s interests in 

Namibia which include fishing and similar commercial businesses 

to those of Bidvest in South Africa.

Bidvest Corporate
Provides strategic direction, financial risk and sustainability 

management, marketing, investor relations, corporate 

communications, corporate finance, houses investments and 

provides executive training to the Group.

Bidvest Group
Contribution to Group revenue
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People
 106 000 on five continents creating the 

shareholder value we report

 Our people support their families by 

defining the Bidvest DNA

Products and services
 We work together with our customers 

and suppliers to find solutions within 

their specific industries

 Our services enhance the consumer’s 

experience

 Safety – for our employees and our 

consumers – is a focal area

Performance
 Consistent results since 1988; a 

quarter of a century of adding value

 By spanning a broad spectrum of 

businesses, sustained growth remains 

possible even during economic 

downturns

The Bidvest proposition

Planet 
 Although classified as having a low 

carbon footprint, we continue to strive 

towards minimising our environmental 

impact

 We strive in everything we do to leave 

our planet in good working order for 

future generations

Bidvest values
We are committed to conducting healthy business practices which support our company values of respect, honesty, integrity 

and accountability, ensuring a stable employment environment and the ongoing success of Bidvest.

We believe in empowering people, building relationships and improving lives. Entrepreneurship, incentivisation, decentralised 

management and communication are the keys.

We subscribe to a philosophy of transparency, excellence and innovation in all our business dealings.

Adding value to stakeholders

56,9%

25,5%

11,2%

6,4%

Our integrated approach

Employees (56,9%)
“Bidvest people stepped up to the challenge of maintaining 

momentum in tough markets. I’m proud to be on your team”, 

Brian Joffe, Group CE

Providers of capital (11,2%)
Dividends per share rose 15,8% to 720,0 cents

Retained for growth (25,5%)
“We look forward to unlocking significant 

value in 2014 inside our existing operations 

and perhaps in some new ones”, 

Brian Joffe, Group CE

Governments (6,4%)
“Bidvest derives 38,8% of its trading profit from outside 

South Africa. Accordingly, currency volatility has an impact 

on reported rand results”, David Cleasby, Group FD

R16,7 billion

R7,3 billion

R3,1 billion

R1,8 billion
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Our integrated approach

Scope and boundaries
The Bidvest Group Limited annual integrated 

report for the year ended June 30 2013 

covers information from all the Group’s 

divisions and where additional information is 

available or where there are any exclusions it 

is clearly indicated. This review should be read 

together with the information available on the 

Bidvest website at www.bidvest.com for a 

comprehensive view of the Group.

Operating in five geographies, the Bidvest 

world is a dynamic and ever-evolving  

one. The powerful platform created by  

±106 000 people defining the Proudly 

Bidvest entrepreneurial brand while 

operating across a variety of industries 

continues to create exciting opportunities.

Bidvest continues to progress on the 

journey outlined by King III while ensuring 

increased integration of reported financial, 

social, governance and environmental 

information. The annual financial statements 

are prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS), the Companies Act of South Africa 

and the JSE Listings Requirements. Bidvest 

uses the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 

framework together with the guidelines 

drafted by the Integrated Reporting 

Committee of South Africa as a platform  

for this integrated report. 

In line with the GRI G3 framework and 

integrated reporting guidelines and while 

striving for concise and accurate reporting; 

only information relevant to the specific 

Bidvest environment is reported. The GRI 

(G3/G4) indicator index can be found on the 

website, www.bidvest.com. Where 

information requested is not material for 

Bidvest as a Group, this has been indicated. 

Where information is collated from a Group 

perspective but not reported, this 

information is available on request and this is 

also clearly indicated.

Stakeholder engagement has shaped the 

information contained in the integrated 

report; please refer to the stakeholder matrix:

QUICK LINK: Stakeholder matrix

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/001.php

In the decentralised and diverse Bidvest 

environment, stakeholder engagement takes 

place at a Group, divisional and company 

level. This process provides the materiality 

test and platform for all the Group reporting.

A sustainable business
Our approach to sustainability underpins the 

specific business strategies and imperatives 

while looking for new possibilities which will 

create opportunities for our people, 

communities, partners and countries while 

ensuring that non-renewable resources are 

not compromised. 

Sustainability information is maintained, 

collated and captured globally by the 

individual businesses using an online data 

collation tool. This information is used as  

a business intelligence tool to identify areas 

of focus for the businesses based on their 

data collated as well as assisting in 

reporting progress against targets and 

industry benchmarking.

Although Bidvest is a relatively low-carbon 

emitter, those businesses which have  

a greater carbon footprint are constantly 

assessing ways in which they can mitigate 

their emissions and offset emissions as 

appropriate. Businesses in our services 

division work closely with their respective 

client bases to seek low-carbon solutions. 

Although carbon emissions continue to 

increase year on year, this is largely due to 

acquisitions and increased business 

activities. We closely monitor these changes 

and use revenue as an intensity measure to 

track changes. We are pleased to confirm 

that carbon emissions per R1 million of 

revenue are steadily decreasing.

As water is a non-renewable resource, 

Bidvest is cognisant of the challenges faced 

by governments to provide a growing 

population with access to clean water. 

Water usage is monitored; and individual 

businesses which have a high exposure to 

this resource, for example our Bidvest 

Laundry group, have robust water 

management policies in place to ensure that 

exposure to this limited resource is 

responsibly contained.

Bidvest continues to support and participate 

in initiatives such as the Carbon Disclosure 

Project and the JSE SRI index. In 2013, 

Bidvest responded to requests from the 

CDP to participate in their forest and water 

disclosure programmes and will monitor 

future developments.

Corporate governance
As the custodians of corporate governance, 

the Bidvest board of directors ensures that 

the Group adheres to the highest standards 

of accountability and ethical conduct and 

operates according to legislative requirements 

as well as adhering to the codes and 

standards of good corporate governance. 

The directors acknowledge their responsibility 

to ensure the integrity of the integrated report 

and believe that the report addresses material 

issues as well as the performance of the 

organisation and its impacts.

Lorato Phalatse

Non-executive chairperson

David Cleasby

Group financial director

Brian Joffe

Chief executive

Our Bidvest code of ethics demands the 

highest standards of integrity, ethics and 

behaviour in all conduct and dealings and is 

based on the following values:
 Accountability to stakeholders
 Business growth
 Decentralisation
 Entrepreneurship and innovation
 Non-discrimination and equal opportunity
 Fairness and honesty in stakeholder 

interaction
 Respect for human dignity, human rights, 

social justice and environment
 Service excellence, creating an exceptional 

place in which to work and do business
 Transparency and open lines of 

communication

Assurance
The financial statements have been 

independently opined upon by Deloitte, who 

also perform a limited assurance exercise 

on certain non-financial indicators. During 

the 2013 reporting period, limited assurance 

was provided on certain non-financial 

indicators. The limited assurance provided 

to the Group covered between 30% and 

50% of the reported non-financial indicators. 

We believe that the information reported is 

robustly assured and assists in realistic 

target setting and reporting. 

This approach has greatly assisted the 

businesses themselves in terms of their target 

setting for the 2014 reporting period. By 

identifying the top contributors in certain key 

sustainability indicators – training spend, CSI 

spend, water, electricity, petrol and diesel 

usage –  this has heightened awareness 

across the broad spectrum of our businesses 

while increasing innovative thinking regarding 

new potential business opportunities.

QUICK LINK: Letter of assurance

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/002.php

Board responsibility
It is the board’s responsibility to ensure the 

integrity of the annual integrated report.

The board has accordingly applied its mind 

to the annual integrated report and in the 

opinion of the board, this report addresses  

all material issues and presents fairly the 

integrated performance of the organisation 

and its impacts. The integrated report has 

been prepared in line with best practice 

pursuant to the recommendations of the 

King III Code (principle 9.1). The board 

authorised the annual integrated report  

for release on October 25 2013.

Disclosure
The annual integrated report is an overview 

for anyone interested in Bidvest – either as a 

current or potential investor, or any one of 

our other stakeholders – to obtain a 

high-level picture of the Group, how it is 

structured, how it is managed and its value 

proposition. If you feel that there is 

important information that you would like to 

see included in future reviews, please 

contact us on info@bidvest.com as we 

value your comments and suggestions.
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Bidvest at a glance

Financial highlights

0

30

60

90

120

150

Revenue  

(R’billion)

+15%

153,4
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118,5

  Revenue grew 14,9% to  
R153,4 billion (2012:  
R133,5 billion). 

  EBITDA up 8,4% to R9,8 billion.

  EBITDA interest cover up to 
12,8 times (11,5 times).

+14,9%
up to R153,4 billion

Revenue

Trading profit 

(R’billion)

+9%
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2011 2012 2013

2013 strategic objectives

Management focus Innovation
Product and service innovation  

to assist in growing revenues on  

a sustainable basis

Financial disciplines 
Ongoing cost control, combined 

with good working capital 

management to generate 

acceptable return on funds 

employed 

Own the  
cash flows

Master of the  
distribution  
channel

+21,3%
up to 8 411,0 cents

NAV per share

Manage businesses actively  
and successfully

Maintain decentralised channels 
and reach common goals
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Ordinary dividend per share 

(cents)

+16%
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Normalised headline earnings
per share 
(cents)

+15%
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2011 2012 2013

+15,8%
up to 720,0 cents

Dividends per share

Accountability
Remain accountable and 

responsible for developing 

sustainable businesses

Stick to 
basics

+15,4%
up to 1 560,6 cents

Normalised HEPS

Decentralisation
Flexible manageable sized 

organisations have the best chance 

of success in a changing world

Medium-term target
Continued opportunities present 

themselves to grow product and 

service offerings, combined with 

real organic growth in earnings 

across all businesses

Emerging market 
focus

Anticipate  
the future

The need to be increasingly 
flexible and adaptable, to explore 
new opportunities and directions 
while taking risks on a calculated 
basis

Remain focused on delivering 
above-average returns for 
all shareholders despite the 
environmental factors 

Collect the debtors book, manage 
payment of creditors, spend 
capex effectively and manage  
the returns on investment
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Consolidated segmental analysis
for the year ended June 30

Segmental 
revenue 

Segmental 
trading profit

Segmental 
result

Trading division
2013

R’000
2012*

R’000
%

change
2013

R’000
2012*

R’000
%

change
2013

R’000
2012*

R’000
%

change

Bidvest South Africa  69 266 131  62 672 667  10,5  4 223 653  3 822 564  10,5  4 203 412  3 799 763  10,6 

Automotive  20 704 970  19 130 896  8,2  640 956  502 365  27,6  640 715  501 481  27,8 

Electrical  4 527 394  4 286 092  5,6  224 614  207 554  8,2  224 614  205 328  9,4 

Financial Services  1 458 683  1 715 660  (15,0)  594 883  586 743  1,4  594 883  586 743  1,4 

Freight  25 114 347  20 833 921  20,5  979 402  922 216  6,2  979 402  915 331  7,0 

Industrial  1 528 760  1 473 920  3,7  86 030  81 803  5,2  86 030  72 790  18,2 

Office  4 245 566  4 183 978  1,5  324 259  275 149  17,8  324 259  277 149  17,0 

Paperplus  4 031 330  3 858 146  4,5  281 292  328 140  (14,3)  281 292  328 140  (14,3)

Rental and Products  2 208 649  2 057 282  7,4  435 825  383 806  13,6  435 825  378 014  15,3 

Services  3 239 334  3 086 476  5,0  276 465  215 414  28,3  256 465  215 413  19,1 

Travel and Aviation  2 207 098  2 046 296  7,9  379 927  319 374  19,0  379 927  319 374  19,0 

Bidvest Foodservice  82 716 213  70 300 093  17,7  2 488 149  2 222 094  12,0  2 373 446  2 191 828  8,3 

Asia Pacific  28 626 542  23 493 350  21,8  1 211 408  1 000 042  21,1  1 211 186  986 517  22,8 

Europe  48 156 247  41 114 785  17,1  936 242  912 729  2,6  851 069  909 388  (6,4)

Southern Africa  5 933 424  5 691 958  4,2  340 499  309 323  10,1  311 191  295 923  5,2 

Bidvest Namibia  3 597 158  2 971 322  21,1  592 223  637 694  (7,1)  591 856  641 659  (7,8)

Bidvest Corporate  973 698  834 399  16,7  371 202  331 876  11,8  389 856  628 573  (38,0)

Properties  339 034  317 658  6,7  324 015  296 879  9,1  325 825  297 269  9,6 

Corporate and investments  634 664  516 741  22,8  47 187  34 997  34,8  64 031  331 304  (80,7)

 156 553 200  136 778 481  14,5  7 675 227  7 014 228  9,4  7 558 570  7 261 823  4,1 

Inter-group eliminations  (3 148 668)  (3 244 848)  

Share-based payment expense  (119 650)  (121 524)

 153 404 532  133 533 633  14,9  7 438 920  7 140 299  4,2 

Geographic region 

Southern Africa  79 181 855  71 693 035  10,4  5 556 965  5 127 844  8,4  5 525 702  5 392 305  2,5 

Europe  48 744 803  41 592 096  17,2  906 854  886 342  2,3  821 682  883 001  (6,9)

Asia Pacific  28 626 542  23 493 350  21,8  1 211 408  1 000 042  21,1  1 211 186  986 517  22,8 

 156 553 200  136 778 481  14,5  7 675 227  7 014 228  9,4  7 558 570  7 261 823  4,1 

* refer note 42
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Segmental 
operating assets

Segmental 
operating liabilities

Segmental 
depreciation

Segmental 
capital expenditure

2013
R’000

2012*
R’000

%
change

2013
R’000

2012*
R’000

%
change

2013
R’000

2012*
R’000

%
change

2013
R’000

2012*
R’000

%
change

 20 366 576  18 657 855  9,2  10 924 843  10 130 804  7,8  880 498  996 044  (11,6)  991 581  1 317 851  (24,8)

 3 468 550  2 980 099  16,4  1 912 751  1 956 266  (2,2)  46 960  55 765  (15,8)  59 280  45 190  31,2 

 1 894 958  1 884 140  0,6  766 839  795 338  (3,6)  17 609  14 862  18,5  35 246  16 618  112,1 

 3 313 959  3 162 337  4,8  2 735 350  2 368 945  15,5  183 616  292 142  (37,1)  121 590  436 881  (72,2)

 3 904 558  3 333 168  17,1  2 692 946  2 305 076  16,8  193 560  188 645  2,6  359 832  371 489  (3,1)

 792 918  778 580  1,8  246 581  260 512  (5,3)  20 281  17 853  13,6  22 121  25 894  (14,6)

 1 477 903  1 391 205  6,2  779 589  767 470  1,6  47 437  49 323  (3,8)  48 425  51 989  (6,9)

 1 716 592  1 510 030  13,7  514 406  489 369  5,1  68 250  60 346  13,1  62 510  82 445  (24,2)

 881 844  879 242  0,3  257 380  260 924  (1,4)  163 833  154 986  5,7  163 902  157 291  4,2 

 759 868  678 245  12,0  338 925  315 980  7,3  87 354  100 673  (13,2)  96 079  88 415  8,7 

 2 155 426  2 060 809  4,6  680 076  610 924  11,3  51 598  61 449  (16,0)  22 596  41 639  (45,7)

 21 006 911  17 437 017  20,5  13 840 524  11 460 691  20,8  733 263  624 557  17,4  1 167 575  777 631  50,1 

 7 777 084  6 518 290  19,3  4 033 189  3 489 221  15,6  227 219  201 209  12,9  489 593  300 636  62,9 

 11 291 457  9 138 994  23,6  8 886 095  7 078 469  25,5  443 740  357 995  24,0  556 301  374 205  48,7 

 1 938 370  1 779 733  8,9  921 240  893 001  3,2  62 304  65 353  (4,7)  121 681  102 790  18,4 

 1 761 868  1 544 255  14,1  485 071  519 124  (6,6)  63 801  52 939  20,5  117 334  125 030  (6,2)

 5 210 845  4 144 171  25,7  378 716  1 268 689  (70,1)  47 137  36 823  28,0  332 275  253 922  30,9 

 2 075 877  1 788 734  16,1  43 728  5 885  643,0  4 711  4 408  6,9  300 305  167 126  79,7 

 3 134 968  2 355 437  33,1  334 988  1 262 804  (73,5)  42 426  32 415  30,9  31 970  86 796  (63,2)

 48 346 200  41 783 298  15,7  25 629 154  23 379 308 9,6  1 724 699  1 710 363  0,8  2 608 765  2 474 434  5,4 

 (519 909)  (483 839)  (519 909)  (483 839)

 47 826 291  41 299 459  15,8  25 109 245  22 895 469  9,7 

 29 005 314  25 857 881  12,2  12 620 967  12 669 616  (0,4)  1 013 370  1 121 812  (9,7)  1 536 723  1 713 799  (10,3)

 11 563 802  9 407 127  22,9  8 974 998  7 220 471  24,3  484 110  387 342  25,0  582 449  459 999  26,6 

 7 777 084  6 518 290  19,3  4 033 189  3 489 221  15,6  227 219  201 209  12,9  489 593  300 636  62,9 

 48 346 200  41 783 298  15,7  25 629 154  23 379 308  9,6  1 724 699  1 710 363  0,8  2 608 765  2 474 434  5,4 
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Segmental amortisation 
and impairments  

of intangible assets

Segmental goodwill  
and intangible assets

Employee benefits  
and remuneration

Number of 
employees

2013
R’000

2012*
R’000

%
change

2013
R’000

2012*
R’000

%
change

2013
R’000

2012*
R’000

%
change

2013
R’000

2012*
R’000

%
change

 49 450  53 913  (8,3)  1 065 206  1 059 401  0,5  8 357 408  8 011 830  4,3 82 478  82 128  0,4 

–  4 203  238 900  229 132  4,3  1 428 639  1 369 607  4,3  5 831  5 870  (0,7)

 6 336  9 501  (33,3)  79 695  71 900  10,8  424 400  367 503  15,5  2 214  2 066  7,2 

 10 167  6 989  45,5  56 104  54 166  3,6  275 508  271 538  1,5  1 223  1 285  (4,8)

 8 188  10 926  (25,1)  76 224  85 948  (11,3)  1 063 274  1 074 118  (1,0)  4 733  4 800  (1,4)

 1 143  1 138  0,4  23 202  18 642  24,5  247 293  236 783  4,4  1 173  1 190  (1,4)

 10 105  5 444  85,6  99 006  89 303  10,9  795 351  769 451  3,4  4 206  4 169  0,9 

 7 861  8 152  (3,6)  171 850  166 834  3,0  652 820  604 053  8,1  4 197  4 323  (2,9)

 1 334  1 890  (29,4)  86 421  86 925  (0,6)  461 168  434 615  6,1 6 282  5 970  5,2 

 2 185  2 585  (15,5)  169 012  190 495  (11,3)  2 224 903  2 124 661  4,7  47 209  47 260  (0,1)

 2 131  3 085  (30,9)  64 792  66 056  (1,9)  784 052  759 501  3,2  5 410  5 195  4,1 

 217 255  72 833  198,3  8 650 674  7 114 763  21,6  7 359 310  6 143 828  19,8  20 071  19 221  4,4 

 13 984  9 912  41,1  1 764 977  1 640 194  7,6  2 319 989  1 842 069  25,9  4 954  4 486  10,4 

 201 215  59 640  237,4  6 820 330  5 407 569  26,1  4 393 495  3 692 422  19,0  11 302  10 986  2,9 

 2 056  3 281  (37,3)  65 367  67 000  (2,4)  645 826  609 337  6,0  3 815  3 749  1,8 

 6 107  5 821  4,9  158 131  135 878  16,4  483 638  435 779  11,0  3 203  3 110  3,0 

 6 090  916  564,8  5 730  912  528,3  333 682  286 833  16,3  619  644  (3,9)

– –  142  142 –  11 033  8 459  30,4  12  12 –

 6 090  916  564,8  5 588  770  625,7  322 649  278 374  15,9  607  632  (3,9)

 278 902  133 483  108,9  9 879 741  8 310 954  18,9  16 534 038  14 878 270  11,1 106 371  105 103  1,2 

 119 650  121 524 

 16 653 688  14 999 794  11,0 

 63 703  63 931  (0,4)  1 294 434  1 263 191  2,5  9 638 547  9 191 558  4,9  89 666  89 111  0,6 

 201 215  59 640  237,4  6 820 330  5 407 569  26,1  4 575 502  3 844 643  19,0  11 777  11 506  2,4 

 13 984  9 912  41,1  1 764 977  1 640 194  7,6  2 319 989  1 842 069  25,9  4 954  4 486  10,4 

 278 902  133 483  108,9  9 879 741  8 310 954  18,9  16 534 038  14 878 270  11,1 106 371  105 103  1,2 
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Global footprint

People create wealth, companies only report it
Employees in southern Africa
Total 89 640

Bidvest Namibia

Bidvest Automotive

Bidvest Electrical

Bidvest Freight

Bidvest Financial Services

Bidvest Industrial

Bidvest Food SA

Bidvest Office

Bidvest Paperplus

Bidvest Rental and Products

Bidvest Services

Bidvest Travel and Aviation

Bidvest Corporate

3 203120

5 831

2 214

4 733

1 223
1 173

3 815

4 206

4 197

6 282

47 209

5 410

Employees outside southern Africa
Total 16 731

Ontime

Isle of Man

Bidvest Foodservice – Asia Pacific

Bidvest Foodservice – Europe

11 302

487 6

4 954

60 959 45 412

106 371 proudly Bidvest people on five continents 
supporting their families by defining the Bidvest DNA
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Bidvest contributions to CSI initiatives have 
increased to well above the 1% of trading profit 
target. A three-tier CSI strategy is applied:

  Corporate supports a number of overarching 
worthy causes

  Divisions support a number of meaningful 
projects

  Individual businesses support community-based 
projects
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David Cleasby, Group FD



THE BIDVEST GROUP LIMITED

Annual Integrated Report 2013
9

Electricity usage

Electricity from  

renewable resources

230 917,4 GJ

Electricity from non- 

renewable resources 

1 295 872 GJ

Fuel usage

Petrol

22,2 (Ml)

Diesel

107,7 (Ml)

ASIA

AUSTRALIA and  
NEW ZEALAND

Environmental impact
Water usage

2 806,9
Megalitres
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Emission intensity per revenue has 
improved consistently over the past 
years as revenue has increased and 
operational efficiencies have improved.

Bidvest participated in the CDP 
water disclosure projects as we 
realise the importance of this 
non-renewable resource. As a 
player in the outsourced services 
industry, Bidvest works with its 
customers towards minimising 
their water consumption.

QUICK LINK: Greenhouse gas performance data

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/003.php

(Gigajoules)

(Megalitres)

QUICK LINK: Comparative sustainability data

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/004.php
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The Bidvest timeline

Acquired 100% of Angliss, a leading 
foodservice wholesaler and distributor in 
Singapore, Hong Kong and China. Negotiations 
finalised to acquire Viamax Holdings. 

Rennies Bank renamed Bidvest Bank. Black 
economic empowerment partnership with 
Dinatla Consortium refinanced and extended 
for five years.

2007 2008
R1,5 billion raised via domestic loan.  
Viamax acquisition concluded. Revenue exceeds  
R100 billion for the first time. First carbon  
footprint analysis done.

2003
The Bidvest Academy, a Group training 
and development programme, launched. 
Groundbreaking black economic 
empowerment initiative with Dinatla 
Investment Holdings announced. Danel 
acquired and renamed Lithotech France. 

2002
Acquisition of 56,7% of LSE-listed Jacobs 

Holdings plc, which was renamed Bidcorp plc. 
Paragon acquired and merged with Lithotech. 
Remaining 68% of Voltex acquired to form part of 
the Commercial Products division.

The minority shareholding in I-Fusion acquired. 

1996
Empowerment programmes begin with Women 
Investment Portfolio Holdings and Worldwide 
African Investment Holdings each acquiring a  
5% shareholding in Bid Corporation.

1997
100% of Waltons group acquired,  
Bid Corporation unbundled and Bidvest 

incorporated into the JSE industrial index.

1988
Chipkins, the first acquisition, 
followed shortly thereafter by  
Sea World. The start of Bidfood.

 1989 Acquisition of Afcom.

1990
Bid Corporation becomes the pyramid holding 
company of Bidvest.

  1991 Acquisition of Steiner Services – 
beginning of the hygiene services 
business.
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2009
The Bidvest business model was 
tested by the worst economy in its 
21-year history and has risen to 
the challenge of the “new Normal”.

  2010 The Nowaco and Farutex 
Group, foodservice businesses 
operating in Czech Republic, 
Slovakia and Poland was 
acquired for €250 million.

2011
Seafood Holdings, market leading fresh fish 
foodservice business in the United Kingdom 
acquired for GBP45 million. Realignment of South 
African based businesses (excluding food 
businesses) into Bidvest South Africa. Businesses 
grouped into similar product and service offerings.

  2012 Acquisition of Deli Meals in Chile, 
Bidvest’s first entry into South America.

First lady chairperson

Lorato Phalatse.

Acquisition of Home  

of Living Brands

2006
Acquired 100% of Netherlands foodservice company, 
Deli XL and a controlling stake in Horeca Trade, a small 
Dubai-based foodservice distributor.

Global footprint expanded through investment to develop 
and operate Mumbai International Airport. Non-executive 
component of the board strengthened. 

2004
R2,1 billion BEE transaction for 15% of Bidvest 
with Dinatla finalised. McCarthy, South 
Africa’s second largest motor retailer, acquired 
for R980 million. Acquisition of minority 
interests of Bidvest plc.

  2005 Cyril Ramaphosa takes the reins as 
chairman. Successful buyout of Bidcorp 
plc minority interest. Acquisition of 20% of 
Tiger Wheels. G. Fox acquired.

2000
Acquisition of Island View Storage. Banking licence granted to Rennies Bank 
and 77% of I-Fusion acquired. Bidvest plc enters the New Zealand foodservice 
market with the acquisition of Crean Foodservice, renamed Crean First for 
Foodservice.

  2001 John Lewis Foodservice acquired and 
incorporated into Bidvest Australia, creating the 
leading foodservice distributor in Australia. The 
Group-wide area network, Bidnet, developed by 
I-Fusion. mymarket.com, Bidvest’s e-commerce 
initiative, launched.

1998
Bidvest plc, incorporating Bidvest 
Australia, was created with 
dual listings in Australia and 
Luxembourg.

  1999 Booker Foodservice, 
renamed 3663 First 
for Foodservice, 
acquired by Bidvest 
plc. Acquisition of 
Rennies group.

1994
Rights offer raises R300 million, 10-for-1 share 
subdivision.

  1995 First steps to international expansion taken 
– 50,1% of Australian Stock Exchange-listed 
Manettas acquired and renamed Bidvest Australia.

1992
Crown Food Holdings acquired and 
merged with National Spice to form  
Crown National.

  1993 Safcor Freight acquired – the 
start of Bidfreight. Prestige Cleaning 
Services acquired and grouped with 
Steiner to form Bidserv.

2013
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Financial history

22-year 

compound 

growth rates 

% per annum(1)

10-year 

compound 

growth rates 

% per annum 2013 2012

Extract from financial statements (R’m)
Revenue 30,9 12,5  153 405  133 534 

Trading profit 27,7 13,1  7 675  7 014 

Net finance income  (765)  (785)

Attributable profit 29,2 13,6  4 772  4 443 

Shareholders’ interest  26 374  21 630 

Total assets 27,4 16,4  66 678  55 895 

Net debt  4 547  3 615 

Funds employed  22 717  18 404 

Cash generated by operations 29,9 10,7  7 367  8 942 

Wealth created by trading operations 29,0 11,9  28 447  26 093 

Employee benefits and remuneration  16 654  15 000 

Share statistics
Headline earnings per share (cents)(3) 20,5 12,9  1 560,6  1 474,2 

Ordinary distribution per share (cents)(4) 20,7 12,6  720,0  622,0 

Distribution cover (times)(4)  2,2  2,4 

Distribution yield (%)  2,9  3,4 

Earnings yield (%)  6,4  8,1 

Net tangible asset value per share (cents) 19,2 13,0  5 260  4 270 

Share price (cents)

 high  26 190  18 614 

 low  18 016  14 035 

 closing (June 30) 22,5 19,0  24 495  18 200 

Market capitalisation (R’m)(5) 29,3 19,0  76 805  56 775 

Volumes traded (000’s)    181 218  182 235 

Volumes traded as % of weighted number of shares  58,0  58,7 

Ratios and statistics
Return on total shareholders’ interest (%)  22,1  25,1 

Return on average funds employed (%)(6)  37,3  39,9 

Trading profit margin (%)  5,0  5,3 

Interest cover(9)  10,0  8,9 

Debt equity ratio (%)(8)  17,2  16,7 

Current asset ratio  1,3  1,1 

Quick asset ratio  0,8  0,7 

Number of employees  106 371  105 103 

Revenue per employee (R’000)  1 442,2  1 270,5 

Value added per employee (R’000)  267,4  248,3 

Number of shares in issue (000’s)(7)  313 555  311 952 

Number of weighted shares in issue (000’s)(7)  312 577  310 324 

Exchange rate comparisons
Rand/sterling

 Closing rate  15,05  12,94 

 Average rate  13,87  12,34 

Rand/euro

 Closing rate  13,13  10,46 

 Average rate  11,46  10,41 

Rand/Australian dollar

 Closing rate  9,05  8,42 

 Average rate  9,08  8,03 

Notes and definitions
(1) Based on growth from 1991, the first year of Bidvest in its current form.
(2)  Information for the periods to 2004 has not been restated on the adoption of IFRS in the 2005 year and is provided for information and comparative  

purposes only.
(3) Based on weighted average number of shares in issue.
(4)  Includes interim distributions paid and final distributions approved after year-end. Distributions include capitalisation issues at market value, distributions  

of share premium and dividends. The amount for 2012 excludes a special dividend of 80 cents per share.
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In accordance with IFRS

In terms of 
previous 

GAAP(2)

 2011 2010  2009  2008  2007 2006  2005  2004 

 118 483  109 789  112 428  110 478  95 656  77 276  62 812  51 262 

 6 124  5 555  5 137  5 335  4 547  3 657  3 046  2 544 

 (644)  (758)  (1 029)  (931)  (566)  (342)  (285)  (169)

 3 539  3 345  2 802  3 253  2 700  2 389  1 961  1 532 

 17 669  16 737  13 929  13 468  10 627  8 929  7 469  5 998 

 47 830  43 345  38 484  41 861  32 848  27 995  21 123  18 021 

 5 030  3 863  4 072  5 547  3 764  1 452  989  674 

 16 779  15 213  13 924  14 503  10 663  7 456  6 093  5 345 

 8 163  7 984  6 749  6 087  4 237  4 490  4 200  3 761 

 22 524  21 465  20 708  19 595  16 777  14 049  11 955  10 231 

 13 308  12 779  12 817  11 701  9 967  8 311  7 304  6 512 

 1 157,4  1 070,0  930,0  1 068,0  970,0  804,6  656,4  544,0 

 480,0  432,0  380,0  495,0  446,4  369,0  306,0  250,2 

 2,4  2,5  2,4  2,2  2,2  2,2  2,1  2,2 

 3,2  3,5  3,9  5,0  3,2  3,7  4,2  4,8 

 7,7  8,8  9,6  10,9  6,9  8,1  9,0  10,4 

 3 444  3 253  3 098  2 803  2 135  1 814  1 542  1 330 

 16 100  14 664  11 808  15 100  14 780  11 650  8 100  5 620 

 12 000  9 250  7 750  9 400  9 430  7 200  5 195  4 100 

 15 050  12 189  9 674  9 838  14 123  9 875  7 270  5 250 

 46 508  38 884  29 505  29 571  42 772  29 541  21 768  16 570 

 232 095  285 279  243 051  265 157  233 306  206 156  166 720  160 233 

 72,8  90,7  80,6  87,5  77,7  68,7  55,1  53,3 

 21,1  24,0  20,8  30,6  30,2  32,0  0,0  28,6 

 37,9  38,7  36,4  48,6  50,2  54,0  53,5  53,6 

 5,2  5,1  4,6  4,8  4,8  4,7  4,8  5,0 

 9,5  7,3  5,0  5,7  8,0  10,7  10,7  15,1 

 28,5  23,1  29,2  41,2  35,4  16,3  13,2  11,2 

 1,1  1,1  1,1  1,1  1,1  1,1  1,1  1,1 

 0,7  0,7  0,7  0,7  0,7  0,8  0,7  0,8 

 105 057  105 752  103 449  106 225  104 184  93 325  89 737  81 931 

 1 127,8  1 038,2  1 086,8  1 040,0  918,1  828,0  700,0  625,7 

 214,4  203,0  200,2  184,5  161,0  150,5  133,2  124,9 

 309 021  319 006  304 995  300 576  302 852  299 154  299 421  302 156 

 318 665  314 510  301 462  303 159  300 206  299 976  302 700  300 643 

 10,97  11,53  13,02  15,89  14,18  13,20  11,96  11,29 

 11,18  12,05  14,47  14,64  13,95  11,44  11,53  11,94 

 9,84  9,34  11,05  12,51  9,54  9,16  8,07  7,57 

 9,56  10,60  12,35  10,76  9,41  7,82  7,89  8,19 

 7,25  6,56  6,34  7,66  6,01  5,31  5,09  4,32 

 6,94  6,71  6,67  6,56  5,67  4,81  4,67  4,89 

(5) Market capitalisation is shown net of treasury shares. Total market capitalisation was R80,3 billion (2012: R56,8 billion)
(6) Return on average funds employed is calculated using the weighted average of the Group’s funds employed and trading income.
(7) The number of shares in issue has been adjusted for treasury shares.
(8) Debt equity ratio is the net debt of the Group divided by shareholders’ interest.
(9) Interest cover is the trading income divided by net finance costs.
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Directorate
Executive directors

Anthony William Dawe

Chief executive,  
Bidvest Freight
Age: 47

Qualification: CA(SA)

Appointed: June 28  2006

Bernard Larry Berson

Chief executive, Bidvest 
Foodservice
Age: 48

Qualification: Australian CA

Appointed: October 27  2003

Lindsay Peter Ralphs

Chief executive,  
Bidvest South Africa
Age: 57

Qualification: CA(SA) 

Appointed: May 10  1992

 

 Brian Joffe   
Group chief executive
Age: 66

Qualification: CA(SA) 

Appointed: March 1  1989

Curricula vitae of the directors can be found in the directors’ report on 

pages 68 and 69.

  

  

Ethnicity

38,9%

61,1%

WhiteBlack

  

  

Gender

16,7%

83,3%

WomenMen

David Edward Cleasby

Group financial director
Age: 51

Qualification: CA(SA)

Appointed: July 9  2007

  

 

Ethnicity

38,9%

61,1%

WhiteBlack

  

 

Gender

16,7%

83,3%

WomenMen



THE BIDVEST GROUP LIMITED

Annual Integrated Report 2013
15

Independent non-executive directorsIndependent non executive directors

 Audit committee
NG Payne (chairman), PC Baloyi, EK Diack,  

D Masson

 Remuneration committee
DDB Band (chairman), A Maditsi, D Masson

 Risk committee
NG Payne (chairman), BL Berson, DE Cleasby, B Joffe, CWL Phalatse,  

LP Ralphs, T Slabbert

 Acquisitions committee
DDB Band (chairman), BL Berson, DE Cleasby, EK Diack, B Joffe,  

D Masson, LP Ralphs

 Nominations committee
DDB Band (chairman), B Joffe, CWL Phalatse, T Slabbert

 Social and ethics committee
NG Payne (chairman), BL Berson, DE Cleasby, B Joffe,  

CWL Phalatse, LP Ralphs, T Slabbert

Committees

Alfred Anthony da Costa

Age: 48

Qualification: BCom (Hons)

Appointed: December 8  2003

Cyril Ramaphosa

Age: 60

Qualification: BProc

Appointed: July 6  2004

Alexander Komape Maditsi

Age: 50

Qualification: BProc, LLB (Wits), 

LLM (Pennsylvania), LLM (Harward), 

Dip company Law (Wits)

Appointed: April 20  2012

Tania Slabbert

Age: 46

Qualification: BA, MBA 

Appointed: August 20  2007

Douglas Denoon Balharrie Band

Lead independent director
Age: 69

Qualification: BCom, CA(SA) 

Appointed: October 27  2003

Stephen Koseff

Age: 62

Qualification: BCom, CA(SA), HDip 

BDP, MBA

Appointed: June 17  1997

Nigel George Payne

Age: 53

Qualification: BCom (Hons), CA(SA),  

MBL 

Appointed: June 28  2006

Adv Faith Dikeledi  

Pansy Tlakula

Age: 56

Qualification: DTech (Legal Studies) 

Honoris Causa (VUT), BProc (UNIN –  

now UL), LLB (Wits), LLM (Harvard) 

Appointed: June 28  2006

Paul Cambo Baloyi

Age: 57

Qualification: MBA, MDP, SEP 

(Harvard)

Appointed: April 20  2012

Lebogang Joseph Mokoena

Age: 54

Qualification: BSc (Med Sci), MBA

Appointed: As alternate to  

AA da Costa on December 8  2003

Alternate

Cecilia Wendy Lorato Phalatse

Independent non-executive 
chairperson
Age: 51

Qualification: BA Political Science, 

(Hons) University of Leeds UK, 

MA Southern African Studies, 

University of York UK

Appointed: April 20  2012

 

Eric Kevin Diack

Age: 56

Qualification: BAcc CA(SA), AMP 

Harvard

Appointed: April 20  2012

Donald Masson

Age: 82

Qualification: ACIS

Appointed: March 10  1992
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In succeeding Mr Ramaphosa as chairman,  

I could not have wished for a better 

introductory medium than the pleasure of 

presenting what is yet another successful  

year for The Bidvest Group Limited. This, 

notwithstanding the unique, yet significant 

challenges facing our economy. Improving 

historical performance levels requires 

leadership and staff to see opportunities 

arising from the challenges and to leverage 

Group innovation to extract emergent gains. 

Among Bidvest’s many attributes is the ability 

to adapt to an evolving economic environment. 

This attests to the quality of Proudly Bidvest 

people and many years of continued 

investment in employee development. 

Since joining the board, I have had the 

pleasure of interacting with many Bidvest 

people during a tour of local subsidiaries and 

associate companies. It was pleasing to see 

great passion and dedication to their 

respective entities and, most importantly,  

the strong linkages to the Group and, by 

extension, intense brand loyalty. The tour 

also gave me greater insight into the Group’s 

operations and our diverse range of products 

and services.

I was particularly struck by the sense of 

ownership displayed at every operation. 

Local teams “own” the businesses they run. 

They live the Proudly Bidvest ethos. They 

make the difficult choices and hold 

themselves accountable.  

The year under review
Global conditions remained subdued with 

marginal growth rates in most of our major 

trading economies. While the US and Europe 

Group is likely to remain acquisitive during 

the ensuing year, with a strong emphasis on 

achieving our key ratios for sustained organic 

growth. Continued market stability and 

evident recovery bodes well for Group 

companies offshore. The board will again be 

looking to encourage and to join executives 

and staff in ensuring that we maintain our 

tradition of excellence.

Best practice
A major empowerment success at Bidvest 

concerns the BEE structure adopted by the 

Group, it is unique. While some other 

approaches may have experienced 

challenges, the Bidvest-Dinatla model has 

proved robust. Last year, Dinatla 

shareholders realised considerable value on 

the disposal of some of their Bidvest equity.  

It is heartening to see these shareholders  

are today ploughing some of that wealth  

into local enterprise development.

This is empowerment as it should be. Bidvest 

can take pride in the development of a best 

practice empowerment model capable of 

delivering tangible benefits where it matters 

most. 

Farewells
We bid farewell to a number of colleagues 

who retire or retired through normal expiry of 

tenure. Stephen Koseff and Joe Pamensky 

are among our longest serving members and 

have left an indelible mark on the Group’s 

character. Peter Nyman (former Group FD), 

Allan Salomon (MD Bidvest Bank), 

Lionel Jacobs (former commercial director), 

Muriel Dube and Rachel Mathabo Kunene 

(non-executive directors) have all made 

significant contributions to the Group and will 

equally be remembered with fondness. We 

wish them well and good health in their new 

endeavours. 

Finally, let me take the opportunity to  

express our sincere thanks to our departing 

chairman, Cyril Ramaphosa.  He has made  

a considerable contribution to Bidvest. We 

thank him for his stewardship, wisdom and 

guidance. Of course, he now has a full-time 

job as deputy president of the African National 

Congress. The board and I congratulate him 

on his appointment and wish him well in his 

new role.

On behalf of the board, I conclude by 

expressing sincere appreciation to the  

Group leadership, executives and staff within 

our various companies for what has been a 

great year of performance and good results. 

To Brian Joffe, whose leadership of the 

executive teams remains steadfast, and my 

fellow board members, I look forward to 

working with you in my new capacity and  

I have no doubt that I will continue to  

receive your support. 

Lorato Phalatse
Chairperson of the board

can be said to be showing signs of recovery, 

this remains fragmented across sectors. 

Growth in major emerging economies such 

as China remains below key levels for 

positive global impact.

The Group nevertheless rendered excellent 

results with headline earnings per share rising 

to 1 560,6 cents and resultant earnings per 

share of 1 526,8 cents. Details are outlined in 

the chief executive and financial director’s 

reports. 

Prospects for the ensuing year
Global trends and continued positive growth 

in emerging economies provide a degree of 

cautious optimism. The irony, however, is  

that Africa has shown signs of regressive 

disorder, compounded by emerging conflict. 

This, after a sustained period of rare stability 

prior to the global financial crisis. This 

notwithstanding, a 5% average growth is 

forecast for Africa in 2014, largely buoyed  

by resource-rich countries.

The South African economy has been 

severely tested and all key stakeholders are 

conscious of the need for urgent remedial 

action to ensure we do not fall into real 

recession. Continued positive engagement 

between government and the private sector 

remains crucial. Partnership on the already 

identified programmes remains our 

commonly agreed enabler for economic 

development, job creation and substantive 

poverty alleviation. 

This seemingly ominous backdrop provides 

unique opportunities for emerging economies 

and by extension to Bidvest companies. The 

Chairperson’s review

Lorato Phalatse Chairperson of the board

Global conditions remained subdued, nevertheless 

the Group rendered excellent results.
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People and performance
Bidvest delivered a generally strong 

performance with trading profit moving 9,4% 

higher to R7,7 billion while revenue rose by 

14,9% to R153,4 billion. These results were 

achieved in the face of sometimes turbulent 

trading conditions by dedicated Bidvest 

people and resourceful Bidvest managers.

Our normalised headline earnings per share 

increased by a commendable 15,4% to  

1 560,6 cents while ordinary dividends per 

share rose by 15,8% to 720,0 cents.

Several bolt-on acquisitions were concluded 

and acquisition activity picked up in the second 

half of the year, but gains were primarily a 

function of organic growth and the efforts of 

decentralised, but highly focused teams.

Figures on a financial statement are useful, 

but they fail to provide an operational 

context. We operate in highly competitive 

markets all over the world. There are no easy 

wins and there’s no low-hanging fruit. We 

face strong, well-resourced competitors who 

fiercely defend their customer base and 

share of market.

To grow the business against competitors 

like this is a challenge, and it doesn’t go 

away. Our people face this test every working 

day. In some markets we may not have 

achieved the growth we would have liked, 

but it was not for lack of trying.

Industrial relations
South Africa recently commemorated the first 

anniversary of the Marikana shootings in 

which 34 protesting mineworkers were killed. 

This was a national tragedy and its 

ramifications will be with us for some time  

to come.

The challenge for business, the labour 

movement and policymakers is to ensure 

that tragedies such as these never re-occur. 

To head off the danger, it is important to 

identify possible flash-points and create 

avenues for peaceful resolution well before 

violence has a chance to flare up. 

Numerous opportunities for corrective action 

have been missed by the time a worker 

protest flares into violence. Workers feel 

unhappy and frustrated long before they take 

to the streets. If steps are not taken to 

address their concerns, they turn to the 

traditional avenue left open to them …  

action in the workplace. 

Failures in business are invariably failures of 

management. And nearly every problem, at 

its core, is a communication problem. These 

considerations not only apply to managing 

assets, but to managing people.

If you as a manager are remote from 

shop-floor issues those problems will 

ultimately escalate until they are on top of 

you. They will impact your bottom line and 

your ability to do business.

The challenge is to get close to the issues 

before they lead to protests and adversarial 

position-taking. 

Staying close
When discussing the Bidvest business 

model, focus generally falls on closeness  

to business opportunities, markets and 

customers. But another key benefit is 

closeness to worker concerns.

Bidvest has been affected by strikes in the 

year since Marikana. We have also been 

affected by higher wage expectations. 

Thankfully, however, we have not had to 

contend with violent confrontation.

I believe one reason for this is the hands-on 

approach by decentralised management 

teams. We might not always accede to 

worker demands, but our people know they 

can raise their concerns and will be given a 

hearing.

South Africa has gone through a difficult 

“strike season” and there may be more 

difficulties to come, but I remain confident 

that unions, worker leaders, managers and 

business will meet the challenge.

We are not going to totter from one crisis to 

the next because no alternatives are open  

to us. Workable agreements will be reached 

and we will resolve our difficulties. 

Democracy enables us to disagree without 

being destructive about it.

Positives coming through
South Africa – where Bidvest has its largest 

workforce and makes its biggest profits 

– faces substantial challenges. Crime, 

corruption and the crisis in our education 

system make the headlines, but we should 

also spotlight the positives that are coming 

through. 

Unemployment remains about 25% of the 

economically active population, but jobs are 

being created every quarter. Government’s 

target of creating 5 000 000 new jobs by 

Chief executive’s statement

Brian Joffe Group chief executive

We are not simply investors. We are experienced 

managers with exposure to a wide range of 

industries. Our expertise and our customer base 

allow us to build new growth while our 

infrastructure can enable synergies and 

efficiencies. 
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2020 was always ambitious and may not be 

reached, but we are steadily moving off the 

2010 bottom when the number of people in 

work fell to 12,9 million.

The challenge is to step up economic growth 

to around 5%, the point at which inroads can 

be made on the unemployment percentages. 

Some believe the key constraint is power 

generation, but skills generation is even more 

fundamental.

Currently, about a third of our university 

students drop out in their first year and less 

than half graduate. This is an unacceptable 

rate of attrition, but thousands of young 

people with tertiary qualifications still enter 

our workforce every year. They represent 

both a resource and a challenge.

Space has to be created within our economy 

for their talents and aspirations. They have 

the ability to drive higher economic growth. 

They will simultaneously drive demand for 

consumer goods, housing and services.

These young, energetic South Africans give 

us the capacity to transform our national 

prospects. Don’t underestimate their ability 

to make a difference. 

South Africa has to grow so its qualified, 

skilled and energetic young people can grow 

with it. To achieve this end we have to drive 

higher economic growth by harnessing the 

talents of all our people from every racial 

group.

To create more employees we have to create 

more entrepreneurs. A vibrant small business 

sector will give young, well-educated people 

the chance to put their ideas to work and 

build value – for their families and the country 

at large. 

New middle class 
The positives around the creation of a new 

middle class and their impact on consumer 

markets not only apply to South Africa, they 

apply to much of the African continent.

The resources sector remains important, but 

a new wave of international consumer, retail, 

leisure and telephony brands are not 

expanding into Africa to sink mine shafts. 

They are here because consumer markets in 

Africa have the potential for sustained growth 

over 20 or 30 years.

Focus on Africa
In the months ahead, expansion into Africa 

will receive increased attention at Bidvest.

We have always had African interests, via 

Bidvest Namibia, our Manica freight business 

and the Naval operation in Mozambique. 

However, we should acknowledge that in 

recent years African expansion beyond that 

base has not been  

a priority for us. Perhaps it should have been.

In the last 10 years many South African 

businesses have established a solid African 

footprint and today derive a substantial 

portion of their revenue from these 

jurisdictions. They should be saluted for their 

vision and their skill in developing local 

relationships.

Today, Africa has a population of more  

than one billion consumers. It is a mistake, 

however, to treat it as a single market. Levels 

of development, regulatory regimes, tax 

structures and official policy differ from 

country to country.

Some broad trends are noticeable. Many 

African states have embarked on policy 

reform to make their markets business-

friendly. Real GDP growth rates are trending 

higher across sub-Saharan Africa. They were 

around 2,2% in the 1990s, but a decade 

later had reached 6%. The forecast is that 

they will be at around 5,8% in 2015.

It’s interesting to note that in 2012 the growth 

rates of Burkina Faso and Ghana were on a 

par with China.

From a Bidvest perspective, it’s also 

interesting that the African Development 

Bank says service sector growth exceeds 

resource growth, even in some of Africa’s 

resource-rich economies. 

Bidvest has already examined some 

opportunities for African expansion. We  

now have a dedicated African team and 

exploration of acquisition possibilities will 

continue.

Acquisition criteria
The criteria for acquisitions are simple, in 

Africa and elsewhere. We look for value – 

value in a market and within a specific 

business. Clearly, we are also focused on 

opportunities to build value by enabling local 

managers to grow their businesses.

We are not simply investors. We are 

experienced managers with exposure to a 

wide range of industries. Our expertise and 

our customer base allow us to build new 

growth while our infrastructure can enable 

synergies and efficiencies. 

Acquisition activities are not driven by some 

grand strategic design. We are opportunistic. 

Once we have established a base we look 

for further growth. For example, our entry 

into the Chilean foodservice market may well 

create a springboard into Brazil or other 

South American countries. The decision will 

depend on the opportunities that present 

themselves and the value we identify.

A well-defined space
The sectors in which we are active are clear 

enough. We are a trading, services and 

distribution business and prefer to operate 

within this space.

Admittedly, we may widen definitions to help 

local managers widen the scope of their 

activities. Value can also be unlocked by 

reconfiguring a business to exploit underlying 

potential that has gone unrealised. The new 

vision you bring is sometimes your most 

important contribution to a business.

In other cases, a transaction creates obvious 

opportunities to build, scale and achieve 

efficiencies.

Our offer for Mvelaserve falls into this 

category. Hopefully, the transaction will be 

finalised early in the new period. Mvelaserve’s 

cleaning, catering and other corporate 

services find a ready fit within Bidvest South 

Africa. Consolidation of the businesses will 

create new opportunities for growth.

Though the growth and internationalisation of 

the Bidvest South Africa division have been 

points of focus, our international foodservice 

business has also made good progress. New 

acquisitions are bedding in well in the UK, 

Belgium and New Zealand while Bidvest 

Middle East has established a foothold in the 

Turkish market. Our footprint in China has 

grown and Bidvest Procurement company is 

widening its international sources of supply. 

Further transaction opportunities are being 

pursued; internationally and in South Africa.

Other investments
Organic growth has not been neglected. Our 

businesses have continued to gain market 

share and secure operational efficiencies. 

This confirms the quality and energy of 

Bidvest people.

We continue to make major investments in 

training and development and in 2013 our 

training budget reached a new record –  

R313,5 million.

Investment in new equipment and systems 

has been maintained. Capital expenditure 

spending topped R4 billion, up 10%.

The overwhelming focus in our South African 

businesses is on the development of black 

staff members. It is heartening to see so 

many young black supervisors and managers 

building a career with Bidvest. Unfortunately, 

Chief executive’s statement
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relatively few have made the breakthrough  

to senior management, but this process is 

underway and is irreversible.

Talent and transformation
South African can’t succeed unless it 

harnesses the contribution of all its citizens. 

The same applies at Bidvest. We are a 

talent-led business and we can’t maintain  

our rate of growth unless we mobilise all  

our people resources.

South Africa’s labour laws still refer to racial 

categories. This is essential if employment 

equity goals are to be reached and our 

country’s racial diversity is to be properly 

reflected in all areas of our business.

The legal categories may be sharply defined, 

but after nearly 20 years of democracy other 

lines are blurring, especially among the 

under-35s. In many cases these young 

people went to similar schools, attended the 

same university and now live in the same 

suburb. They have similar ambitions and 

concerns and work well together in close- 

knit teams.

In the end, corporate transformation will  

not be driven by legislation affecting the 

workplace, but by the people in the 

workplace. They have transformed and they 

will transform South African business. As a 

member of an older generation, I salute these 

young people for breaking down the old 

barriers and creating a new beginning.

However, as a society and an economy we 

have not yet reached the goal of full 

representation of all groups at all levels of 

business. Employment equity is a key 

requirement of empowerment legislation and 

Bidvest has to step up its efforts to develop 

senior black managers, especially female 

black managers.

Thankfully, some progress along this path 

has been made at executive director level 

and, of course, since March Bidvest has a 

new chairperson, Ms Lorato Phalatse. It is a 

pleasure to welcome Lorato to her new post. 

I’m convinced she will do very well indeed.

Succession
Lorato succeeds a remarkable chairman, 

Cyril Ramaphosa; the man who has been  

at the helm over the last eight-and-a-half 

years. It has been my privilege to work 

closely with him over that period. He has 

made a unique contribution to the 

transformation of Bidvest, but regrettably 

will be resigning both his chairmanship and 

his place on our board.

growth over many years. I thank them and 

wish them every success as they go on to 

new challenges.

The management team has made another 

notable contribution in a year when trading 

challenges intensified in every sector and 

geography in which Bidvest is active. We 

have a highly cohesive executive team at 

Bidvest. They put in exceptional efforts in 

2013 and I thank them for their hard work 

and support.

I also have a big thank you for the people of 

Bidvest. Once again, they stepped up to the 

challenge of maintaining momentum in tough 

markets. I’m proud to be on your team.

I also thank all our suppliers. You are major 

contributors to Team Bidvest and your 

support is greatly appreciated.

The biggest drivers of our growth are, of 

course, our customers. We never take for 

granted their support of the Bidvest brand. 

They trust us to deliver and we must be 

worthy of that trust. We thank you for your 

support in 2013 and assure all our customers 

that we will be doing everything in our power 

to meet their needs in the year to come. 

The passing of Mervyn Chipkin
It is with great sadness that I report the death 

of a major figure from the earliest days of 

Bidvest – Mervyn Chipkin. My friend and 

former colleague died in late 2012, in 

Australia where he had made a new home 

with his family. His name is synonymous with 

Bidvest. In 1988, Chipkins became the first 

business to be acquired by the Group.

Close involvement with the business, 

concern for your people, honesty in all 

dealings, unfailing courtesy and total 

professionalism; these qualities are 

embedded in the Bidvest culture. They are 

also the qualities that spring to mind 

whenever the name of Mervyn Chipkin is 

mentioned. He will be sadly missed. 

Cyril can now devote his full attention to his 

new role as deputy president of the African 

National Congress. We wish him well in this 

task. He leaves with our best wishes and our 

thanks for a job well done.

The seamless succession of Cyril 

Ramaphosa by Lorato Phalatse inevitably 

raises questions about my own succession.

This process is already underway. A strong 

senior team is already in place. They have 

supervised a major realignment of our 

businesses over the last two-and-a-half 

years and led our South African and 

international businesses to unprecedented 

levels of growth, despite challenging trading 

conditions.

Over the last year I have devolved more  

and more responsibilities to Bernard Berson 

in Sydney and Lindsay Ralphs here in 

Johannesburg. My focus is increasingly on 

strategic issues and major acquisitions.

I am reassured by the fact that the transition 

is underway and that business development 

remains firmly on track across all divisions 

and geographies. The effectiveness of all 

parties to the succession process is being 

closely monitored and performance 

standards have been maintained. For the 

present, succession is work in progress  

and the work is progressing very well.

Appreciation
Bidvest is all about teamwork and I am 

happy to acknowledge my debt to an 

extremely able team at board and senior 

management level. Our directors have a 

wealth of experience in leadership positions 

and in-depth knowledge of many industries. 

In many cases they have contributed to 

policy formulation at the very highest level.

They are unstinting in their support and  

ever ready to share insights and new 

perspectives. They make an invaluable 

contribution to the business; for which I am 

extremely grateful.

The boardroom is a dynamic environment 

and change is constant. This is positive. New 

input is essential. But it does mean I regularly 

have to say farewell to treasured colleagues. 

This year was no exception. Several directors 

have retired, including the long-serving 

Bidvest stalwart, Joe Pamensky. Stephen 

Koseff also a long-serving and invaluable 

board member has indicated that he will 

stand down at the AGM. We are also losing 

Peter Nyman, Lionel Jacobs, Alan Salomon, 

Muriel Dube and Rachel Mathabo Kunene. 

They have helped Bidvest achieve sustained 

“The criteria for 
acquisitions is simple. 
We look for value – 
value in a market and 
within a specific 
business.”
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Future
Bidvest has a positive perspective going 

forward. We have continued to invest in our 

people and infrastructure and are well 

positioned to derive advantage from those 

commitments in the coming year. 

Internationally, the signals are mixed. Growth 

is somewhat subdued in China and parts of 

Europe. The previously buoyant Australian 

economy may also face growing pressure. 

However, there are hints of revival in the UK 

and some European markets may finally be 

moving out of recession.

Our international businesses have achieved 

growth in difficult conditions in the past. Their 

coping skills may be tested in some markets 

in 2014, but I have confidence in their 

resilience and ability to bounce back.

In important markets like Australia, New 

Zealand and the UK our businesses are 

leaders and innovators, while our Chinese 

operations have achieved growing scale in 

recent months. They are positioned to build 

their positions in their respective markets and 

continue recent momentum.

In all markets there are areas of opportunity 

and our teams have a proven ability to 

maximise opportunities such as these.

Here in South Africa, several challenges are 

evident. 

In the recent past, the country has been 

faced with lower-than-projected growth, a 

sovereign ratings reduction, a weak currency 

and severe pressure on important industries 

such as mining and construction. Consumers 

are also under pressure. A revival in 

meaningful consumer spending has stalled 

as families pay down debt.

But we should not lose sight of some 

important positives. South Africa has a 

resourceful and youthful population. The 

economy may have slowed, but growth is still 

being achieved and may strengthen in the 

coming year. A much-needed boost could 

also be provided by government’s plan to 

spend R840 billion on infrastructure 

development.

Our businesses are positioned to take 

advantage of every opportunity.

Early in the new period, Bidvest South Africa 

launched a new division, its 11th. The 

Consumer Products division is in place to 

pursue strategic opportunities in a market 

with long-term growth potential. I am 

confident it will become a significant 

contributor to the business.

Strategic vision is important, but it never 

hurts to be a good tactician and we can rely 

on established teams in the other divisions to 

make the most of developments in their 

areas of focus.

Our Namibian business has faced challenges 

as a result of lower fishing quota allocations, 

but continues to seek new growth – within its 

home market in areas like northern Namibia 

and perhaps as far afield as the Pacific.

Growth is the underlying objective of all our 

businesses and growth by acquisition 

remains a key component of our strategy. 

We are a strongly capitalised business and 

are well positioned to pursue transaction 

opportunities whenever and wherever we  

see value and synergies.

We look forward to unlocking significant 

value in 2014 inside our existing operations 

and perhaps in some new ones.

Brian Joffe
Chief executive

Chief executive’s statement

“Growth is the underlying objective of all  
our businesses and growth by acquisition 
remains a key component of our strategy.  
We are a strongly capitalised business and 
are well positioned to pursue transaction 
opportunities whenever and wherever we  
see value and synergies.”

Brian Joffe
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Bidvest at work

Bidvest is one of only five South African companies included on the Boston 

Consulting Group’s “Global Challenger” list. Global Challengers are described  

as companies in emerging markets which are reshaping industries and 

challenging traditional multinational companies.

In the past five years, these companies have created 1,4 million jobs and 

are spending USD1,7 trillion a year in fuel growth and creating enormous 

opportunities. BCG says that the global challengers will play an important  

role in shaping the world economy over the next 10 years. 

Top 100 companies 
Bidvest people consistently create value. This core competence was underpinned 

by Bidvest being named as one of the top-100 companies congratulated by the 

Sunday Times Business Times in terms of superior financial performance over 

the last 10 years.

ed 
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r 

The 20 most powerful people  
in African business 2012

Forbes magazine has released a listing of Africa’s 20 most powerful people in business.  

A total of 11 of them are South African. Congratulations to our chief executive, Brian Joffe,  

and previous non-executive chairman, Cyril Ramaphosa, who appeared on this  

prestigious list.

Forbes list

Bidvest, one of the five South African Global 

Challengers for 2013



THE BIDVEST GROUP LIMITED

Annual Integrated Report 2013
22

The division includes a variety of service and 

product offerings: freight management, logistics 

services, terminal operations and marine services; 

office automation, stationery and furniture; 

leading motor brands and vehicle auctioneering; 

travel management solutions, aviation services, 

airport lounge access and car rental; outsourced 

cleaning, landscaping services, security as well 

as specialised services to the industrial sector; 

hygiene rental equipment, cleaning consumables; 

laundries; indoor plants; water coolers and light 

industrial and commercial products; the full 

range of Yamaha products; consumer appliances, 

packaging closures and catering equipment; 

distribution of electrical products and services and 

a comprehensive range of banking and insurance 

products; printing and related products.

South Africa

Operational review
BIDVEST SOUTH AFRICA

Highlights and challenges
 Double-digit revenue and profit growth in 

challenging trading conditions.

 Lean, delayered Bidvest model fit for purpose  

in a tough economy.

 Successor generation of younger managers prove 

their worth.

 Progress in the development of black female 

executive directors.

 Amaps acquisition, rebranded Home of Living 

Brands, sets scene for launch of Bidvest Consumer 

Products division.

Lindsay Ralphs 

Chief executive, Bidvest South Africa

Material issues and risks
 Lack of consistent interpretation of BEE codes 

presents challenges for businesses around black 

ownership.

 Higher fuel and utility costs contribute to margin 

squeeze in many businesses.

 Management has little influence on derived demand 

volumes at Freight as macro-economic factors drive 

the import and export of goods.

 Labour unrest in the country puts pressure on wage 

costs in labour-intensive businesses.
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Emissions, particularly scope 2, have 

decreased mostly due to reductions at 

Automotive. The intensity has decreased 

appreciably. Scope 3 emissions from  

flights in 2013 constitute about 4% of  

total emissions.

Per employee training spend and hours have 

risen, particularly due to increased training 

investments at Automotive and BidTravel, 

but also a number of other subdivsions.

Largest Bidvest SA 

water usage comes 

from Laundries  

and Freight.

Diesel and petrol, the main contributors to 

Scope 1, increased by 10%. Electricity usage 

decreased while prices continue to rise.

QUICK LINK: Comparative sustainability data 

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/005.php
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Operational review BIDVEST SOUTH AFRICA

 Mark Steyn 
Financial director

Anthony Dawe
Chief executive

Revenue

Trading profit

Contribution to trading profit

Employees

R25,1 billion

R979,4 million

23,2%

4 733

Carla Seppings 
Financial director

Steve Keys 
Chief executive

Revenue

Trading profit

Contribution to trading profit

Employees

R20,7 billion

R641,0 million

15,2%

5 831

Eric Immermann 
Financial director

Stanley Green 
Chief executive

Revenue

Trading profit

Contribution to trading profit

Employees

R4,5 billion

R224,6 million

5,3%

2 214

Alan Griffith 
Chief executive

Ivan Keshwar 
Financial director 

Revenue

Trading profit

Contribution to trading profit

Employees

R4,2 billion

R324,3 million

7,7%

4 206

Peter Meijer 
Financial director

Mpumi Madisa 
Executive director

Gillian McMahon 
Transformation

executive

South Africa
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Howard Greenstein 
Chief executive

Craig Turnbull 
Financial director

Thinus Liebenberg 
Financial director

Japie van Niekerk
Chief executive

Revenue

Trading profit

Contribution to trading profit

Employees

R1,5 billion

R594,9 million

14,1%

1 223

Revenue

Trading profit

Contribution to trading profit

Employees

R1,5 billion

R86,0 million

2,0%

1 173

Neil Birch 
Chief executive

Colin Adendorff 
Financial director

Revenue

Trading profit

Contribution to trading profit

Employees

R4,0 billion

R281,3 million

6,7%

4 197

Trevor Scruse 
Financial director

Alan Fairman 
Chief executive 

Revenue

Trading profit

Contribution to trading profit

Employees

R2,2 billion

R435,8 million

10,3%

6 282

John Taylor 
Chief executive

Bina Gosai 
Financial director 

Revenue

Trading profit

Contribution to trading profit

Employees

R3,2 billion

R276,5 million

6,5%

47 209

Kevin Wakeford 
Chief executive

Allen Kotze 
Financial director

Revenue

Trading profit

Contribution to trading profit

Employees

R2,2 billion

R379,9 million

9,0%

5 410
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Performance overview
Results once again demonstrated the  

value of tight managerial focus on industries 

our executives know well. Revenue rose 

10,5% to R69,3 billion (2012: R62,7 billion) 

while trading profit was 10,5% higher at  

R4,2 billion (2012: R3,8 billion). This 

performance was achieved against a 

backdrop of slow economic growth and  

low business and consumer confidence.

Strong contributions came from the 

Automotive, Travel and Aviation, Services, 

Rental and Products and Office divisions. 

Though business conditions were challenging 

overall, pockets of opportunity were evident. 

Our management teams are to be 

congratulated on making the most of them.

The uptick in national new vehicle sales was 

maximised by a more streamlined 

Automotive division under a new and 

energetic leadership team. Our Rental and 

Products and annuity-based businesses 

demonstrated their resilience in a generally 

tough environment. 

Some economic headwinds were difficult  

to avoid. Exports of manufactured goods 

dropped as South Africa’s manufacturing 

sector remained under pressure. Consumer 

spending was subdued and the rand 

weakened considerably, putting a brake  

on imports. Clearly, this had impact on our 

freight business volumes. 

Mining industry cutbacks had knock-on 

effects in several divisions as mining groups 

are often major customers. Low 

infrastructure investment by government  

also created challenges.

Material issues
The South African operations are dependent 

on tender success within the mining sector, 

government departments and major private 

sector companies. Empowerment status is 

often key when these tenders are awarded. 

Bidvest South Africa has made improved 

B-BBEE scorecard results a priority and most 

of our businesses have acquired Level 2 or 

Level 3 B-BBEE certification. However, 

pending amendments to the B-BBEE Codes 

of Good Practice could pose challenges 

going forward. This challenge is faced by  

all businesses in South Africa, including 

competitors of Bidvest South Africa who will 

also have to step up their efforts. Continued 

scorecard success is a strategic imperative.

The division has set up an Africa team to 

investigate acquisition opportunities in 

southern Africa and further afield. One 

opportunity is currently being investigated  

in West Africa.

Acquisitions of established businesses are 

preferred, but opportunities will also be 

examined to launch greenfields operations in 

collaboration with local partners. Focus areas 

are trading businesses and industrial services 

and distribution.

Africa holds growing interest, but in addition 

the division is aggressively pursuing 

acquisition opportunities outside the 

continent. Conditions are conducive to 

deal-making. Many international banking 

groups are re-examining their balance sheets 

and disposal of equity in their non-banking 

interests receives increasing attention. This 

creates opportunities for an acquisitive 

business like Bidvest.

People
Growth continued in our domestic market 

and Bidvest South Africa continued to create 

jobs. By year-end, staff numbers went up 

marginally to 82 478. Employment gains 

were achieved without losing focus on 

operational efficiency and stringent cost 

control. Both remained areas of focused 

management attention.

Development of our people remained a 

priority and our training budget increased by 

17% to R277,9 million (2012: R237,6 million).

Workplace safety remains a priority and can 

be a challenge as some teams – especially in 

the Freight division – work in environments 

that are inherently dangerous. We not only 

comply with relevant legislation, we regularly 

launch awareness drives to combat 

complacency and keep accident rates low. 

Unfortunately despite these efforts, one 

fatality occurred.

Team spirit across our operations came into 

strong focus in a year when labour difficulties 

arose in several sectors of the economy. By 

delayering management structures and 

keeping executives close to day-to-day 

issues we are often able to address worker 

concerns at an early stage. Closeness to  

“the coalface” ensures managers and staff 

stay in touch.

Inflation in the 5% range can be helpful for 

trading businesses within the Bidvest South 

Africa stable. Above that, customer 

resistance can set in and margin 

management may be affected. Distribution is 

a key function at many businesses within the 

division. When fuel and electricity prices push 

internal inflation above CPI it becomes 

difficult to pass on to customers the full 

extent of the increase. This became a 

concern in a year when fuel costs mounted 

steadily. Most contracts are CPI-linked, but 

CPI-plus creates a challenge.

Bulking up in South Africa
Substantial progress was made with our 

strategy of bulking up our services and 

distribution business in South Africa. By 

year-end, Competitions Board approval was 

awaited on the Bidvest offer to acquire 

additional shares in the outsourcing and 

services company, Mvelaserve Limited. This 

would give the Group a majority stake and 

open the way for a bid to minority 

shareholders.

Bidvest South Africa and Mvelaserve have 

complementary operations, creating 

opportunities to grow the combined business 

while achieving synergies across our 

outsourcing services.

Late in the year, Bidvest completed the 

acquisition of Home of Living Brands, a 

leading national and southern African 

distributor of kitchen and household brands 

such as Hoover, Russell Hobbs, Bell, Salton, 

TDK, Pineware, Berda and many more. 

Home of Living Brands is the initial base for 

the creation of an 11th division, Bidvest 

Consumer Products. 

The acquisition opens up strategic growth 

opportunities. South Africa is no longer a 

resources-based economy. The consumer 

sector accounts for most of the country’s 

economic activity. Urbanisation and family 

formation are the big drivers of growth. A 

business dedicated to the distribution of 

household and kitchen appliances will clearly 

be at the heart of these positive 

developments.

International prospects
Our growth strategy is not limited to South 

Africa. The wider continent is also being 

explored. Plans are well advanced for the 

opening of an industrial products-based 

business in Swaziland, Botswana, Zimbabwe 

and Zambia.

Operational review BIDVEST SOUTH AFRICA
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Some strikes occurred, but issues were 

generally resolved without acrimony or 

antagonism.

Many of our businesses, notably in the 

services field, are unionised. Our companies 

are often party to industry-wide wage 

settlements that run for up to three years. 

Any uncertainties in the labour environment 

are cyclical and occur when one settlement 

comes to a close and a new pay deal has to 

be agreed.

Divisional report card
Automotive put in a strong performance. 

Sustained low interest rates were a positive 

as they give corporate and individual vehicle 

buyers certainty on the monthly repayment. 

But the energetic pursuit of sales and other 

business opportunities was also a function of 

the streamlined structures put in place over 

the last three years. Management is focused 

on trading opportunities and has taken all 

unnecessary expenses out the business. The 

benefit of this approach was highlighted by a 

27,6% rise in trading profit.

As a major supplier to an embattled 

construction sector, Electrical faced ongoing 

challenges. However, the benefit of 

rationalisation and reorganisation over the 

past two years created a platform for 

modest, but pleasing growth. Construction 

firms and subcontractors remain under 

pressure, but our leaner Electrical team  

has maintained its position as a leading, 

nationally represented supplier and is 

positioned for further gains.

The trading environment for Financial 
Services remained challenging. At Bidvest 

Bank low business confidence inhibited 

lending activities to the corporate sector 

while leasing was affected by the winding 

down of full-maintenance leasing volumes 

relating to a substantial contract that ended 

last year. Travel forex in the leisure sector was 

impacted by consumer pressures. At Bidvest 

Insurance it remains our strategy to reduce 

reliance on the volumes generated via 

McCarthy dealerships. However, traction  

has been slow to build.

Freight did well to achieve a measure of 

growth at a time when volumes were under 

constant pressure. The economy slowed, 

Contract-based volumes at Services held  

up well, with good contributions from the 

cleaning and security businesses. Effective 

margin management helped drive the result 

in a price-sensitive market. Trading profit 

moved substantially higher on the back of a 

successful turnaround strategy at TMS, the 

specialised industrial cleaning business that 

was a loss-maker the previous year.

Travel and Aviation put in a strong showing 

as corporate travel held up well and Budget 

car and van rental gained momentum as a 

new management team took over. BidAir 

Services put in a resilient performance, cargo 

volumes improved and specialist operations 

like Bidvest Lounges continued to show 

good growth.

Growth in tough times
Continued growth in a difficult trading 

environment is attributable to single- 

minded application of the proven Bidvest 

business model.

There are few corporate frills at our 

operations. Lean teams focus on the basics 

while taking time out to invest in future 

growth. Good teamwork and superior 

management performance are responsible 

for winning market share and reducing costs.

We are also drawing benefit from timely 

succession planning and the progress being 

made by a new generation of younger 

managers. Over the last two years, many 

managers in their 40s and early 50s have 

taken up the reins and proved themselves  

in a tough economy.

steel exports stalled and the movement of 

some agricultural commodities was sluggish. 

Energetic action was needed to find 

replacement volumes. Substantial investment 

has been made in infrastructure. As the 

economy picks up, Freight is well placed to 

benefit.

Business conditions remained difficult at 

Industrial and the team did well to achieve  

a measure of growth. Demand for leisure 

products remained subdued, though 

improvement was evident by year-end.  

The team will continue building on good 

brand recognition and the acquisition  

of a R300 million turnover brushware 

manufacturing and distribution business will 

create greater opportunities going forward. 

Office returned pleasing results in a highly 

competitive environment. Waltons made a 

strong comeback, thanks to a revitalised 

business model and a new senior 

management team. Cecil Nurse and the 

furniture businesses also did well. The 

technology businesses and the flagship 

Konica-Minolta brand put in another strong 

performance. South Africa is the only national 

market worldwide where Konica-Minolta is 

the undisputed number one. 

Paperplus had a disappointing year. Six  

new subdivisions reflect the prioritisation of 

resources for managing both declining and 

new growth. Falling demand and margin 

pressure highlighted the need to accelerate 

this strategy, seek further growth across 

digital formats and look for new opportunities 

in the packaging sector. Masterpack, a 

carton maker, was acquired to give added 

bulk in this area. Other growth avenues 

include speciality packaging and electronic 

communications alternatives to print.

Annuity-based income streams at Rental 
and Products remained robust. A large 

majority of the operational entities 

contributed positively, with a notably strong 

contribution from G Fox. Organic and 

complementary product and service 

opportunities are being pursued. Acquisitions 

that further extend and strengthen the 

offering are under consideration. The 

product-based expansion into Africa is  

well under way.

“Our people and 
their managers have 
a proven ability 
to adapt to 
circumstances and 
achieve growth in 
challenging 
conditions.”
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This process continues. Japie van Niekerk, 

former CEO of Old Mutual Bank, is 

positioned to take over the leadership of the 

Financial Services division as current CEO 

Alan Salomon prepares for retirement.

Management development
Nurturing and strengthening in-house 

managerial talent receives heightened priority. 

An executive development programme was 

launched last year in collaboration with the 

Gordon Institute of Business Science to 

complement the management development 

work at the Bidvest Academy. The focus is 

on the further development of senior and 

executive management. The new programme 

is working well.

The development of black female managers 

is receiving focused attention. Two black 

females were promoted to executive director 

during the course of the year.

Our managers receive market-related salaries 

and benefits and are incentivised by profit 

participation and share options. 

Empowerment
Targets of some of the elements of the 

B-BBEE scorecard have changed, making 

continued empowerment progress 

mandatory if ratings are to be retained  

or improved.

Empowerment status is regarded as  

an opportunity rather than a risk. Our 

empowerment credentials remain good and 

our track record shows we are capable of 

securing sustained improvements.

We are proud of our empowerment ratings. 

They supported several important tender 

successes, including new contracts for our 

laundries, Waltons and our office technology 

business. 

Stricter criteria under the pending and 

amended B-BBEE Codes of Good Practice 

cannot become an excuse for lower levels of 

empowerment performance. A prime focus 

of the executive director responsible for 

transformation will be continued 

enhancement of our empowerment status, 

with employment equity a top priority.

Crime is a continuing challenge and our 

security systems (already strict) have been 

stepped up. The internal audit function has 

been significantly strengthened and new 

procedures have been introduced to guard 

against any repetition of a serious fraud 

committed within our Automotive business. 

We also insure against crime-related loss.

In the area of policy changes, apparent 

challenges in the short term can often 

become long-term opportunities. The focus 

on small local business development by 

mining companies and others may offer 

opportunities to step up our enterprise 

development initiatives. Our Dinatla 

empowerment partners have strong 

grassroots links and are a valuable resource 

as we examine these opportunities.

Innovation and change
Several companies continued the rebranding 

and repositioning process to leverage the 

strength of the Bidvest name. The 

communication and new technology 

businesses within Paperplus have adopted 

the Bidvest Data identity. Afcom, the 

packaging and fastening products company, 

has become Bidvest Afcom.

Pride in Bidvest is a strong unifying force  

and the rebranding trend looks certain to 

continue.

Innovation is ongoing. Travel and Aviation 

recently purchased the rights to the Webjet 

online travel system, further strengthening its 

in-house online capabilities. Webjet attracted 

our attention as it has given a global lead in 

the smart application of travel tools and 

world best practice is the benchmark applied 

by our businesses. 

Innovation by brand principles also creates 

opportunities for new business growth. Our 

office technology business is rolling out new 

technology from Konica-Minolta. Digital 

radiology promises numerous efficiencies 

and we are positioned to assist medical 

professionals looking to adopt this new 

approach. 

In the past, we have demonstrated our ability 

to achieve sizeable improvements in 

preferred procurement. Thanks to our 

decentralised model, our corporate social 

investment is well targeted and entrenches 

our position in the communities we serve. 

Our training and people development 

initiatives have made good progress. The 

vast majority of our training budget is 

targeted at the further development of black 

personnel.

Our empowerment strategy is built into our 

budgeting and planning processes and is 

driven by managers who are committed to 

the work of transformation. 

Other business risks
We are confident of our ability to meet 

challenges that lend themselves to resolution 

through energetic action by our managers 

and people. For example, the scale of 

increases in the cost of basic utilities, much 

higher fuel prices and price hikes on the back 

of a significantly weaker rand posed a 

challenge for several businesses.

To cope with these pressures, teams commit 

to the continual quest for cost reductions 

and efficiency improvements.

E-tolling will have a material effect on our 

distribution businesses. The electronic tolling 

system is likely to be applied in the new year 

in Gauteng, where most of our activities are 

centred. However, the tolls have been 

expected for some time and management 

has taken appropriate steps. There are major 

implications for our car rental business, but 

provision has already been made to ensure 

tolls are recovered from customers. 

Wage costs are a material factor at all our 

businesses. The level of pay settlements has 

moved higher, but our contracts allow for 

built-in rate rises when national pay scales 

move higher. Customers look to us to help 

them control costs, but appreciate that once 

a rise has been gazetted there is no 

alternative but to pass it on.

Operational review BIDVEST SOUTH AFRICA
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The future
Our 10 divisions put in a pleasing 

performance in 2013. We expect our  

11 divisions to continue the good work in 

2014. The development of the new Bidvest 

Consumer Products division will be a point  

of focus. 

Other acquisitions will be actively pursued in 

our domestic market, into Africa and in other 

international markets.

Continued organic growth will also be 

sought. 

Our Paperplus business faced difficulties in 

the prior period, but has the potential to 

come back strongly, given greater focus on 

packaging and new technology solutions. 

Our Freight operations were also under 

pressure as volumes fell in important 

commodity categories. Sluggish import and 

export activities caused some shipping lines 

to simply bypass South Africa. However, as 

South Africa gradually achieves more robust 

growth, our Freight business is well 

positioned to draw advantage.

Our core contract-based businesses provide 

essential services and have a proven ability 

to add value and secure continued growth 

despite difficult trading conditions. These are 

highly efficient, well-led businesses and have 

the capacity to maintain sustained growth.

The weaker rand may lead to pricing 

pressures in new vehicle retailing, but our 

revitalised Automotive business has built 

considerable momentum and is well placed 

to secure further growth.

Financial Services faces challenges in a  

low interest rate environment and 

competition can be expected to intensify. 

That said, the potential exists for a return to 

vigorous growth. Opportunities to drive 

strong gains in the insurance sector will 

receive particular attention.

Infrastructure spending from government will 

hopefully gain traction in the coming year.  

A reorganised Electrical division will optimise 

these opportunities.

An uptick in the level of national growth will 

be welcome, but growth plans at Bidvest 

South Africa are not dependent on a sudden 

or dramatic improvement in the wider 

business environment. Our people and their 

managers have a proven ability to adapt to 

circumstances and achieve growth in 

challenging conditions. This will stand them 

in good stead as trading conditions may 

remain uncertain for some time.

Our diversified structure enables us to 

withstand the economic punches and deliver 

a solid performance in areas of opportunity. 

With the addition of an 11th division we will 

achieve greater balance and stronger growth. 

“Continued growth in a difficult trading environment is 
attributable to single-minded application of the proven 
Bidvest business model.”

Lindsay Ralphs
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Highlights and challenges
 Rigorous regulation imposes more costs but 

represents more opportunities

 Technology challenges receiving focused attention

 Falling growth in China has raised concerns, 

however, opportunities have been identified in major 

urban centres

 Development of house brands offers opportunities

 Successful launch of Bidvest Procurement company

Material issues and risks
 Lower consumer confidence has a material impact 

on performance

 Integrity of supply chain questioned when products 

inaccurately labelled and original source unclear

 Risk of business failure among customers remains  

a concern

 Poor harvests and animal diseases impact supplies 

and pricing

 Commoditisation with industry seeking low-cost 

options may erode margins

Comprises market leading foodservice product 

distributors in the United Kingdom, Belgium,  

the Netherlands, Czech Republic, Slovakia,  

Poland, the Baltic States, Saudi Arabia, the UAE, 

Australia, New Zealand, Singapore, Greater China, 

Hong Kong, Chile and southern Africa. Bidvest 

leads the foodservice industry in its chosen 

geographies operating through strategically located 

independent business units servicing the catering, 

hospitality, leisure, bakery, poultry, meat and food 

processing industries.

Operational review
BIDVEST FOODSERVICE

Bernard Berson 

Chief executive, Bidvest Foodservice
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CSI spend increases driven by UK, 

Dutch and some South African 

businesses. 

GHG emissions in 2013 have declined and intensity has continued to decline due a range of ongoing emission reduction 

initiatives. Scope 3 emissions from flights constitute an additional 1,5% or so of emissions on top of those shown.  

3663 in the UK has for some time purchased virtually all of its electricity (scope 2) from renewable sources.

QUICK LINK: Comparative sustainability data 

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/006.php
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EUROPE

Operational review BIDVEST FOODSERVICE

Revenue

R48,1 billion

Trading profit

R936,2 million

Contribution to Bidvest 

Foodservice trading profit

37,6%

Employees

11 302

Foodservice Europe
Stephen Bender

Chief financial officer

Deli XL Netherlands
Dick Slootweg

Managing director

Farutex Poland
Paweł Świechowicz

Director

3663 Wholesale UK
Alex Fisher

Managing director

Deli XL Belgium
Thierry Legat

Managing director

Bidvest Baltics
Ramunas Makutenas

Managing director

Bidvest Logistics UK
Andrew Selley

Managing director

Bidvest Czech Republic
and Slovakia
Bohumil Volf

Managing director

Bidvest Foodservice 
Middle East
Hisham Al Jamil

Regional managing director

Bidvest Fresh UK
Stephen Oswald

Managing director



THE BIDVEST GROUP LIMITED

Annual Integrated Report 2013
33

ASIA PACIFIC

Revenue

R28,6 billion

Trading profit

R1 211,4 million

Contribution to Bidvest 

Foodservice trading profit

48,7%

Employees

4 954

Revenue

R5,9 billion

Trading profit

R340,5 million

Contribution to Bidvest 

Foodservice trading profit

13,7%

Employees

3 815

Foodservice Asia Pacific
Barry Plit

Chief financial officer

Bidvest New Zealand
Nigel Boswell

Managing director

DeliMeals Chile
Gabriel Abramovicz

Chief executive

Bidvest Australia
Rachel Ruggiero

Chief executive

Angliss China
Johnny Kang

Regional managing director: Asia

Food Southern Africa
Klaas Havenga

Chief executive

Food Southern Africa
Ryan Licht

Financial director

Bidvest Food Exports
Karel Meyer

Managing director

Bidvest Bakery Solutions
Nigel Phillips

Managing director

Crown Food Group
John Morris

Managing director

Patleys
John MacKay

Managing director

Foodservice 
Brent Varcoe

Managing director
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International perspective
The value of our decentralised business 

model was highlighted in a year when market 

conditions varied in almost every Bidvest 

Foodservice jurisdiction.

In Australia, the economy slowed as  

the resources boom came to an end and 

business uncertainty mounted ahead of 

national elections. In New Zealand, economic 

growth remained subdued, but some signs 

of an uptick came through late in the year.

The Chinese economy remained robust, but 

falling growth raised some concerns. It may 

be that the days of very high growth have 

come to an end, but opportunities still 

abound in the major urban centres in which 

Bidvest Foodservice is represented. 

Singapore is known for sending confusing 

signals as big swings in official statistics and 

projections often occur. However, the 

underlying economy is sound.

The UK’s economy spent most of the year 

“bumping along the bottom”, but in the 

fourth quarter indications emerged of better 

things to come. Prospects in western Europe 

were subdued while in eastern Europe 

trading conditions remained poor.

Market conditions in the United Arab 

Emirates and Saudi Arabia were relatively 

favourable. 

Growth levels in South Africa continue to 

disappoint. Pressure on consumers can be 

severe and business confidence has 

declined. Food inflation is also cause for 

concern in South Africa, in contrast to all 

other Bidvest Foodservice markets. In other 

jurisdictions, food inflation is low and food 

deflation is even a risk in some countries. 

Material issues
Consumer confidence: Pressure on 

disposable income has been severe in many 

markets for five years. Low consumer 

confidence and higher savings levels have 

material impact on performance and 

margins.

Supply chain management: Integrity of the 

supply chain can be called into question 

when food products are inaccurately labelled 

and the original source of supplies is unclear. 

Erosion of public confidence rapidly affects 

Operational factors and strategy
Bidvest Foodservice is building a global 

business without applying a standard global 

template. There is no common thread except 

individual initiative. The “big picture” is a 

mosaic of small, but significant local 

successes.

Procurement synergies and best practice 

commonalities are coming to the fore without 

limiting the ability of local managers to 

identify their own opportunities and pursue 

them as they see fit. The appropriateness  

of this approach was confirmed by the 

achievement of business growth above 

national economic growth rates in most 

Bidvest Foodservice markets. 

Three themes emerged at operational level:

1.  Selling a service rather than selling a 

commodity.

2.  Value differentiation through 

complementary offerings.

3. Margin management.

The risk of commoditisation affects all 

national markets. To counteract the risk, 

teams in several countries launched efforts  

to add value through superior service. This 

strikes a receptive chord with customers, 

many of whom have cut internal staff in 

response to tough economic conditions. 

Customers with lean teams appreciate 

suppliers who offer smarter ordering and 

payment systems, better routing and 

complementary food ranges.

Range extension to create complementary 

offerings is a crucial element in the value 

differentiation strategy. Several of our 

businesses now offer fresh produce, 

speciality products, seafood, meat and 

processed meals, creating a one-stop 

platform with a value-for-money promise.

Bidvest Foodservice operates in all three 

major segments of the foodservice business, 

top-end speciality offerings (including 

seafood, cheeses and imported delicacies), 

the middle market (where value for money is 

essential) and the lower end of the market 

(where price is critical).

public trust in brands and sometimes entire 

categories of product. 

Commoditisation: Focus by many industry 

players on low-cost options creates a risk 

that a race to the bottom will develop, 

eroding points of difference and margins.

Legislative risk: Regulation is stringent in 

both the food and distribution industries. 

New regulation imposes new costs, but 

rigorous regulation represents more 

opportunities than risks as well-resourced 

companies are better able to respond.

Credit risk: The risk of business failure 

among some customer groups remains a 

concern, especially in economies facing low 

or no growth.

Technology: Traditionally, foodservice was a 

low-tech industry. Online ordering, telematics 

and scanning technology are changing that. 

Foodservice operators are challenged to stay 

on top of new developments, extract benefits 

and efficiencies and avoid costly mistakes.

Climate and disease: Poor harvests and 

outbreaks of a wide range of animal diseases 

can have material effect on supplies and 

prices.

Financial performance
Results overall were pleasing, underpinned 

by solid performance by the Asia Pacific 

region. The weaker rand also had significant 

impact on results on translation of foreign 

earnings.

Revenue rose by 17,7% to R82,7 billion 

(2012: 2012: R70,3 billion), with trading  

profit 12,0% higher at R2,5 billion (2012: 

R2,2 billion). Gains were driven by organic 

growth and strong focus on expense 

management. No major acquisitions 

occurred, though small bolt-on acquisitions 

were made in several markets.

Capital expenditure rose. Investment in 

modern, value-adding infrastructure is a key 

component of our margin protection strategy. 

Margin contraction was minimised during the 

year.

We continually strive to take working capital 

out of our businesses and ROFE remained 

satisfactory. 

Training investment was sustained.

Operational review BIDVEST FOODSERVICE
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The best margins are found at the top end, 

but this is a niche market. Significant volume 

growth is difficult to achieve. The lower end 

of the market offers big volumes, but 

paper-thin margins make it difficult to achieve 

sustained profitability. The most potential is 

offered in the middle market, where our 

teams achieve differentiation through product 

and service quality at reasonable margins. 

Without neglecting opportunities in other 

segments, this is the major focus area for  

our business. 

Teams in several countries are exploring the 

further development of house brands as a 

method of cementing relationships with 

customers while protecting margins and 

creating a value offering.

In some cases, it proved impossible to 

perform a quality service at the competitive 

prices on offer. In these circumstances, 

contracts were terminated or were not 

renewed when they lapsed.

Management teams focused less on the top 

line and more on the bottom line. The result 

was a return to more sustainable margins 

and better profitability.

Innovation
An important operational innovation in 2011, 

the launch of Bidvest Procurement company 

(BPC), proved successful. Procurement 

volumes at the Greater China-based 

company moved higher, enabling savings.

With proof of concept now established, we 

will cast the procurement net wider. Sources 

of supply in Brazil and Thailand, among 

others, are being investigated. Management 

will explore the possibility of setting up similar 

BPC operations in other regions.

Technology investment
Experience-sharing and international 

cooperation were stepped up, with strong 

focus on technology. Technology costs are 

already considerable and will rise in future. It 

is becoming standard practice across the 

business to request information on past 

technology experience in various markets 

before committing to new systems.

Seafood Holdings to create Bidvest Fresh 

UK. Bidvest Logistics secured strong volume 

growth and delivered a record number of 

cartons at a more sustainable level of profit, 

albeit very small.

Deli XL Netherlands faced a difficult year in all 

sectors – institutional eating, catering and 

restaurant business. Market contraction put 

the foodservice industry under pressure in 

both the Netherlands and neighbouring 

Belgium. In Belgium, the opportunity was 

taken to acquire several smaller HORECA 

operators to bulk up our business. 

In eastern Europe, trading conditions 

remained difficult. Bidvest Czech Republic  

& Slovakia continued its strategic expansion 

into speciality meats. Farutex Poland faced 

market contraction. Bidvest Baltics secured 

market-share gains in the foodservice sector, 

but overall results were lacklustre.

Horeca Dubai expanded its infrastructure 

with the opening of a new distribution centre 

in Abu Dhabi. Sales gains were maintained in 

the Gulf and the Al Diyafa joint venture in 

Saudi Arabia performed very well.

Bidvest Food southern Africa put in a better 

performance in the face of continued margin 

pressure. Foodservice was impacted by low 

consumer spending and the need to maintain 

strict control of debtors in difficult trading 

conditions. Better overall performance was 

underpinned by clear focus on four business 

areas – Foodservice, the Crown Food Group 

of manufacturing and distribution businesses, 

Bakery Solutions and Patleys speciality foods 

and branded products into the retail market.

Investment in new infrastructure continued 

and Crown launched an Innovation, Design 

and Technology Centre in Cape Town to 

showcase its credentials as the developer of 

new solutions and an early adopter of the 

latest advances in food technology. By 

year-end Foodservice was approaching the 

end of its five-year migration to a full 

multi-temperature environment.

Operations were discontinued at the old NCP 

yeast factory in Durban and new yeast 

supply arrangements entered into. 

Where appropriate, proven platforms are 

rolled out. The BluePepper online ordering 

system – a success in both Australia and 

New Zealand – is being applied in many of 

our businesses, both in Foodservice and 

across the broader Bidvest Group.

Where roll-out of a well-proven system is not 

feasible, teams exchange information and 

ideas on possible solutions. Two years ago, 

IT implementation issues in the UK resulted 

in significant write-offs. In the past year, the 

Netherlands and Belgium experienced similar 

write-offs.

Important lessons have been learned. In 

future, the technology challenge will receive 

focused attention. Proactive information and 

sharing will characterise our approach.

Regions
Asia Pacific put in a pleasing performance.

Despite a faltering economy, Bidvest 

Australia maintained momentum. Sales were 

up strongly on the back of a robust 

contribution by the Foodservice division. The 

Fresh division contributed to profitability and, 

along with Meat, offers great future growth 

potential.

All divisions at Bidvest New Zealand 

performed well. Results were bolstered by 

the contribution of several small bolt-on 

acquisitions.

Operations in mainland China achieved 

pleasing growth. The roll-out to second-tier 

cities continued and by year-end Bidvest 

Foodservice was represented in 10 major 

metropolitan centres. Significant additions to 

the range were introduced. Initial indications 

are that the new Japanese range will be well 

accepted in the Chinese market.

Angliss Singapore, previously a commodity 

trader, is entering the final stages of its 

transition to a conventional foodservice 

business. Dislocation during the changeover 

impacted volumes and profits.

In the UK, 3663 Wholesale achieved strong 

growth. A fresh produce business was 

acquired in Bolton in the north-west of 

England. This was subsequently aligned with 
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Patleys returned to historical levels of 

performance, assisted by rationalisation of its 

brand bouquet and much greater focus on 

income-producing lines.

Societal issues
Public and media focus on the integrity of the 

food supply chain was highlighted in 

mid-year by the UK horsemeat scandal. 

Concerns over the mis-labelling of beef and 

processed foods were initially raised in 

Ireland and Britain, but ultimately spread to 

most of Europe. In a related development, it 

was later revealed that pork had found its 

way into halaal meals supplied by 3663 to 

British prisons.

UK management’s frank and open approach 

and full cooperation with the authorities 

ensured minimal impact on the 3663 brand. 

Our team reacted well to a difficult situation.

Step-by-step traceability of food products to 

the original supplier became a crucial issue 

as the scandal unfolded and the media 

focused public attention on the risk of food 

adulteration and the opaque nature of supply 

arrangements in many European countries. 

Thankfully, supply traceability is the central 

feature of 3663’s procurement system. There 

was a similar experience in our Czech 

business where certain meat products were 

found to include traces of horsemeat.

These developments were a reminder that 

foodservice businesses must maintain the 

highest standards; not only standards 

affecting their own processes, but standards 

applied by their suppliers.

Our businesses are industry leaders and 

work with the authorities on initiatives to build 

awareness of healthy food options and the 

benefits of a balanced diet. Where possible, 

we increasingly commit to local sourcing to 

growth. Singapore’s transition to a new 

business model is nearing completion, 

setting the scene for better performance.

We will benefit from the full-year effects of 

recent acquisitions in Britain and Belgium. 

Our UK business has proven resilient in the 

face of a prolonged downturn and is 

positioned to maintain its recent recovery. 

Operations in the Netherlands are under 

pressure, but have the potential to come 

back strongly. After recent acquisitions,  

Deli XL Belgium is also well placed.  

A positive rebound is projected. 

Continued growth is expected in the Middle 

East.

Conditions will remain challenging in 

southern Africa, but we project further 

improvements, especially in the foodservice 

sector.

In June 2013 we acquired a controlling stake 

in a branded products distributor to the 

foodservice industry in Turkey. The Turkish 

economy has experienced significant growth 

in recent years. The acquisition affords an 

opportunity to gain experience of a new 

market with the potential for sustained 

growth.

Deli Meals, our acquisition in Chile, has made 

its first profits and we continue to explore 

further opportunities in South America.

We are committed to continued growth – 

both organic and acquisitive. We will not 

restrict ourselves to growth in national 

markets in which we have an established 

presence. Possibilities in several new 

geographies are being explored.

We expect competitive pressures to remain 

strong, but we also expect our management 

teams to do well in a highly competitive 

environment.

reduce the carbon footprint. We use 

state-of-the-art telematics to reduce fuel 

usage and take strenuous steps to cut water 

and electricity usage.

Good corporate citizenship and good 

business practice are not mutually exclusive. 

Reputational factors can foster better 

performance and higher productivity. Our 

people are proud to work for a company that 

integrates good management and good 

housekeeping with good community relations 

and good environmental practice.

Future
Bidvest Foodservice is upbeat about 

prospects. The primary reason is attitudinal.

Internally, all teams recognise there can be 

no return to business on the pre-2008 

pattern. We have entered a period in which 

management has to create its own 

momentum. Improvements in GDP and 

consumer confidence do not provide the only 

basis for growth. Growth must be driven by 

innovation, motivation and efficiencies.

Externally, customers have also adjusted to 

the new normal. They expect competitive 

prices, but increasingly recognise that low 

cost and high quality cannot be demanded 

at the same time. They have learned to value 

good relationships with reliable partners who 

provide services they can trust.

Our operations will remain energetic in the 

pursuit of sales, but at margins that are 

sustainable for our business.

Businesses in Asia Pacific are expected to 

maintain strong momentum. Bidvest Australia 

and New Zealand are industry leaders. They 

are well equipped to secure competitive 

advantage in a tough market.

Our Chinese footprint has been substantially 

widened, creating opportunities for continued 

Operational review BIDVEST FOODSERVICE

“Traditionally foodservice was a low-tech industry. 
Online ordering, telematics and scanning technology 
are changing that.”

Bernard Berson
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The corporate centre adds further value by identifying 

strategic and investment opportunities while promoting 

experience sharing across divisions and fostering 

synergies and savings. Bidvest Corporate also houses 

Group investments.

Services:

Access to corporate finance

Bidvest brand support

Compliance

Executive training, oversight and management of Group-

wide financial management

Investor relations and corporate communications

Risk and sustainability issues

Strategic direction

Operational review

BIDVEST CORPORATE
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Bidvest Academy, the Group management training and 
development programme, spend is included here.

Virtually all of Corporate Scope 1 and about two-thirds of scope 2  
emissions reflect Ontime Automotive activities. Most of scope 3 
emissions stem from flights by Corporate Services staff and in a 
some cases Wits football club members. QUICK LINK: Comparative sustainability data 

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/009.php
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Bidvest Namibia Limited is 

listed on the Namibian Stock 

Exchange. Bidvest Namibia’s 

operating divisions are under 

two holding companies namely 

Bidvest Namibia Fisheries 

Holdings (Bidfish) which is 

focused on the fishing industry  

in Namibia and Angola and 

Bidvest Namibia Commercial 

Holdings (Bidcom). Bidcom 

is divided into three divisions, 

namely Freight, Logistics, 

Marine Services and Material 

Handling; Food and Distribution; 

and Commercial and Industrial 

Services. Bidfish operates one 

of Africa’s most efficient fishing 

fleets and has a high reputation 

for quality delivery into Namibian 

and African markets. Horse-

mackerel is the core activity, 

but Bidfish’s product range also 

includes canned fish, oysters 

and other products. Operating 

companies within Bidcom 

have a broad spectrum of 

well-recognised brands and an 

extended distribution network 

throughout Namibia.

Operational review
BIDVEST NAMIBIA

Highlights and challenges
 Zero fatal accidents highlight the effectiveness of safety initiatives.

 Fishing results impacted by lower quota allocations and high 

quota purchased in costs.

 Fleet investment maintained and new pelagic vessel Deolinda 

commissioned.

 Firmer pilchard prices help canning factory return  

to profit.

 ProTrade Agencies acquired in NAD17,5 million deal.

 Commercial businesses under pressure in highly competitive 

markets.

 Manica secures a number of shore-based logistics contracts.

 Turnaround at Waltons delivers good growth.

Material issues and risks
 Biomass management remains a focus area. Bidfish liaises closely 

with the authorities to ensure resources are responsibly managed.

 Several businesses work in inherently hazardous industries  

(eg fishing and logistics). Management and staff comply with 

workplace safety regulations. Safety awareness is high and no 

workplace fatalities were reported.

 Policy shifts create both risk and opportunity.

 Growth of logistics and portside services can be inhibited by 

delays in government infrastructure investment.

 Foreign competition in the fishing industry has become intense.

 Talent development and retention remain areas of critical 

management focus.

Back: J Arnold, S Kankondi, W Schuckmann, Q King. Front: H Timke, T Mberirua, T Weitz.

Sebulon Inotila Kankondi

Chief executive officer

Jan Arnold

Managing director of Bidvest Namibia 

Fisheries Holdings

Theresa Weitz

Group financial director

Hans-Werner Timke

Managing director of Freight and Logistics

Quentin King

Managing director of Food and Distribution

Theo Mberirua

Commercial director of Bidcom

Werner Schuckmann 

Managing director of Commercial and 

Industrial Products and Services

QUICK LINK: Bidvest Namibia annual report 

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/007.php



THE BIDVEST GROUP LIMITED

Annual Integrated Report 2013
39

Revenue  

(NAD million)

Financial performance

0

500 

1 500

1 000

2 000

2 500

3 000

3 500

201320122011

2 971,3

3 597,2

1 918,8

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Trading profit 

(NAD million)

  

201320122011

637,7
592,2

544,9

Greenhouse gas emissions 

(Scope 1, 2 and 3)

Bidfish

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

201320122011

Non-financial performance

E
m

is
s
io

n
s
 (
k
ilo

to
n
n
e
s
 C

O
2
e
)

In
te

n
s
it
y
 (
to

n
n
e
s
 C

O
2
 p

e
r 

to
n
n
e
s
 fi

s
h
 c

a
u
g
h
t)

Commercial Bidfish emission intensity

0,0

0,1

0,2

0,3

0,4

0,5

0,6

0,7

0,8

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

201320122011

Water  

  

Commercial

  

Bidfish Intensity

U
s
a
g
e
 (
M

e
g
a
lit

re
s
)

K
ilo

lit
re

s
 p

e
r 

R
’m

ill
io

n
 r

e
v
e
n
u
e

0

10

20

30

40

50

60
109,2

103,6
91,4

0

5

10

15

20

25

201320122011 201320122011

CSI spend 

CSI spend

S
p

e
n
d

 (
N

A
D

 m
ill
io

n
)

S
p

e
n
d

 a
s
 %

 o
f 
tr

a
d

in
g
 p

ro
fit

As % of trading profit

0,0

0,5

1,0

1,5

2,0

2,5

3,0

3,5

4,0

6,7
8,7

20,2

Injury rate – Bidfish 

(LTIFR per 200 000 hours worked)

0,0

0,5

1,0

1,5

2,0

2,5

201320122011

1,2

2,3 2,2

Water intensity has improved 

considerably. Bidfish reuses/recycles 

about 60% of its water.

Businesses significantly increased their 

spend on development and community 

support, particularly Bidfish through its 

Namsov Community Trust. 

Fishing staff work in hazardous 

environments. High levels of safety 

procedures and training minimise risk.  

Bidfish accounts for 30% of the  

Group’s total diesel usage.

QUICK LINK: Comparative sustainability data 

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/008.php
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Performance and trading conditions
Satisfactory results were recorded overall  

in the face of significant challenges at the 

fishing division, our major profit contributor. 

Bidfish performance was below expectation, 

but in the context of a 25% reduction in the 

fishing quota allocation to the business by 

the Ministry of Fisheries and Marine 

Resources the result was creditable.

Though volumes harvested fell, international 

prices firmed for both mackerel and 

pilchards, helping to cushion the impact of a 

lower allocation. Exchange rate weakness 

was also beneficial on the translation of our 

earnings on US dollar-denominated fish 

catches.

Mixed performance was apparent within 

Bidcom. However, new operational 

structures proved their worth as tighter focus 

enabled management to quickly identify 

opportunities and challenges. 

The Freight and Logistics subdivision 

performed strongly as Manica Namibia 

optimised the opportunity to expand its 

services to the oil and gas exploration 

industry.

The Food and Distribution subdivision was 

impacted by disappointing results at 

Caterplus. This business was affected by 

margin pressure and dislocation in the 

poultry market ahead of the introduction of 

legislation to protect local poultry producers. 

On the upside, access to the facilities and 

national footprint of T&C created synergies 

and efficiencies.

Material issues
Policy shifts create both risk and opportunity. 

Bidfish, our largest division, operates in a 

highly regulated environment. The net effect 

of government’s policy to grant additional 

rights to community-based entrants to the 

fishing industry was to reduce the allocation 

available to our fishing businesses.

been made. This inhibits the potential for 

expansion of portside logistical services.

Talent retention can also create a challenge 

as businesses in Namibia compete for a 

limited pool of senior management talent. 

Financial performance
Revenue increased by 21,1% to  

NAD3,6 billion (2012: NAD3,0 billion) while 

trading profit moved 8,1% lower to 

NAD592,2 million (2012: NAD632,7 million). 

Cash from operations decreased by  

16,9% to NAD516,7million (2012:  

NAD622,0 million).

Highs and lows
Despite exposure on occasion to hazardous 

working conditions, no fatal workplace 

accidents were reported – testimony to the 

high level of safety training and awareness  

at our operations. The challenge now is to 

maintain our fatality-free record.

In May, Bidfish commissioned the latest 

addition to its fleet, the Deolinda.

The vessel was water tested in April and 

completed its trial fishing stint in May and 

June. The Deolinda is compliant with 

Angolan fisheries legislation and will support 

our Angolan joint venture, Pesca Fresca. 

Deployment to Angolan waters is expected 

early in the new period. 

The Commercial and Industrial Services 

businesses returned mixed results.

Last year’s T&C acquisition delivered the 

expected benefits and the strategy of 

optimising the potential of our national 

distribution footprint took an important step 

forward with the acquisition of the Windhoek 

non-food products distributor, ProTrade 

Agencies. 

ProTrade benefits from access to T&C 

expertise and its national distribution 

channels. T&C achieves strong synergies as 

a wider range of products can be delivered 

per drop.

Bidfish’s strategy has been to enable new 

rights-holders – who lack capital to acquire 

fishing vessels – to obtain a commercial 

return on their rights through its Trachurus 

joint venture with community-based industry 

entrants. The purchase of rights from new 

rights-holders imposes an extra cost. The 

cost impact has risen significantly as 

unregulated foreign vessels increasingly enter 

Namibian waters and their owners compete 

strongly for these quotas.

Resource availability is material to fleet 

utilisation levels. This was highlighted when a 

survey of the pilchard resource indicated that 

resource recovery was not as robust as 

hoped. This led to a lower total allowable 

catch. Lower pilchard harvests have the 

potential to impact the operations of the 

pilchard canning factory operated by our 

subsidiary, United Fishing Enterprises (UFE).

However, management responded promptly, 

securing sufficient quotas to maintain jobs at 

the factory. Subsequently, higher pilchard 

prices helped the canning plant return to 

profit.

Exposure to international competition also 

creates a challenge. Depletion of marine 

resources in Mauritanian waters and other 

fishing grounds has led to a growing influx of 

unregulated foreign vessels. Their incursions 

can have material effects on the local 

resource and an unlevel playing field for local 

operators.

Policy impacts can create opportunities. 

Recent legislation to protect Namibian 

poultry producers curtailed poultry imports. 

As a result, poultry prices have risen 

substantially, prompting consumers to seek 

more affordable types of protein. This 

supports demand for horse-mackerel and 

creates opportunities for new product 

development for the Namibian market.

Lack of policy direction around investment in 

national infrastructure has a material impact. 

Port facilities at Walvis Bay require expansion 

and modernisation, but little progress has 

Operational review BIDVEST NAMIBIA
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The NAD17,5 million transaction was 

completed in March.

However, Food and Distribution was 

impacted by difficulties at Caterplus on 

relocation from old premises. Corrective 

action was taken. 

Underperformance was apparent at Minolco 

and Kolok, but Waltons returned to growth, 

indicating that management’s turnaround 

strategy is bearing fruit. 

Freight and Logistics lead the industry with 

the roll-out of asset-backed services. The 

business has invested in materials handling 

equipment to provide superior service levels. 

Manica upskilled in anticipation of a growing 

workload and during the year won  

a number of shore-based management 

contracts issued in Namibia by oil and gas 

companies.

Collaboration
Synergies and collaboration are increasingly 

explored.

Caterplus, Patleys South Africa and T&C 

distribute Bidfish’s canned product under  

the Ocean Fresh label across Namibia and 

South Africa. T&C expertise proved helpful to 

UFE when it recently entered the Botswana 

market. Our freight division has long provided 

logistical services to our fishing division.

These collaborative efforts are being  

stepped up.

Innovation and reinvention
Capital expenditure reached  

NAD117,3 million (2012: NAD125,0 million) 

and we continue to innovate and add value.

Even before entering service our new vessel, 

the Deolinda, became the benchmark for 

others in the local fishing industry. The vessel 

is made from fibreglass rather than steel. 

Lighter construction enables ongoing  

savings on fuel and maintenance. Less 

downtime means optimum utilisation.

Our training investment remains substantial 

and amounted to NAD2,8 million.

We continue to sponsor the training of  

15 navigation officers and marine engineers 

at the Russian naval academy in Kaliningrad.

All operations are big supporters of our 

Walvis Bay training centre. Middle 

management leadership training, financial 

management skills and computer training are 

focus areas. This facility is not only used by 

our own companies. Outside companies 

increasingly make use of its facilities.

Empowerment
Formal legislation on black economic 

empowerment has yet to be tabled. 

However, Bidvest Namibia’s strategy has 

been to be legislation-ready well ahead of 

enactment.

We ensured significant black ownership in 

2009 when we listed on the Namibian Stock 

Exchange. At the same time, we achieved 

built-in grassroots commitment through  

the equity participation of Ovanhu and our 

support of the Namsov Community Trust and 

the Bidvest Namibia Community Investment.

Development of senior black managers is a 

strategic imperative and a key goal of our 

training effort.

In line with our decentralised business model, 

we devolve responsibility for people 

development and community support to 

operating companies as they are close to 

local needs. All businesses continued to 

make substantial corporate social 

investments. CSI spend increased 

significantly to NAD20,2 million (2012: 

NAD8,8 million). 

One significant change was a concerted 

effort to better align corporate giving with 

corporate activities and objectives. Greater 

focus is also being given to sustainability. 

Our commitment to enterprise development 

includes support for the Namibian 

Preferential Procurement Council, a key 

New opportunities in the realm of marine 

agriculture are under development. Our 

Tetelestai aquaculture project has obtained 

the ministerial approvals to operate an oyster 

farm four-and-a-half nautical miles off the 

Patrysberg shoreline. Relocation will avoid 

the lagoon sulphur eruptions that plagued 

earlier efforts at commercial oyster 

cultivation.

The slow rate of biomass recovery in the 

pilchard sector prompted a review of 

alternative canned products. Bidfish has 

launched a “meal in a can” project. Various 

products are being tested, including canned 

horse-mackerel.

Computer upgrades are a constant feature  

of our business. T&C’s tried and tested  

ACS Embrace operating system has been 

migrated to Caterplus and ProTrade, creating 

uniform platforms. New software has been 

implemented at Kolok and Steiner Namibia 

while Waltons has almost completed a 

system upgrade. Manica Namibia is 

progressing well with the introduction of its 

track and trace system.

Jobs growth and people development
Development of an effective talent retention 

policy will be facilitated in the near future by 

government legislation. From September, 

government will introduce a system of 

training levies payable to the National Training 

Authority. The levy has been set at 1,5% of 

payroll. Companies that invest in training can 

then claim rebates.

Though many companies complain about  

the lack of skilled personnel, not all make 

significant investment in the development of 

their people. As a result, businesses with 

high training budgets find themselves training 

personnel who are quickly snapped up by 

other companies.

Hopefully, a national system of training levies 

and rebates will even the playing field and 

encourage a more far-sighted approach.
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component of government’s strategy to 

foster corporate support for locally owned 

SMEs. Registration is not yet compulsory, 

but our businesses featured strongly in the 

first wave of companies to apply for NPPC 

ratings.

Our Freight and Logistics subdivision 

registered all its operating companies and 

achieved good empowerment ratings across 

the board. 

Future
The business remains focused on strategic 

growth and the achievement of operational 

efficiencies. We have a strong balance sheet 

and considerable capital resources. We are 

an acquisitive company and will continue to 

examine opportunities for acquisitive growth 

where we see value and the potential for 

synergies.

Food security is becoming a major focus 

area for all African states. Our proven ability 

to supply affordable protein through modern, 

efficient horse-mackerel fishing and related 

fishing activities positions Bidfish strongly for 

future growth.

Commercial and Industrial Services faces 

growing competition and margin squeeze in 

several areas, including computer 

consumables and office automation. 

However, planned expansion into northern 

Namibia creates opportunities to serve new 

customers and build additional volumes.  

The turnaround at Waltons has shown that 

vigorous action by more focused managers 

can have material impact on results in a 

relatively short period of time.

Corrective action at Caterplus and its national 

reach through closer alignment with T&C will 

drive a return to growth. The full-year effects 

of the ProTrade Agencies acquisition will add 

further momentum.

Bidvest Namibia recommits itself to renewed 

organic growth across the business while 

pursuing acquisitive growth nationally and 

perhaps further afield. We are confident that 

sustained growth in revenue and trading 

profit can be achieved.

Challenges may well persist in the fishing 

sector, but we are confident in our ability to 

trade profitably in an increasingly competitive 

market. Our fleet is modern, efficient, well 

equipped and has the capacity to handle 

growing volumes. 

We remain alert for opportunities to achieve 

further growth in our core areas of activity – 

fishing for horse-mackerel and pilchards – 

and will explore possible entrance into the 

hake sector. Investment in the south Pacific 

pelagic fishing grounds and other resource 

grounds off the African coast will also be 

investigated. 

Our commercial businesses will also seek 

continued growth. 

The pursuit of long-term growth at our 

Freight and Logistics subdivision is 

underpinned by increased activity in the oil 

and gas industry. The demand for shore-

based logistics support is rising steadily. 

Freight and Logistics has the facilities and 

expertise to optimise these opportunities.

Expansion of logistics services into the 

Namibia-Zambia trade corridor provides 

another strategic growth opportunity.

“Food security is becoming a major focus area for all 
African states. Our proven ability to supply affordable 
protein through modern, efficient horse-mackerel fishing 
positions Bidfish strongly for future growth”

Sebulon Kankondi

Operational review BIDVEST NAMIBIA
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Bidvest at work

Renewable energy
Energy matters is starting stage one of Australia’s largest purely privately funded rooftop solar array  

for Bidvest.

Bidvest has made an unprecedented move for the foodservice industry by committing to build stage  

one of what is expected to be Australia’s largest privately funded rooftop photovoltaic solar array.  

Bidvest will spend approximately AUD0,7 million to install up to 290kW of solar panels as stage one  

of a future 1MWp solar array at the site. 

See more at: 

QUICK LINK:

http://homeenergyhq.com/energy-matters-commencing-290kw-solar-project-for-bidvest

Walk for Wheelchairs
Huge crowds of Bidvest staff, media and interested friends and family took to the streets of Johannesburg, 

Durban, Port Elizabeth and Cape Town on 18 August for the Bidvest Unity Walk. The initiative saw nearly 

60 000 people walking to raise money for wheelchairs for those who cannot. Bidvest will donate 243 

wheelchairs to paraplegics in needy communities across the country, in collaboration with the QuadPara 

Association of South Africa (QASA). 

See more at:

QUICK LINK:

http://www.hotelandrestaurant.co.za/tourism/walking-for-wheelchairs/#sthash.qn01pnrP.dpuf

16th Rally to Read reaches out to rural 
areas with limited resources
Bidvest, which spearheads the Rally to Read programme as one of its flagship projects, works closely 

with the Department of Education and the READ Educational Trust to select the schools that are best 

suited to benefit from the libraries and resources.  Selected schools 

receive the benefit of the resources and training over a three-year 

period to ensure continuity and sustainability of the process.

See more at: 

QUICK LINK:

Rally to Read – http://leadsa.co.za/?p=13731

Rally to Read – Bidvoice 1 page 5 – www.bidvest.com/downloads/2013/bidvoice-edition1.pdf
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Strategic overview/Macro conditions/
Trading environment
The Group delivered solid trading results for 

the year ended June 30 2013, achieved 

against a backdrop of challenging trading 

environments in many geographies in which 

we operate. The Bidvest team is to be 

complimented on a job well done. 

The business environment was especially 

challenging in the UK and Europe. Asia Pacific 

maintained its growth trajectory, making a 

strong profit contribution. Results in South 

Africa were solid in the context of lower 

growth and further pressure on consumers. 

Namibia’s contribution to profit was below 

expectation but credible in the context of a 

volatile fishing industry.

The average rand exchange rate weakened 

against major currencies in which the Group 

operates, in particular against the Australian 

dollar and sterling. A marked weakness 

occurred in the last quarter, the full effects  

of which are likely to be evident in 2014.

Financial performance 
Revenue rose by 14,9% to a new record level 

of R153,4 billion (2012: R133,5 billion). Major 

contributions to the increase came from 

Bidvest Europe (R7,0 billion) and Bidvest  

Asia Pacific (R5,1 billion). Results were mainly 

driven by organic growth and some 

acquisitive growth, as well as assistance  

from currency effects of translation. 

At 19,8%, gross margin eased lower while the 

trading margin of 5,0% (2012: 5,3%) declined 

slightly, impacted by the relative increased 

contribution from lower margin businesses 

such as automotive retailing and the marked 

decline in trading profit in a few foreign 

operations. 

The Group grew trading profit by 9,4% to 

R7,7 billion (2012: R7,0 billion). Operating 

expenses rose by 12,3 % driven by the full 

cost of acquisitions in the 2013 base and the 

impact of the translation of the foreign 

businesses at weaker rand average  

exchange rates. Although not apparent,  

cost increases reflect continued focus on 

efficiency improvements by management  

at all operating divisions and increased by 

only 6,2% as measured on a constant 

currency basis.

Financial director’s review

David Cleasby Group financial director

Management focus remains on product and 

service innovation to assist in growing revenue on 

a sustainable basis, ongoing cost control, which 

combined with good working capital management, 

will assist in generating acceptable returns on 

funds employed

Highlights
 Revenue grew 14,9% to R153,4 billion  

(2012: R133,5 billion)

 EBITDA up 8,4% to R9,8 billion

 EBITDA interest cover up to 12,8 times (2012: 11,5 times)

 Normalised headline earnings up 16,2% to R4,9 billion

 Net debt has increased to R4,5 billion (2012: R3,6 billion) 

driven principally by the absorption of working capital

 Bidvest’s attitude to gearing remains conservative while 

retaining adequate borrowing capacity

 Low gearing, high interest cover

 Financial discipline remains a key priority
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Rand weakness, notably in the second half 

of the year, was beneficial on the translation 

of overseas earnings. Bidvest derives 38,8% 

(2012: 40,1%) of its trading profit from 

businesses outside South Africa. Accordingly 

currency volatility has an impact on reported 

rand results.

At Bidvest, incentivisation of management 

remains a critical component of securing 

business growth significantly higher than the 

national or industry norm. Share-based 

incentive costs for staff amounted to  

R119,7 million (2012: R121,5 million).

Associate earnings from Group investments 

showed a healthy increase to R161,8 million 

(2012: R77,3 million) buoyed by the full-year 

contribution from the 38,4% equity 

accounted interest in Mvelaserve Limited and 

the improved performance of Comair 

Limited, reflecting a more normalised return.

Return on funds employed (ROFE) – a key 

benchmark for operational performance –

declined marginally to 37,3% (2012: 39,9%) 

driven mainly by the investment into working 

capital across the Group. 

Cash flow analysis
The Group’s balance sheet remains robust, 

notwithstanding the fact that the working 

capital absorption increased during 2013. 

Cash generated by operations before 

working capital changes increased 5,9%  

to R9,3 billion (2012: R8,7 billion). 

The Group absorbed R1,9 billion of working 

capital reflecting growth and strategic 

stocking in a number of businesses. The net 

working capital cycle increased to 12,1 days 

from 8,2 days in 2012.

Inventories remain well controlled and 

appropriately valued however strategic 

investments were made in a number of 

industries, particularly the automotive sector. 

Accounts receivable have increased in line 

with revenue growth across the businesses. 

Credit extension and debtors collections 

remain critical focus areas of management  

as the Group is exposed to sectors such as 

construction and out-of-home eating where 

operators continue to face a high risk of 

business. 

Currency market movements remained 

volatile and the rand came under growing 

pressure, particularly as foreign investors 

became risk averse in emerging markets and 

exited the South African bond markets in the 

latter part of the financial year. Bidvest 

continues to manage its transactional 

currency risk by taking forward cover and 

foreign assets are matched to foreign 

liabilities in their home currencies, mitigating 

cross currency exposures.

However, for an international business like 

Bidvest, rand weakness can have short-term 

beneficial effects on foreign earnings on 

conversion to rand. In the course of the  

12 months to June 2013, the average 

exchange rate against sterling softened from 

R12,34 to R13,87. Against the euro, the unit 

fell from R10,41 to R11,46 while the rate 

against the Australian dollar moved out from 

R8,03 to R9,08.

Inflationary pressure
The currency gains should not obscure 

long-term risks associated with the resultant 

impact on the rate of inflation and pressure 

on consumers in South Africa. The weaker 

rand drove South African fuel prices higher 

and combined with administered price 

pressures, had a knock-on inflationary effect 

on a wide range of consumer goods. On the 

positive side, adequate supply side capacity 

negated the full effects of these increases.

As a trading company, Bidvest derives some 

benefit from mild levels of inflation. However, 

this benefit is eroded when inflation moves 

significantly higher than targeted levels.  

Trade and other payables days declined to 

56 days (2012: 59,4 days ) reflecting 

normalisation off a high base in 2012. 

Net capital expenditure on property, plant 

and equipment is up in the current year to 

R2,2 billion (2012: R1,8 billion) as the 

ongoing investment into Group infrastructure 

continues. Depreciation and amortisation 

charges amount to R2 billion which reflects 

the Group’s continued strategy of ongoing 

appropriate investment into fixed assets. Net 

additions to intangibles are flat year on year 

at R0,3 billion. Net capital items for the year 

of R102,5 million arise primarily from the 

impairment of intangibles and associates. 

Net debt rose to R4,5 billion (2012:  

R3,6 billion) driven primarily by the 

investment into working capital. The Group 

took advantage of the low-interest 

environment during the year and both foreign 

bank funding and the local capital markets 

were accessed. 

Net finance charges declined by  

R20,1 million to R764,5 million, indicative  

of the lower interest rate environment  

which was offset to some degree by the 

increased investment in working capital. 

Though advantageous rates are sought in 

capital markets from time to time, our 

philosophy on debt remains unchanged.  

We take a conservative approach to gearing 

and Bidvest remains well capitalised, with 

normalised interest cover increasing to  

10,0 times (2012: 8,9 times).

Credit ratings
South Africa’s sovereign rating came under 

pressure as Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & 

Poor’s downgraded the country’s rating to 

just two levels above non-investment grade 

status. This is worrying, but is broadly in line 

with the national ratings of other emerging 

economies such as Russia and Brazil.

Sovereign downgrades push up funding 

costs for both government and corporates 

as companies are rated relative to the ratings 

of their countries of domicile. However,  

Fitch Ratings upgraded Bidvest’s national 

long-term rating to “AA (zaf)” while Moody’s 

continue to rate the Group at A1.za with a 

stable outlook. 

“Incentivisation of 
management remains 
a critical component 
of securing business 
growth significantly 
higher than the 
national or industry 
norm.”
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Financial director’s review

High inflation reduces the consumer’s 

purchasing power and contributes to 

growing pressure on margins. 

Regulatory pressure
The worldwide regulatory and legislative 

burden grows at an increasing rate each 

year. Bidvest strives to be a well-governed 

business and ensure compliance in all 

jurisdictions in which we operate, but  

this requires a significant investment of 

resources, most notably management  

time and focus.

Stakeholder engagement
In the face of fragile business confidence and 

low economic growth forecasts, the Group 

maintained its rate of investment in 

infrastructure, equipment and people. 

Bidvest people remain a key source of 

competitive advantage and training spend is 

regarded as a crucial investment in future 

growth that must be maintained.

We continue to allocate considerable 

resources to management training and 

specialist technical training. However, a 

significant portion of the Bidvest training 

budget in South Africa is channelled into 

adult basic education and training (Abet).

In the democratic era, South Africa’s rate of 

investment in education has risen to roughly 

5% of national GDP, one of the highest rates 

in the world. However, there has long been a 

disturbing discrepancy between input and 

output. Many young people leave school 

without communication skills and with little 

grasp of the basic foundations of maths and 

science.

Poor educational grounding represents a 

material constraint to sustained business 

growth and continues to be a strategic risk 

factor for all businesses in South Africa, 

including Bidvest.

In May, Bidvest offered to buy out the 

minority shareholders of outsourcing firm 

Mvelaserve Limited after agreeing to buy a 

further 17,7% of the company’s equity from 

Mvelaphanda Holdings. At the time of the 

offer, Bidvest already owned approximately 

35% of Mvelaserve Limited. The R609 million 

cash transaction is awaiting regulatory 

approvals.

A number of smaller acquisitions were also 

made in the year.

Future
Management focus remains on product and 

service innovation to assist in growing 

revenue on a sustainable basis, ongoing cost 

control, which combined with good working 

capital management, will assist in generating 

acceptable returns on funds employed. 

Further effort is being directed at those 

operations where performance is below our 

own expectations. 

Our financial position remains strong and the 

Group has ample capacity to fund both 

organic and acquisitive growth. We continue 

to see opportunities to expand our product 

and service offering, which bodes well for the 

Group going forward.

David Cleasby 

Group financial director

Economising on resources such as fuel, 

water, electricity, paper etc and on recycling 

has both environmental and bottom-line 

benefits and is in line with Bidvest’s 

integrated approach to business. Clear and 

comprehensive financial reporting is built into 

the Bidvest way of doing things. We commit 

to honesty and transparency at every level. 

Regular, accurate reporting is just one 

indication that we mean what we say.

Our 2012 annual integrated report again 

featured strongly in the awards programme 

run by the Investment Analysts Society of 

Southern Africa. Considerable resources are 

committed to the production of a meaningful 

annual integrated report and awards success 

is gratifying.

However, it is important to note that Bidvest 

does not regard corporate communications 

and investor relations as a once-a-year 

exercise. We engage continually with 

analysts, fund managers, the media, 

investors and other interest groups. 

Senior executives at Group and divisional 

level are expected to be accessible to 

stakeholders and to address relevant forums; 

not only when our half-yearly and annual 

results are released, but as an ongoing 

responsibility.

Significant transactions
Late in the year, the Competition 

Commission approved the takeover of  

Home of Living Brands Holdings Limited 

(HLB) formerly Amalgamated Appliances 

Holdings Limited by Bidvest without 

attaching any conditions to the transaction. 

The R538 million cash transaction was 

funded out of Bidvest’s internal resources. 

HLB delisted from the JSE on July 2 2013. 

Save for accounting for the Group’s share of 

associate earnings in 2013, the full benefit of 

the acquisition will be in 2014.
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Governance for a sustainable business

Summary of key material issues

Material issue Commentary Risks and opportunities

Remaining competitive and relevant Critical to the success of the Group is the 

ability of management to ensure their 

businesses remain relevant in rapidly 

evolving environments. 

Management need to be able to anticipate 

the impact of market change and respond 

timeously.

Increasingly complex business environment Globally, legislative developments 

increasingly create a more complex 

environment within which Bidvest must 

participate. Internationally, legislation within 

the competition, corruption and privacy 

domain are currently areas of focus.

Businesses are proactively addressing these 

changing requirements in their individual 

environments throughout the Group. This 

remains a core challenge and key focus and 

management is monitoring this progress 

through the divisional risk committees on an 

ongoing basis.

Threat of small talent pool and limited skilled 

resources

Continued efforts to identify, train and retain 

key talent within the business, as well as 

attracting external skilled resources are 

priority for management. In South Africa, 

B-BBEE regulation elevates this talent 

management risk even further due to small 

talent pool.

Successful career planning and promotion is 

already evident, as well as success stories of 

new management teams driving stronger 

performance. Management continue to be 

on the lookout for talent and identify skills 

from within the business to grow into new 

roles for the future. 

Fostering positive long-term relationships 

with key suppliers and customers

This remains a cornerstone of the way 

Bidvest does business. This continues to be 

recognised as Bidvest’s strength.

Management is constantly challenged on its 

ability to manage and grow these 

relationships.

Cost-effective IT systems and support 

structures

Bidvest has adapted its IT governance 

framework in order to support the effective 

and efficient management of information 

resources (eg people, technology and 

information) to facilitate the achievement of 

the organisation’s objectives. IT 

implementations are one of the highest 

potential risk processes undertaken by a 

business. 

Management remains closely involved and is 

increasingly supported by internal audit 

involvement with risk and audit committee’s 

oversight ensuring adherence to Group IT 

frameworks and guidelines.

Key material issues
The Group’s entrepreneurial spirit is 

evidenced by its rapid growth. This has been 

achieved by exploring new opportunities and 

taking calculated risks. Risk and opportunity 

are two ends of the same spectrum. In order 

to proactively respond to change and 

achieve growth, there is a strategic need to 

explore new opportunities and directions, 

while managing the attendant risks. The 

ability to maintain Bidvest’s distinctive culture 

of entrepreneurship and innovation, while 

simultaneously enhancing accountability and 

solid integrated performance, is critical to the 

Group’s future prosperity. 

The board is responsible for the total process 

of risk management. It sets the risk strategy, 

which is based on the need to identify, 

assess, manage and monitor all known forms 

of risk across the Group. Management  

is accountable through divisional risk 

committee delegations, for designing, 

implementing and monitoring the processes 

of risk management and integrating them 

into the day-to-day activities of the 

businesses. Managing risk is an integral part 

of generating sustainable shareholder value 

and increased stakeholder interest.

Bidvest’s decentralised structure forms the 

basis of the Group’s business continuity plan 

with each of the operations being self-

sufficient with regard to disaster recovery  

and management succession plans. The 

individual business units are sufficiently sized 

and independent of each other to eliminate 

Group-wide disaster risk. This decentralised 

risk-management approach delivers an 

effective, robust and integrated risk model. 

Another fundamental risk-management 

mechanism is the diversified Bidvest 

business model, making entrepreneurial 

managers accountable for all aspects of 

performance and delivery. 

Our 2013 key material issues are derived 

from the ongoing risk assessment conducted 

by the Group and divisional executives 

throughout the financial year. Issues are 

considered material when they may have  

a significant impact on the long-term 

sustainability of the Group or divisions.  

While other key issues are identified in  

the process, the table below shows only 

those that are considered material.

These issues are aligned with the focus areas 

of our chairperson and chief executive (see 

pages 16 and 17) and are further expanded 

upon in the operational reports.
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Governance for a sustainable business

At Bidvest, corporate governance is a way of 

life rather than a set of rules. Stakeholders 

can only derive full, sustained value from a 

business founded on honesty, integrity, 

accountability and transparency. Bidvest is 

committed to applying good corporate 

governance principles in a manner that 

complements its entrepreneurial flair. Bidvest 

believes in empowering people, building 

relationships and improving lives. 

Entrepreneurship, incentivisation, 

decentralised management and 

communication are the keys to delivering 

excellence and innovation in all our business 

dealings. 

Bidvest prizes simplicity. Better focus makes 

it easier to manage your business which is 

the key ingredient in understanding 

governance. Within each division of Bidvest 

there exists a subdivision level. Bidvest 

South Africa has 10 divisional CEs, each 

running substantial businesses, supported 

by their respective FDs. Within Bidvest 

Foodservice globally there are CEs and FDs 

appointed to run and manage geographically 

grouped businesses, so too within Bidvest 

Namibia. Each division within this overall 

structure has a divisionally central assurance 

team. Oversight of each division is achieved 

through a federal corporate governance 

structure consisting of quarterly divisional 

audit committees (independently chaired) 

and quarterly divisional risk committees, 

reporting in to the quarterly Group audit 

committee, Group risk committee and Group 

social and ethics committee. Each of these 

divisional committees addresses a pre-

agreed  

agenda and collates and reports back into 

the centre to ensure adequate focus 

throughout the Group.

A governance, risk and compliance 

framework continues to form the basis for 

how Bidvest manages the challenge of good 

governance in a decentralised environment. 

The framework shows the integration of four 

basic pillars, being governance, internal 

audit, risk management and regulatory 

compliance, driven by Group and divisional 

strategy, in compliance with legislated 

requirements and reported through the 

established independent structures.

Code of ethics
A prime duty of the board, its committees, 

directors, officers of the Group and 

managers is to ensure our code of conduct 

is honoured. In March 2012 the board 

annually reviews the code of ethics and 

taken the necessary steps to put in place a 

plan to meet these requirements. Rollout 

within the Group is at various stages of 

maturity, but continues to progress well.

Regulatory compliance
Bidvest recognises that its risk of non-

compliance stems from a weakness within 

the practical impact of implementation of the 

legislation on their business. Each company 

is required to identify key material areas of 

legislation that govern their environment. 

Each business is required to implement 

practical steps to ensure compliance within 

their environment and report this progress 

through divisional risk committees. 

Compliance remains a core focus of the 

board, which is ultimately responsible for 

ensuring that the Group identifies and 

complies with applicable laws. The board has 

placed the compliance of these Group-wide 

acts as well as industry and regional acts on 

the agenda of the Group risk committees 

where exposures have been identified and 

compliance is monitored. Bidvest is listed  

on the JSE Limited and as such annually 

confirms that the company complies with the 

Listings Requirements. During the year under 

review the Group did not receive any 

requests for access to information in terms of 

the Promotion of Access to Information Act.

Internal audit
The purpose, authority and responsibility of 

the internal audit function are defined in a 

board-approved charter that is consistent 

with the Institute of Internal Auditors’ 

definition of internal auditing, and the 

principles of King III. A risk-based internal 

audit methodology has been applied, with 

input from divisional management and 

aligned to the organisation’s risk 

management processes. The risk-based 

internal audit plans are presented annually to 

the audit committee for approval. The audit 

committee considers the objectives and 

rationale that drives the plan in order to 

achieve the objectives of internal audit 

processes. 

Internal audit continued to function 

independently and objectively throughout the 

Group in the past year. The internal audit 

manager within each division, as well as at 

Group level, reports functionally to the 

chairman of the respective audit committee. 

Unrestricted access to members of the audit 

committee and executives of the organisation 

is available to the internal audit function. In 

addition, regular separate meetings took 

ensures continued alignment of this code 

with the Bidvest values. The code demands 

highest standards of integrity, ethics and 

behaviour in all conduct and dealings; 

non-discriminatory employment and 

promotion practices; supporting employees 

through training and development to reach 

their full potential; and proactive engagement 

on environmental, social and sustainability 

matters.

As an outward measure of support and 

protection of this code and the Bidvest 

values, the board continues to support  

the process of confidential reporting  

(whistle blowing) of fraud, theft, breach of 

ethics and other risks. This is an outsourced 

independent and confidential system for 

stakeholders to report unethical, dishonest  

or improper behaviour, including non- 

compliance with company policies, as well as 

corruption and fraud. All reported incidents 

are investigated by management and, where 

appropriate, action is taken. In line with 

legislation, our well-communicated 

commitment not to victimise whistle blowers 

ensures transparency and promotes ethical 

conduct and the identity of whistle blowers  

is protected by the service provider. 

Corporate governance compliance
The Bidvest Group Limited is fully committed 

to the four values underpinning corporate 

governance – responsibility, accountability, 

fairness and transparency. The Group  

is committed to implementing the principles 

in King III and the best practice 

recommendations of the report. The board 

continues to update and monitor the gap 

analysis determining the extent to which 

Bidvest has applied the principles and 

recommended practices in King III. This 

analysis identified the actions taken to ensure 

application of the governance principles and 

those principles which will require ongoing 

attention and action. The analysis also 

identified areas of improvement or ways in 

which our governance practices could be 

enhanced. The Group corporate governance 

manual lists the charters, codes, policies and 

documents which have to be formulated by 

divisional governing bodies. In line with 

Bidvest’s decentralised structure divisional 

management have established additional 

policies and procedures as are specific to 

their governing structures. We confirm that 

the Group applies the King III governance 

principles and continues to further entrench 

and strengthen recommended practices 

throughout our governance structures, 

processes and procedures. The Group has 
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place between internal audit and the 

chairman of the divisional and Group audit 

committees during the year under review. 

Although not reliant on external auditors for 

any resource support, the internal audit 

function, in accordance with the Group’s 

combined assurance model, continues to 

liaise with the external auditors, and other 

assurance providers identified, to maximise 

efficiencies in assurance coverage on  

key risks. 

The effectiveness of the company’s system 

of internal controls and risk management, as 

well as the adequacy and availability of skills 

to address identified risks is assessed by the 

divisional audit committees and is reported 

up to the Group audit committee for approval 

and acceptance.

Based on the work carried out by internal 

audit during the year under review, controls 

evaluated were assessed as adequate and 

effective to provide a reasonable level of 

assurance that risks are being managed and 

that Group objectives should be met.

Board role and function
Executive directors implement strategies and 

operational decisions. Non-executive 

directors provide an independent perspective 

and complement the skills and experience of 

executive directors. They objectively assess 

strategy, budgets, performance, resources, 

transformation, diversity, employment equity 

and standards of conduct. They also 

contribute to strategy formulation and 

decision making. Collectively, the board 

believes the current mix of knowledge, skill 

and experience meets the requirements to 

lead Bidvest effectively. The board functions 

in accordance with the requirements of King 

III and within the context of the Companies 

Act, the Listings Requirements of the JSE 

Limited and other applicable laws, rules and 

codes of governance.

The main responsibilities of the board, as set 

out in the board charter, are: 

 managing its relationship with 

management, the shareholders and other 

stakeholders of the company along sound 

corporate governance principles, while 

providing effective leadership on an ethical 

foundation;

 to contribute and approve the Group 

strategy, while aligning the strategy with 

the Group risks and business plans as 

assessed by management;

 appointing the independent, non-executive 

chairperson and chief executive and 

maintaining a succession plan; and

 appointing directors, subject to election 

and evaluating performance of the 

directors to ensure overall governance 

structure and policies ensure the integrity 

of the Group’s management of risk, internal 

financial control and internal control.

The board charter, which is reviewed annually 

expresses the board’s commitment to 

meeting the above responsibilities. While 

retaining overall accountability the board has 

spread the burden of responsibility down into 

the divisional structures where divisional 

committees exist that are able to focus on 

the needs and strategies within the division 

itself. Each division has its own audit 

committee and risk committee operating 

under the delegated authority of the Group 

board committees. This is consolidated and 

reported to a Group level where the board is 

able to focus on the high-risk and high-

impact areas.

The board has six Group committees that 

assist in discharging its responsibilities. 

These Group committees, listed below, play 

an important role in enhancing good 

corporate governance and monitoring and 

reporting on internal control environments in 

order to give assurance to the positive 

performance of the company: 

1. Acquisitions committee

2. Audit committee

3. Nominations committee

4. Remuneration committee

5. Risk committee

6.  Social and ethics committee

Each board committee acts according to the 

annually reviewed and board-approved terms 

of reference. Copies of board charters are 

available at:

Board committees may take independent 

professional advice at the company’s 

expense. The committees are subject to 

annual evaluation by the board on 

performance and effectiveness. Chairmen of 

the board committees are required to attend 

annual general meetings to engage as 

required with shareholders.

Membership and attendance is detailed in 

the directors’ report and various 

subcommittee reports.

QUICK LINK: Directors’ report 

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/010.php

QUICK LINK: Committee reports

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/011.php

QUICK LINK: Board charters

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/012.php

QUICK LINK: Directors’ report

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/013.php

QUICK LINK: Committee reports

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/014.php

Board and board committees’ 
performance assessment

Annually, the performance of the board as  

a whole and the board committees are 

individually appraised. The newly appointed 

board will conduct a limited annual board 

self-assessment review for 2013 with a 

detailed review scheduled for 2014, allowing 

the new board members time to settle into 

their new roles. Internal feedback from the 

board has indicated that they are satisfied 

with their new roles and the level of induction 

received to date. No major issues were 

raised.

Independence of non-executive 
directors
The board comprises a majority of 

independent non-executive directors. The 

board considered the issue of independence 

of directors, evaluating the rationale and 

meaning of the requirements of 

independence according to King III. An 

assessment, considering the salient factors 

and unique circumstances of each director, 

was performed for each non-executive 

director. Furthermore, the independence of 

non-executives who have served on the 

board for longer than nine years was 

assessed.

Conflict of interest
The board recognises the importance of 

acting in the best interest of the company 

and protecting the legitimate interests and 

expectations of its stakeholders. The board 

consistently applies the provisions of the 

Companies Act in disclosing or avoiding 

conflicts of interest. Directors are required  

to declare their interests quarterly.

Statutory powers
Section 66(1) of the Companies Act provides 

that the business and affairs of a company 

must be managed by or under the direction 

of its board. General powers of the directors 

are set out in the company’s Memorandum 

of Incorporation.

Insider trading
No employee, his/her nominee or members 

of his/her immediate family may deal directly 

or indirectly, at any time, in the securities of 

the company on the basis of unpublished 

price-sensitive information. No director or 

officer may deal in the securities of the 

company during the embargo period 

determined by the board.
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Governance for a sustainable business

Company secretary
Mr CA Brighten is the Group company 

secretary, duly appointed by the board in 

accordance with the Companies Act. The 

company secretary and his team (the 

“Secretariat”) are trusted advisers to the 

board on compliance and governance 

matters. The Secretariat aims to provide 

King III journey
Bidvest remains committed to ensuring compliance with the principles as set out in King III, acknowledging however, that this process is a 

journey, and requires ongoing monitoring and commitment. The table below sets out a summary of the milestones achieved and the continued 

areas of focus within the group.

King III principle Status update Areas of focus

1.  Ethical leadership 
and corporate 
citizenship

 King III principles have been successfully applied 

within ethical leadership and corporate citizenship.

 Ethics and fraud hotline is operational, managed 

by an independent third party supporting the 

values and principles stated in code of ethics.

 Group social and ethics committee monitors 

compliance with and adherence to the Code of 

Ethics and general ethical business practices.

 Ethical business practices are a mandatory business 

practice within Bidvest, and any non-adherence to 

this policy is encouraged to be reported directly to top 

management.

 The fraud and ethics hotline marketing continues to 

raise awareness of this tool. 

 The output and findings of this tool are reported to 

the social and ethics committee quarterly.

2.  Boards and directors  King III principles have been successfully applied 

with regards to the board composition, board role 

and duties, and the fiduciary duties of the board.

 Principles relating to performance assessments 

have been applied and continue to develop as 

more stringent performance measuring processes 

are adopted.

 The remuneration policy has been approved and 

adopted, with King III principles being applied.

 Bidvest has recently reviewed and made changes to 

the composition of the board, including appointing a 

new Chairperson, independent non-executive director 

Lorato Phalatse.

 Bidvest performs an annual independently managed 

board self assessment process to ensure optimised 

board performance.

3.  Audit committees  King III principles have been successfully applied 

with regards to audit committees.

 Bidvest has a Group audit committee structure, that 

adheres to the requirements of King III good 

governance principles, and has a divisional audit 

committee structure which supports the Group 

committee in the performance of its duties.

4.  The governance  
of risk

 King III principles have been successfully applied 

with regards to the governance of risk.

 Policies and charters have been adopted. 

Management takes direct ownership and 

responsibility for determining, managing, 

mitigating and reporting risk to the Group risk 

committee.

 Each division assesses the materiality of the  

risks identified in their division, and summarise 

management’s activities in managing, mitigating  

and monitoring each of these key risks on an ongoing 

basis.

5.  The governance of 
information 
technology

 King III principles have been successfully 

implemented and rolled out through the Group.

 An IT governance framework has been adopted, 

with best practice principles as the basis of the 

framework.

 The decentralised, bottom-up approach is 

adopted, with each management team reviewing 

its IT governance principles and policies against 

the Group framework.

 Bidvest has determined the minimum standards each 

division has to implement within their IT environments.

 The internal audit team has focused significantly on 

the review and improvement of the IT control 

environment, with positive results to date.

guidance to directors as individuals and as  

a collective, with particular emphasis on 

supporting the non-executive directors. The 

Secretariat also aims to provide the highest 

standard of compliance with the statutory 

and regulatory requirements within its remit 

and ensures that due regard is paid to the 

interests of shareholders.

External audit
Deloitte & Touche are the Group’s lead 

auditors and Bidvest South Africa’s divisional 

auditors, with KPMG auditing the Bidvest 

Foodservice division. The audit committee 

has confirmed the continuing independence 

and objectivity of external auditors.
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King III principle Status update Areas of focus

6.  Compliance with 
laws, rules, codes 
and standards

 King III principles have been applied.

 The social and ethics committee has regulatory 

compliance as a standard agenda item, with each 

management team identifying the regulatory 

universe within which the specific entity operates.

 Group identifies global updates relevant to the 

whole Group and supports an education process 

and support role of addressing these 

requirements.

 Bidvest has invested in an online training environment 

to ensure that all key management team members 

have the required training and working knowledge  

of recent legislation identified by Group as a key  

risk area.

 Each management team has been requested to 

identify key members of their team who would need 

to be annually accredited in these laws.

 This is an ongoing process that as legislation 

develops so too will the supporting training and 

accreditation requirements.

7.  Internal audit  King III principles have been successfully applied 

with regards to internal audit.

 Internal audit supports the audit committee in 

advising on the current state of internal control, 

internal financial control and risk management.

 Internal audit adopts a risk-based audit approach, 

with exposure to the risk management process 

throughout the Group.

 The Group audit committee requests that internal 

audit teams provide an opinion regarding the state of 

risk management, internal control and internal 

financial control within each business that is included 

in their scope of review.

 This is an ongoing process of assessment, reporting 

and monitoring throughout the Group.

8.  Governing 
stakeholder 
relationships

 King III principles have been applied with regards 

to stakeholder relationships.

 Management teams are required to identify key 

stakeholder groups and report to the social and 

ethics committee the communication processes in 

place to monitor and strengthen these 

relationships.

 Success stories are identified and communicated 

within the Group, where learnings from these 

experiences are shared and rolled out to other entities 

in the Group. The benefit of the diversity and size of 

the Bidvest Group allows us to learn and support 

divisions and businesses from within the Group.

9.  Integrated reporting 
and disclosure

 King III principles have been successfully applied 

with regards to the reporting process.

 Successful use has been made of various 

mediums to produce transparent reporting.

 Bidvest continues to be acknowledged for their 

successful reporting.

 Bidvest has successfully created an annual integrated 

report, in line with the recommendations of the 

Integrated Reporting Committee of South Africa  

and building on this success will strive to improve  

the reporting in the current year.

Transformation
We have come a long way in our 

transformation journey. Bidvest has 

progressed steadily over the last 10 years, 

instilling the principles of transformation as a 

central component of our culture. What was 

traditionally an element of our compliance 

obligations has evolved into a key aspect of 

our business. 

Recently we have experienced challenges 

relating to inconsistencies in different pieces 

of B-BBEE legislation and the varying 

requirements of our customers. These 

inconsistencies, coupled with a lack of 

knowledge and understanding of commercial 

realities by key stakeholders, complicate the 

task of doing business in some sectors of the 

economy.

Revised Codes of Good Practice are 

scheduled to be gazetted before December 

2013, though businesses are still unclear 

about some of the proposed changes.

Our businesses remain committed to 

transformation and have put in place specific 

plans to achieve their respective goals. 

Employment equity is our biggest challenge. 

This is a priority and point of focus over the 

medium to long term and is firmly supported 

by ongoing investment in training and 

development.

Bidvest will continue along the path to 

transformation and will entrench the gains 

made over the years. B-BBEE is a reality and 

a prerequisite for commercial success in 

South Africa. In many ways it is changing the 

way we do business.

Adapting to the needs of a dynamic business 

environment is the basis for growth and 

sustainability. Flexibility like this has always 

been core competence at Bidvest. 

QUICK LINK: BEE information

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/015.php

Stakeholder engagement
Bidvest is a strong proponent of 

transparency, best-practice disclosure, 

consistent communication and equal and 

timely dissemination of information to all 

stakeholders. Because Bidvest’s structure is 

diversified and decentralised, stakeholder 

engagement happens at a Group, divisional 

and company level. An operation engages 

with stakeholders considered important to  

its operations or that may be significantly 

impacted by its business activities, which 

helps identify many of the important 

commercial and sustainable development 

issues facing shareholders and Bidvest 

operations. This process forms a major 

source of input for the divisional sustainability 

reports in this annual integrated report as 

well as the more detailed reports on our 

website.

The Group’s website contains a range of 

stakeholder-related information and 

materials, including an update on the Group’s 

activities, copies of all presentation materials 

given to investors and further explanation of 

matters contained in the annual integrated 

report. The annual general meeting is 

normally attended by all directors. 

Shareholders are encouraged to attend and 

to engage the company during the meeting.

QUICK LINK: Stakeholder matrix

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/016.php
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Value added statement

South African Foreign

including amounts collected on their behalf

2013
 R’000 

2012

 R’000 

2013
 R’000 

2012

 R’000 

Employee taxes  1 441 138  1 290 958  2 084 983  1 684 235 

Company taxes  1 151 932  1 056 534  631 850  638 924 

Value added tax and sales tax  7 757 009  5 609 948  672 792  463 012 

Customs and excise duty  8 921 401  10 887 400  937 583  1 007 826 

Other  123 398  94 253  208 401  182 521 

 19 394 878  18 939 093  4 535 609  3 976 518 

Exchanges with governments

“Value added” is the value which the Group has added to purchased materials and goods by process of manufacture and conversion, and 

the sale of its products and services. This statement shows how the value so added has been distributed.

2013 2012

R’000 % R’000 %

Revenue  153 404 532 133 533 633 

Net cost of raw materials, goods and services (124 890 730)  (107 801 463)

Wealth created by trading operations  28 513 802 25 732 170 

Finance income 231 567 147 034 

Profit on partial disposal of investment in  

 Mumbai International Airport Private Limited –  399 100 

Dividend income 94 412 71 482 

Total wealth created 28 839 781 100,0 26 349 786 100,0

Distributed as follows

Employees

 Benefits and remuneration 16 653 688 57,7 14 999 794 56,9

Governments

 Current taxation 1 783 782 6,2 1 695 458 6,4

Providers of capital 3 140 060 10,9 2 952 797 11,2

 Finance charges 912 930 3,2 890 029 3,4

 Dividends to shareholders 2 227 130 7,7 2 062 768 7,8

Retained for growth 7 262 251 25,2 6 701 737 25,5

 Depreciation and amortisation 2 097 264 7,3 2 001 864 7,6

 Impairments 392 555 1,4 256 971 1,0

 Profit for the year attributable to shareholders  

  of the company 4 772 432 16,5 4 442 902 16,9

28 839 781 100,0 26 349 786 100,0

Employees

Governments

Providers of capital

Retained for growth

57,7%

6,2%

10,9%

25,2%

56,9%

6,4%

11,2%

25,5%

20122013
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Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

To the shareholders of The Bidvest Group Limited

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards, the interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board and the 

requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

The directors’ responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of these financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 

appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The directors’ responsibility also includes maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk management.

The directors have made an assessment of the Group’s and company’s ability to continue as a going concern and there is no reason to 

believe that the Group and company will not be going concerns in the year ahead.

The auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are fairly presented in accordance 

with the applicable financial reporting framework.

The consolidated and separate financial statements of the company as identified in the first paragraph, were approved by the board of 

directors and are signed on its behalf by:

   

Lorato Phalatse  Brian Joffe David Cleasby

Chairperson Chief executive Group financial director

August 24 2013

Declaration by company secretary 
In my capacity as company secretary, I hereby confirm, in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act of South Africa, that for the year 

ended June 30 2013, the company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies, all such returns as are required in terms of this Act and that 

all such returns are true, correct and up to date. 

Craig Brighten

Company secretary

August 24 2013

Preparer of financial statements
The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared under the supervision of Neil Goodwin CA(SA) – Group financial 

manager.
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Independent auditors’ report

To the shareholders of The Bidvest Group Limited

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of The Bidvest Group Limited set out on pages 4 to 6 and  

75 to 154, which comprise the statements of financial position as at June 30 2013 and the income statements, the statements  

of other comprehensive income, the statements of changes in equity and the statements of cash flows for the year then ended and  

the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

 

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial statements  

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such 

internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are free from 

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 

procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 

financial position of The Bidvest Group Limited as at June 30 2013 and its consolidated and separate financial performance and its 

consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 

requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Other reports required by the Companies Act
As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended June 30 2013, we have read the directors’ 

report, the audit committee’s report and the company secretary’s certificate for the purpose of identifying whether there are material 

inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. These reports are the responsibility 

of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified material inconsistencies between these reports and the 

audited consolidated and separate financial statements. However, we have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express an 

opinion on these reports.

Deloitte & Touche

Registered auditors

Per Trevor J Brown

Partner

August 24 2013
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Audit committee report

This is the report of the audit committee (committee) of The Bidvest Group Limited appointed for the financial year ended June 30 2013 in 

compliance with the Companies Act and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.

The committee has a charter that complies with the Companies Act and King III requirements and is approved by the board of directors 

(board). Copies are available either from the company secretary on request, or can be downloaded from the company’s website.

Membership
The shareholders appointed the committee for the 2013 financial year at the annual general meeting in November 2012 and will be 

requested to approve the appointment of the chairman and members to the committee for the 2014 financial year at the annual general 

meeting scheduled for November 25 2013.

The committee consists solely of independent non-executive directors who are all financially literate.

The current members are NG Payne (chairman), PC Baloyi, EK Diack and D Masson. Permanent advisory services are provided to the 

committee by RW Graham.

Purpose
The purpose of the committee, which in certain instances operates in conjunction with the risk committee and social and ethics committee, 

is to:

 assist the board in discharging its duties relating to the safeguarding of assets, the operation of adequate systems, control and reporting 

processes, and the preparation of accurate reporting and financial statements in compliance with the applicable legal requirements and 

accounting standards;

 oversee the activities of, and to ensure coordination between, the activities of internal and external audit;

 provide a forum for discussing financial, enterprise-wide, market, regulatory, safety and other risks and control issues; and to monitor 

controls designed to minimise these risks;

 review the company’s annual integrated report, including the consolidated and separate annual financial statements, as well as its interim 

report and any other public reports or announcements containing financial information;

 receive and deal with any complaints concerning the accounting practices, internal and external audit or the content and audit of its 

financial statements or related matters; and

 annually review the committee’s work and charter to make recommendations to the board to ensure its effectiveness.

Duties carried out
The committee has performed its duties and responsibilities during the financial year according to its charter.

Financial statements
The committee:

 confirmed, based on management’s review, that the interim and annual financial statements were prepared on the going concern basis;

 examined the interim and annual financial statements and other financial information made public, prior to their approval by the board;

 considered accounting treatments, significant or unusual transactions and accounting judgements;

 considered the appropriateness of accounting policies and any changes made thereto;

 reviewed the representation letter relating to the annual financial statements and the ISAE 3240 reasonable assurance opinion in respect 

of the preliminary announcement, signed by management;

 considered any problems identified as well as any legal and tax matters that could materially affect the financial statements; and

 met separately with management, external audit and internal audit and satisfied themselves that no material control weakness exists.
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Audit committee report

External audit
The committee:

 nominated Deloitte & Touche as auditors and TJ Brown as the independent auditor and designated audit partner, respectively to the 

shareholders for appointment for the financial year ended June 30 2013, of the Group and company, and ensured that the appointments 

complied with legal and regulatory requirements for the appointment of an auditor;

 approved the external audit engagement letter, the audit plan and the budgeted audit fees payable to the external auditors;

 determined the nature and extent of all non-audit services provided by the independent auditors and pre-approved all non-audit services 

undertaken;

 obtained assurances from the independent auditors that adequate accounting records were being maintained;

 confirmed that no reportable irregularities had been identified or reported by the independent auditors under the Auditing Profession  

Act; and

 nominated the external auditors and the designated audit partner for each of Bidvest’s divisions or subsidiary companies.

Independence of external auditors
The committee is satisfied that Deloitte & Touche is independent of the Group and company after taking the following factors into account:

 representations made by Deloitte & Touche to the committee;

 the auditors do not, except as external auditors or in rendering permitted non-audit services, receive any remuneration or other benefit 

from the Group;

 the auditors’ independence was not impaired by any consultancy, advisory or other work undertaken;

 the auditors’ independence was not prejudiced as a result of any previous appointment as auditors; and

 the criteria specified for independence by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors and international regulatory bodies.

Internal control and internal audit
The committee:

 reviewed and approved the annual internal audit plans and evaluated the independence, effectiveness and performance of the internal 

audit function;

 considered the reports of the internal auditors on the Group’s systems of internal control including financial controls, business risk 

management and maintenance of effective internal control systems;

 received assurances that proper accounting records were maintained and that the systems safeguarded the Group’s assets against 

unauthorised use or disposal;

 reviewed issues raised by internal audit and the adequacy of corrective action taken by management in response thereto;

 assessed the adequacy of the performance of the internal audit function and found it satisfactory; and

 concluded that there were no material breakdowns in internal control.

Risk management and legal requirements
The committee:

 reviewed the Group’s policies on risk management, including information technology risks and found them to be sound;

 reviewed with management legal matters that could have a material impact on the Group;

 reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s procedures to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory responsibilities; and

 considered reports provided by management, internal assurance providers and the independent auditors regarding compliance with legal 

and regulatory requirements.

Combined assurance
The committee reviewed the plans and reports of the external and internal auditors and other assurance providers including management 

and concluded that these were adequate to address all significant financial risks facing the business.
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Financial director and finance function
The committee:

 considered the appropriateness of the experience and expertise of the Group financial director and concluded that this was  

appropriate; and

 considered the expertise, resources and experience of the finance function and concluded that these were appropriate.

Attendance 
The names of the members who were in office during the period August 25 2012 to August 24 2013 and the details of audit committee 

meetings attended by each of the members are:

Director
November 22

2012
February 27

2013
May 27

2013
August 19

2013
August 22

2013

NG Payne (Chairman) ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

PC Baloyi ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

EK Diack ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

D Masson ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

JL Pamensky* ^

^ Attended in person, by video-conference or tele-conference.

*  Retired November 26 2012.

Annual financial statements
Following the review by the committee of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements of The Bidvest Group Limited for  

the year ended June 30 2013, the committee is of the view that, in all material respects, it complies with the relevant provisions of the 

Companies Act and IFRS and fairly presents the financial position at that date and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year.  

In conjunction with the risk committee and social and ethics committee, the committee has also satisfied itself as to the integrity of the 

remainder of the annual integrated report.

Having achieved its objectives for the financial year, the committee recommended the consolidated and separate annual financial statements 

and annual integrated report for the year ended June 30 2013 for approval to the board.

Signed on behalf of the audit committee by:

Nigel Payne

Chairman
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Acquisitions committee report

This is the report of the acquisitions committee (committee) of The Bidvest Group Limited appointed for the financial year ended  

June 30 2013 in compliance with the Companies Act and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.

The committee has a charter that complies with the Companies Act and King III requirements and is approved by the board of directors 

(board). Copies are available either from the company secretary on request, or can be downloaded from the company website.

Membership
The committee is appointed by the board and is made up of the following members: Messrs DDB Band (chairman), BL Berson, DE Cleasby, 

EK Diack, B Joffe, D Masson and LP Ralphs, in line with the charter requirements. The board considers the membership of the committee 

adequate and the members are adequately experienced to perform the duties in line with the charter requirements. 

 

Purpose
The primary purpose of the acquisition committee is to:

 review any significant acquisition for an in-principle decision as to whether the acquisition should be investigated and pursued; 

 recommend to the board planned acquisitions that have been approved to be in the best interests of the shareholders and to the future 

growth of the group; and

 inform the board of acquisitions that they do not recommend be considered.

Duties carried out
The committee met on five occasions during the financial year to consider and recommend to the board a number of potential acquisitions.

Attendance
The names of the members who were in office during the period August 25 2012 to August 24 2013 and the number of acquisition 

committee meetings attended by each of the members are: 

Director
October 10

2012
November 23

2012
March 15

2013
April 26

2013
August 6

2013

DDB Band (Chairman) ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

BL Berson ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

DE Cleasby ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

EK Diack*‡

^ ^ ^

B Joffe ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

D Masson ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

JL Pamensky** ^

LP Ralphs ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

^ Attended in person, by video-conference or tele-conference.

* Appointed March 1 2013.

** Retired November 26 2012.
‡
 In respect of certain acquisitions considered by the committee, EK Diack recused himself where he was conflicted.

Conclusion
The committee has performed its duties and responsibilities during the financial year according to its charter.

Signed on behalf of the acquisitions committee by:

Doug Band

Chairman
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Nominations committee report

This is the report of the nominations committee (committee) of The Bidvest Group Limited appointed for the financial year ended  

June 30 2013 in compliance with the Companies Act and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.

The committee has a charter that complies with the Companies Act and King III requirements and is approved by the board of directors 

(board). Copies are available either from the company secretary on request, or can be downloaded from the company website.

Membership
The committee comprises three independent non-executive directors: Messrs DDB Band (chairman), CWL Phalatse and Ms T Slabbert  

and the chief executive officer, Mr B Joffe.

Purpose
The key responsibilities and role of the committee include but are not limited to:

 establishment of formal process for appointment of directors;

 identification of suitable directors in succession planning for senior appointments;

 ongoing training, development and updates of changing requirements in legislation and board roles necessary for the directors to 

satisfactorily perform their roles;

 evaluation of the independence of the long-serving independent non-executive directors;

 performance evaluations of existing directors; and 

 recommendations to shareholders for annual re-election of those directors retiring by rotation, annual appointment of audit committee 

members and other committee memberships as required.

Duties carried out
The role performed by the committee this financial year has been to ensure:

 that the board has the appropriate composition to execute its duties effectively;

 a rigorous and transparent procedure, any new appointment of a director is considered by the board as a whole, on the recommendation 

of the nominations committee;

 the selection process involves considering the existing balance of skills and experience, the balance of executive to non-executive and 

independent to non-independent directors, racial and gender demographics and the current needs of the organisation as a whole;

 for those new appointments an induction process is conducted and ongoing training and development of the directors is conducted; and

 a formal succession plan is developed for the board, chief executive officer and senior management appointments.

 The board effectiveness is assessed through a further board evaluation process.

Attendance 
The names of the members who were in office during the period August 25 2012 to August 24 2013 and the details of nominations 

committee meetings attended by each of the members are: 

Director
August 21 

2013

DDB Band (Chairman) ^

B Joffe ^

T Slabbert ^

CWL Phalatse ^

^ Attended in person, by video-conference or tele-conference.

Conclusion
Following the review by the committee for the year ended June 30 2013, the committee is of the view that, in all material respects, the 

committee has achieved its objectives for the financial year being the year ended June 30 2013.

Signed on behalf of the nominations committee by:

Doug Band

Chairman
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Remuneration committee report

This is the report of the remuneration committee (committee) of The Bidvest Group Limited appointed for the financial year ended  

June 30 2013 in compliance with the Companies Act and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.

The committee has a charter that complies with the Companies Act and King III requirements and is approved by the board of directors 

(board). Copies are available either from the company secretary on request, or can be downloaded from the company website.

Membership
The committee comprises three independent non-executive directors: Messrs DDB Band (chairman), D Masson and AK Maditsi. The chief 

executive officer and other members of senior management may be invited to attend meetings, but may not participate in the vote process 

of the remuneration committee and recuse themselves from any discussion regarding their performance or remuneration. The committee 

utilises the services of PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC) as independent advisers on an ad hoc basis. 

Purpose
The key responsibilities and role of the committee include but are not limited to:

 assisting the board to ensure directors and executives are fairly and responsibly remunerated, and disclosure thereof is complete and 

transparent;

 review management’s proposals for fees for non-executive directors prior to submission to shareholders for approval;

 determining necessary criteria for performance assessment of the chief executive officer, financial director and other executive directors in 

discharging their functions and responsibilities;

 considering the allocation of long-term incentives to directors and staff; and

 overseeing and recommending the remuneration report to the board for publication.

Duties carried out
The remuneration philosophy promotes the Group’s entrepreneurial culture within a decentralised environment with the aim of achieving 

sustainable growth within all businesses. The philosophy emphasises the fundamental value of Bidvest’s people and their role in attaining 

this objective.

Delivery-specific short-term incentives are viewed as strong drivers of performance. A significant portion of top management’s reward is 

variable and is determined by the achievement of realistic profit targets together with an individual’s personal contribution to the growth and 

development of their immediate business and the wider Group. Long-term incentives align the objectives of management and shareholders 

for a sustained period.

Attendance
The names of the members who were in office during the period August 25 2012 to August 24 2013 and the details of remuneration 

committee meetings attended by each of the members are: 

Director
October 10

2012
May 8
2013

August 21
2013

DDB Band (Chairman) ^ ^ ^

AK Maditsi* ^ ^

D Masson ^ ^ ^

JL Pamensky** ^

^ Attended in person, by video-conference or tele-conference.

* Appointed March 1 2013.

** Retired November 26 2012.

Conclusion
Following the review by the committee for the year ended June 30 2013, the committee is of the view that, in all material respects, the 

committee has complied with the relevant requirements.

Having achieved its objectives for the financial year, the remuneration committee sets out the remuneration disclosure as part of the 

directors’ report. Refer to the full remuneration report on our website.

Signed on behalf of the remuneration committee by:

Doug Band

Chairman
QUICK LINK: Remuneration report

http://www.bidvest.com/ar/bidvest_ar2013/017.php
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Social and ethics committee report

This is the report of the social and ethics committee (committee) of The Bidvest Group Limited appointed for the financial year ended  

June 30 2013 in compliance with the Companies Act and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.

The committee has a charter that complies with the Companies Act and King III requirements and is approved by the board of directors 

(board). Copies are available either from the company secretary on request, or can be downloaded from the company website.

Membership
The committee comprises Messrs NG Payne (chairman: independent non-executive director), CWL Phalatse (independent non-executive 

chairperson of the board) and Ms T Slabbert (independent non-executive director), and Messrs B Joffe, BL Berson, DE Cleasby and  

LP Ralphs (executive directors).

Purpose
Responsibilities of this committee are in line with the legislated requirements. The key areas of responsibility are as listed below:

 Social and economic development  Empowerment and transformation

 Corporate citizenship  Labour and employment

 Environment, health and public safety  Ethics and code of conduct compliance

 Stakeholder relations  Regulatory, statutory and legislative compliance

Duties carried out
Progress can only be credibly reported if indicators are identified, monitored, measured and recorded. Within Bidvest’s sustainability 

performance a major focus going forward will be to monitor the performance of each division against their individually determined targets for 

sustainability performance, meeting Group-wide requirements and specific industry requirements. 

The committee monitored the Group’s initiatives to promote diversity and advance the objectives of non-discrimination. Each division has an 

appointed transformation executive, who along with the CEO of each division retains ultimate responsibility for transformation in their 

respective businesses.

The executive responsible for transformation attends the committee meetings by invitation, presenting the progress of the South African 

companies against the B-BBEE scorecard. 

The Group Code of Conduct’s compliance is monitored through the whistle-blowing facility, the details of calls and follow-up action of which 

is presented to this committee for consideration. The committee monitored compliance to the Group Code of Conduct, the results of which 

are reported quarterly to the board.

Attendance
The names of the members who were in office during the period August 25 2012 to August 24 2013 and the number of social and ethics 

committee meetings attended by each of the members are:

Director
November 21

2012
February 25

2013
May 28

2013
August 15

2013

NG Payne (Chairman) ^ ^ ^ ^

BL Berson ^ ^ A A

DE Cleasby ^ ^ ^ ^

B Joffe A A A ^

CWL Phalatse* ^ ^

LP Ralphs ^ ^ ^ ^

D Masson** ^ ^

T Slabbert ^ ^ ^ A

^ Attended in person, by video-conference or tele-conference. * Appointed March 1 2013.

A Apologies tendered. ** Retired March 1 2013.

Conclusion
Following the review by the committee for the year ended June 30 2013, the committee is of the view that, in all material respects, the 

committee has achieved its objectives for the financial year ended June 30 2013. There were no items reported on that would indicate 

non-compliance to the requirements of the social and ethics committee as required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended. 

Signed on behalf of the social and ethics committee by:

Nigel Payne

Chairman
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Risk committee report

This is the report of the risk committee (committee) of The Bidvest Group Limited appointed for the financial year ended June 30 2013 in 

compliance with the Companies Act and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.

The committee has a charter that complies with the Companies Act and King III requirements and is approved by the board of directors 

(board). Copies are available either from the company secretary on request, or can be downloaded from the company website.

Membership
The committee comprises seven directors namely Messrs NG Payne (chairman: an independent non-executive director), CWL Phalatse 

(independent non-executive chairperson of the board) and Ms T Slabbert (independent non-executive director), and Messrs B Joffe,  

BL Berson, DE Cleasby and LP Ralphs (executive directors).

Purpose
We have integrated King III recommendations, and these along with identified Group requirements make up the overall function of the 

committee being:

 setting out a formal policy and plan for the management of risks;

 reviewing and assessing the integrity and effectiveness of the risk management process annually;

 considering annually the consolidated risk assessment results and determining trends, common areas of concern, emerging risks, and  

the most significant risks for reporting to the board;

 monitoring and reviewing changes in stakeholders’ expectations, corporate governance codes and best practice guidelines relating to  

risk issues;

 reviewing and approving the insurance renewal programme; and

 assisting the board with activities relating to the governance of information technology.

Duties carried out
The committee assists the board in recognising all material risks to which the Group is exposed and ensuring that the requisite risk 

management culture, policies and systems are progressively implemented and functioning effectively. Management is accountable to the 

board for implementing and monitoring the processes of risk management and integrating this into day-to-day activities. Divisional risk 

committees and risk registers are established and these are communicated to a Group risk level.

An ongoing enterprise-wide risk assessment process supports the Group philosophy. This ensures risks and opportunities are adequately 

identified, evaluated and managed at the appropriate level in each division, and that their individual and joint impact on the Group is 

considered. The internal auditors assist in evaluating the effectiveness of the risk management process and comment on this in their own 

assessment reports. 

Attendance 
The names of the members who were in office during the period August 25 2012 to August 24 2013 and the details of the risk committee 

meetings attended by each of the members are: 

Director
November 21

2012
February 25

2013
May 28

2013
August 15

2013

NG Payne (Chairman) ^ ^ ^ ^

BL Berson ^ ^ A A

DE Cleasby ^ ^ ^ ^

B Joffe A A A ^

CWL Phalatse* ^ ^

LP Ralphs ^ ^ ^ ^

D Masson** ^ ^

T Slabbert ^ ^ ^ A

^ Attended in person, by video-conference or tele-conference. * Appointed March 1 2013.

A Apologies tendered. ** Retired March 1 2013.

Conclusion
The committee has performed its duties and responsibilities during the financial year according to its charter for the year ended  

June 30 2013, and has presented the Group key risk summary within the annual integrated report.

Signed on behalf of the risk committee by:

Nigel Payne

Chairman
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The directors have pleasure in presenting their report for the year ended June 30 2013.

Nature of business
The company is an investment holding company with subsidiaries operating in the services, trading and distribution industries. 

Financial reporting
The directors are required by the Companies Act No 71 of 2008, as amended (the Act), to produce financial statements, which fairly present 

the state of affairs of the company and the Group as at the end of the financial year and the profit or loss for that financial year, in conformity 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Act. 

The financial statements as set out in this report have been prepared by management in accordance with IFRS and the Act and are based 

on appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors are of the opinion that the financial statements fairly present the financial position of the company and of the Group as at  

June 30 2013 and the results of their operations and cash flows for the year then ended.

The directors are satisfied that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 

Accordingly, the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Share capital
No shares were issued during the year under review (2012: 386 357).

Acquisitions and disposals
The Group undertook a number of smaller acquisitions during the year. Details of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are contained in 

note 11 to these financial statements.

Subsequent events
With effect from July 1 2013 the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Home of Living Brands Holdings Limited (formerly 

Amalgamated Appliance Holdings Limited) that it did not already own, for a consideration of R532 million (refer note 40).

Results of operations
The results of operations are dealt with in the consolidated income statement, segmental analysis and commentary.

Movement in treasury shares
In terms of general authorities granted to the company to repurchase its ordinary shares, the latest being shareholder authority obtained  

at the annual general meeting of shareholders held on November 26 2012, a maximum of 65 546 986 ordinary shares may be acquired  

by the company of which 32 773 493 may be acquired by its subsidiaries.

A total of 1 043 213 ordinary shares were disposed of at an average price of R85,29 per share in settlement of share options exercised  

by staff.
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Dividends
An interim gross cash dividend of 324,0 cents per share (2012: 280,0 cents per share) was declared by the directors to those members 

registered on the record date, being Thursday, March 28 2013.

Subsequent to year-end, a final cash dividend of 396,0 cents per share (2012: 342,0 cents per share) was declared by the directors to 

members register on the record date, being September 20 2013. The salient dates are:

Distribution dates:

Last day to trade cum-distribution  Friday, September 13 2013

Trading ex-distribution commences  Monday, September 16 2013

Record date  Friday, September 20 2013

Payment date  Monday, September 23 2013

Payments to shareholders
Approval was obtained at the last annual general meeting for the company to make payments which would reduce its share capital, share 

premium, and/or reserves in terms of the Act. 

Special resolutions
Special resolutions were passed at the annual general meeting of shareholders held on Monday, November 26 2012 in regard to a general 

authority to enable the company to acquire its own shares, approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration for the 2013 financial year, 

general authority to provide financial assistance to related or inter-related companies and corporations in terms of sections 44 and 45 of the 

Companies Act No 71 of 2008, as amended and the adoption of the new memorandum of incorporation (MoI). 

Special resolutions were passed by certain subsidiaries to accommodate the acquisition of various businesses, to change their names and 

the general authority to provide financial assistance to related or inter-related companies and corporations in terms of sections 44 and 45  

of the Companies Act No 71 of 2008, as amended. All South African subsidiaries passed a special resolution for the adoption of a new MoI. 

Directorate
Fred Barnes, Lionel Jacobs, Joseph Pamensky and Alan Salomon did not offer themselves for re-election as directors of Bidvest at the 

AGM held on November 26 2012. Peter Nyman retired and Rachel Kunene and Muriel Dube resigned from the board with effect from 

November 26 2012. 

The board expresses their thanks to the aforementioned directors for their dedication, advice and guidance provided to the board over  

the past number of years and wishes them well in the future. 

It was announced on March 25 2013 that Cyril Ramaphosa retired from the position of chairman of Bidvest, however would remain  

a board member until the AGM. The board extends it sincere thanks and gratitude to Cyril for his leadership over the past  

nine years. Lorato Phalatse, who is an independent non-executive director on the board, was appointed to succeed Cyril as the new 

chairperson of Bidvest.

In terms of the Company’s MoI the directors who retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting are Brian Joffe,  

Bernard Berson, Alfred da Costa, Stephen Koseff, Nigel Payne and Adv Pansy Tlakula. Stephen Koseff has decided not to make himself 

available for re-election. All other retiring directors are eligible and have made themselves available for re-election.
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Attendance
The names of the directors who were in office during the period August 25 2012 to August 24 2013 and the details of board meetings 

attended by each of the directors are:

Director
Date of 

appointment
November 26

2012
March 1

2013
March 18

 2013
May 30

2013
August 6

2013
August 23

2013

Independent non-executive 
chairperson
CWL Phalatse* April 20 2012 ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

Independent non-executive 
directors
PC Baloyi April 20 2012 ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

DDB Band October 27 2003 ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

AA da Costa December 8 2003 ^ ^ ^ ^ A ^

EK Diack April 20 2012 A ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

S Koseff June 17 1997 A A A ^ A A

AK Maditsi April 20 2012 ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

D Masson March 10 1992 ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

NG Payne June 30 2006 ^ ^ ^ ^ A ^

MC Ramaphosa~ July 6 2004 ^ A A ^ A A

T Slabbert August 20 2007 ^ ^ ^ A A ^

FDP Tlakula June 30 2006 ^ ^ ^ ^ A ^

Executive directors
B Joffe March 1 1989 ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

BL Berson October 27 2003 ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

DE Cleasby July 9 2007 ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

AW Dawe June 30 2006 ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

LP Ralphs May 19 1992 ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ ^

Alternate
LJ Mokoena (alternate to  

AA da Costa) December 8 2003

^ Attended in person, by video-conference or tele-conference.

A Apologies tendered.

* Appointed chairperson on March 25 2013.
~ Retired as chairman on March 25 2013.

Directors’ interests
The aggregate interests of the directors in the share capital of the company at June 30 2013 were:

Number of shares

2013 2012

Beneficial 1 234 302 3 711 013

Non-beneficial 5 774 561 14 453 160

Held in terms of The Bidvest Incentive Scheme
 Options 275 000 445 000

 Shares 301 019 487 195
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Directors’ Curriculum Vitae

Cecilia Wendy Lorato Phalatse, Independent non-executive chairperson, Age: 51, Qualification: BA Political Science, (Hons) University of 

Leeds UK, MA Southern African Studies, University of York UK, Appointed: April 20  2012  

Lorato is a non-executive director of Pick n Pay. Lorato has held various positions over the years including, Deputy Director General in the Office of 

the President and a number of other positions in the FMCG and Retail Banking sectors. Lorato was a CEO and co-founder of Nozala Investments, 

a woman led and controlled investment company. 

Brian Joffe, Group chief executive, Age: 66, Qualification: CA(SA), Appointed: March 1  1989  

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries. Since founding Bid Corporation in 1988, Brian served as executive chairman until his appointment as 

chief executive in 2004. He has over 33 years of South African and international commercial experience. Brian was one of the Sunday Times’ top five 

businessmen in 1992 and is a past recipient of the Jewish Business Achiever of the Year award, was listed as one of the Top 100 Africans of the Year 

in the Africa Almanac in 2001, was voted South Africa’s Top Manager of the Year in 2002 in the Corporate Research Foundation’s publication “South 

Africa’s Leading Managers”, represented South Africa at the coveted “Ernst & Young World Entrepreneur of the Year” awards in 2003, voted the 

Sunday Times’ Businessman of the Year in 2007, awarded an honorary doctorate in May 2008 by Unisa and selected in 2010 by Wits Business School 

Journal as one of South Africa’s top 25 business leaders, having made a significant impact on business in South Africa over the last five years. Listed 

by Forbes Magazine as one of the 20 most powerful people in African business.

Paul Cambo Baloyi, Age: 57, Qualification: MBA, MDP, SEP (Harvard), Appointed: April 20  2012 

Paul is currently the managing director of CAP Leverage Pty Ltd. Until April 2012, has been chief executive officer and managing director of the 

Development Bank of Southern Africa from June 11  2006. Paul also served as chief executive officer and managing director of DBSA  

Development Fund. 

Prior to this Paul had spent 30 years in the Financial Services Sector, with both Standard Bank and the Nedbank group. His last position at Nedbank 

was as managing director of Nedbank Africa.

Paul has been an independent non-executive director on many boards locally and internationally including, African financial institutions. He was a 

council member of the Institute of Bankers and also served as chairman of the Nedmedical Aid.

Other boards include, Old Mutual South Africa, CAP Leverage, ACBF on which he is chairman and Bidvest Bank Limited.

Douglas Denoon Balharrie Band, Lead independent director, Age: 69, Qualification: BCom, CA(SA), Appointed: October 27  2003 

Non-executive director of The Standard Bank Group Limited and MIH Holdings Limited. Doug has extensive experience in both commerce and 

industry and has served in an executive position in various blue-chip listed companies. 

Bernard Larry Berson, Chief executive of Bidvest Foodservice, Age: 48, Qualification: Australian CA, Appointed: October 27  2003 

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries. Bernard has 25 years of international financial, administrative and management experience in numerous 

industries, the past 17 years in the Australian, New Zealand, Asian, South African and European foodservice industries.

David Edward Cleasby, Group financial director, Age: 51, Qualification: CA(SA), Appointed: July 9  2007 

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries and associate companies. David was financial director of Rennies Terminals when Bidvest acquired Rennies 

group in 1998. In 2001, he joined the Bidvest corporate office where he has been involved in both Group corporate finance and investor relations. 

David was appointed as an alternate director to Peter Nyman on June 28  2006 and appointed Group financial director on July 9  2007.

Alfred Anthony da Costa, Age: 48, Qualification: BCom (Hons), Appointed: December 8  2003

Director of the IQUAD group Limited, Dinatla Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited, chairman of the boards of RGT Smart Limited, and Bidvest Wits 

University Football Club (Pty) Limited. Alfred is chief executive officer of Ukuvula Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited, council member of the University 

of South Africa and past president of the Nelson Mandela Bay Business Chamber and is also a trustee of the Bidvest Dinatla Trust. He is a director of 

various subsidiary and associate companies of the Ukuvula group. Alfred has 22 years’ experience in top management.

Anthony William Dawe, Chief executive of Bidvest Freight, Age: 47, Qualification: CA(SA), Appointed: June 28  2006

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries. Anthony has 18 years’ experience in the freight industry with most of those years focused in the South 

African port environment. Prior to this, Anthony’s finance experience was in London and for one of the large accounting firms in South Africa.

Eric Kevin Diack, Age: 56, Qualification: BAcc CA(SA), AMP Harvard, Appointed: April 20  2012 

Eric has extensive experience of the South African industrial and mining landscape. He has been integral to the negotiation and successful conclusion 

of a multitude of transactions during his corporate and entrepreneurial career. Eric has served on numerous major listed company boards; namely: 

AMIC, AECI, ArcelorMittal, Daewoo, Dorbyl, Haggie, Highveld Steel, LTA, McCarthy’s, Terra and Tongaat. Eric is a director on the board of Bidvest Bank 

Limited and Bidvest Bank Holdings Limited. Eric is chairman of the audit committee of Bidvest Bank. 
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Stephen Koseff, Age: 62, Qualification: BCom, CA(SA), HDip BDP, MBA, Appointed: June 17  1997 

Chief executive officer of Investec Limited and Investec plc. Stephen has 36 years of financial experience and is the recipient of numerous business 

awards. His directorships include Investec Limited and Investec plc, Rensburg Sheppards and various other Investec subsidiaries. His previous non-

executive positions have included immediate former Chairman of the South African Banking Association, former director of the Johannesburg Stock 

Exchange, former member of the Financial Markets Advisory Board and former chairman of the Independent Bankers Association. He is a former 

member of the Financial Markets Advisory Board and former chairman of the Independent Banks Association. 

Alexander Komape Maditsi, Age: 50, Qualification: BProc, LLB (Wits), LLM (Pennsylvania), LLM (Harward), Dip Company Law (Wits),  

Appointed: April 20  2012 

Alex is the current franchise director for Coca-Cola Southern and Eastern Africa. Alex has held various positions in Coca-Cola over the past 15 years. 

Alex has held various legal positions in companies in both South Africa and the United States. 

Donald Masson, Age: 82, Qualification: ACIS, Appointed: March 10  1992 

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries, Valley Irrigation Limited, chairman of Cashbuild Limited, and a trustee of various pension funds. Donald is a 

former president of the Afrikaanse Handelsinstituut and a former member of the President’s Economic Advisory Council and chairman of the SA Post 

Office. He has 45 years of diverse business experience in senior executive positions at listed, unlisted and parastatal organisations.

Nigel George Payne, Age: 53, Qualification: BCom (Hons), CA(SA), MBL, Appointed: June 28  2006 

Director of a number of companies including the JSE Limited, Mr Price Group Limited (chairman), Vukile Property Fund Limited and BSi Steel Limited 

and is chairman of Bidvest Bank Limited. Nigel is a leading authority on corporate governance and risk management and is a member of the King 

Committee.

Lindsay Peter Ralphs, Chief executive of Bidvest South Africa, Age: 57, Qualification: CA(SA), Appointed: May 10  1992  

Director of numerous Bidvest subsidiaries. Lindsay joined Bidvest as operations director in 1992. In 1994 he was appointed managing director of 

Steiner and following the acquisition of Prestige, Bidserv was created and Lindsay was appointed its chief executive. During the Group restructuring 

in February 2011, Lindsay was appointed CE of Bidvest South Africa.

Matamela Cyril Ramaphosa, Age: 60, Qualification: BProc, Appointed: July 6  2004 

Executive chairman of Shanduka Group (Pty) Limited and Auram Restaurants company (Pty) Limited t/a McDonalds S.A. Joint non-executive chairman 

of Mondi plc and non-executive chairman of MTN Group Limited. Non-executive director of SAB Miller plc, Lonmin plc, Alexander Forbes Equity 

Holdings Limited and The Standard Bank Group Limited. Cyril is the past chairman of the Black Economic Empowerment Commission and has 

received several honorary doctorates.

Tania Slabbert, Age: 46, Qualification: BA, MBA, Appointed: August 20  2007 

Tania is the CEO of WDB Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited a company which, through its shareholder, the WDB Trust, provides women entrepreneurs 

across South Africa with access to financial and non-financial resources to support their businesses. Non-executive director of BP South Africa (Pty) 

Limited, Discovery Holdings (Pty) Limited, Caxton Holdings (Pty) Limited and Dinatla Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited.

Adv Faith Dikeledi Pansy Tlakula, Age: 56, Qualification: DTech (Legal Studies) Honoris Causa (VUT), BProc (UNIN – now UL), LLB (Wits),  

LLM (Harvard), Appointed: June 28  2006 

Chairperson of the Electoral Commission of South Africa, Director of MMRT (Pty) Limited, Lehotsa Investment (Pty) Limited and Khomanani Women’s 

Investment (Pty) Limited, former Chairperson of Board of the National Credit Regulator and Chancellor of the Vaal University of Technology. Pansy is a 

member of the African Commission on Human and Peoples Rights, part of the African Union, for which she is the Special Rapporteur on Freedom of 

Expression and Access to Information in Africa. 

Lebogang Joseph Mokoena, Age: 54, Qualification: BSc (Med Sci), MBA, Appointed: As alternate to AA da Costa on December 8  2003 

Non-executive director of Ten Alliance Holdings (Pty) Limited, Sesiu Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited, Bloemfontein Correctional Contracts (Pty) 

Limited, Culca Investments (Pty) Limited and Dinatla Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited. Currently Chairman of Bloemfontein Correctional Contracts 

(Pty) Limited. Lebogang has a number of years’ experience as a director of private companies. Over the years he provided management consultancy 

services to SMMEs, the public and private sectors. In recent years he devoted most of his time to investment management and strategy development.

Committees

 Audit committee   Remuneration committee   Risk committee   Acquisitions committee   Nominations committee   Social and ethics committee
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Directors’ shareholdings
Beneficial
The individual beneficial interests declared by the current directors and officers in the company’s share capital at June 30 2013 held directly 

or indirectly were:

2013
Number of shares

2012

Number of shares

Director Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

BL Berson 8 38 313 8 38 313

DE Cleasby 19 306 – 8 375 –

AW Dawe 9 000 – 9 000 –

AA da Costa – 213 239 – 213 239

B Joffe 25 000 – 5 000 –

S Koseff 8 – 8 –

D Masson 8 7 235 8 7 235

LJ Mokoena (alternate) – 254 860 – 192 800

LP Ralphs 110 176 – 85 801 –

MC Ramaphosa – 557 149 – 557 149

Total 163 506 1 070 796 108 200 1 008 736

Former directors 238 669 2 355 408

 346 869 3 364 144

Held in terms of The Bidvest Incentive Scheme
The Bidvest Incentive Scheme grants loans to staff and executive directors for the acquisition of shares in the company. The number of 

shares and carrying values of the loans issued to directors and officers as at June 30 2013 were:

2013 2012

Director
Number

of shares

Carrying
 value of loan

R’000
Number

of shares

Carrying

 value of loan

R’000

BL Berson 49 581 4 983 49 581 5 251

DE Cleasby 54 371 5 673 74 371 7 982

AW Dawe – – 79 162 8 496

B Joffe 48 324 4 880 48 324 5 028

LP Ralphs 148 743 15 520 148 743 15 964

Total 301 019  31 056 400 181 42 721

Former executive directors 87 014 9 302

487 195 52 023

Non-beneficial

In addition to the aforementioned holdings:

– B Joffe is a trustee and potential beneficiary of a discretionary trust holding 1 886 764 (2012: 2 975 296) shares;

– CA Brighten (company secretary) is a trustee of the Group’s retirement funds which hold 858 310 (2012: 854 211) shares; and

–  T Slabbert is also a director of WDB Investment Holdings (WDB) and has no beneficial interest in WDB’s shares. WDB holds  

3 887 797 Bidvest shares.

The interests of the directors remained unchanged from the end of the financial year to the date of this report.
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The remuneration paid to executive directors while in office of the company during the year ended June 30 2013 can be analysed as 

follows:

Director

Basic 
remuneration

R’000

Other 
benefits

and costs
R’000

Retirement/
medical
benefits

R’000

Cash
 incentives

R’000

Total
emoluments

R’000

BL Berson 8 540 231 227 8 168 17 166
DE Cleasby 3 197 330 357 4 000 7 884
AW Dawe 3 385 225 360 3 000 6 970
B Joffe 11 936 945 778 13 719 27 378
LP Ralphs 6 859 545 621 7 200 15 225

33 917 2 276 2 343 36 087 74 623
Former directors
LI Jacobs** 771 80 100 – 951
P Nyman* 794 100 71 – 965
AC Salomon** 1 329 – 142 – 1 471

2013 Total 36 811 2 456 2 656 36 087 78 010

Certain executive directors serve as non-executive directors of companies outside of the Group. Directors’ fees in this regard are generally paid to the Group.

* Retired November 26 2012.

** Resigned November 26 2012.

For comparative purposes the remuneration paid to executive directors while in office of the company during the year ended June 30 2012 

can be analysed as follows: 

Director

Basic 

remuneration

R’000

Other 

benefits

and costs

R’000

Retirement/

medical

benefits

R’000

Cash

 incentives

R’000~

Total

emoluments

R’000

BL Berson 7 254 205 201 6 948 14 608

DE Cleasby 2 979 311 330 5 600~ 9 220

AW Dawe 3 165 103 335 3 300 6 903

LI Jacobs 1 722 185 226 1 000 3 133

B Joffe 10 754 1 142 713 15 383~ 27 992

P Nyman 1 905 275 171 1 000 3 351

LP Ralphs 4 380 481 513 6 500 11 874

AC Salomon 2 981 – 319 3 300  6 600

35 140 2 702 2 808 43 031 83 681

Former director
MC Berzack# 10 918 351 225 – 11 494

2012 Total 46 058 3 053 3 033 43 031 95 175

# Resigned September 7 2011.

~  Included in the cash incentives are special bonuses paid to B Joffe and DE Cleasby of R3 million and R2 million respectively, as a result of the successful sale  

of the Group’s 50% economic interest in Mumbai International Airport Private Limited.



THE BIDVEST GROUP LIMITED

Annual Integrated Report 2013
72

Directors’ report

The remuneration paid to non-executive directors while in office of the company during the year ended June 30 2013 is analysed as follows:

2013

Director

Directors’
fees

R’000

Other
services

as directors
of subsidiary

companies
R’000

Total
emolu-
ments
R’000

2012

Total

R’000

DDB Band 646 – 646  510 

PC Baloyi 300  168 468  35 

AA da Costa 180 – 180  161 

EK Diack 337  523 860  450 

S Koseff 111 – 111  96 

AK Maditsi 202 – 202  35 

D Masson 671  220 891  744 

LJ Mokoena 30 – 30  27 

NG Payne 925  580 1 505  1 233 

CWL Phalatse 356 – 356  35 

MC Ramaphosa 564 – 564  621 

T Slabbert 337 – 337  256 

FDP Tlakula 180 – 180  157 

4 839 1 491 6 330  4 360 

Former directors
FJ Barnes* – 118 118 3 218

LG Boyle# – – – 70

MBN Dube* 39 – 39  139 

RM Kunene* 39 – 39  96 

JL Pamensky* 238  45 283  695 

NP Mageza† – – – 85

2013 Total 5 155 1 654 6 809 8 663

2012 Total 4 032 4 631 8 663

# Resigned on February 13 2012.
† Resigned on November 21 2011.

* Retired/resigned November 26 2012.

Prescribed officers
Due to the nature and structure of the Group and the number of executive directors on the board of the company, the directors have 

concluded that there are no prescribed officers of the company.
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Details of the directors’ and officers’ outstanding share options

Share options at  
June 30 2012 Share options exercised

Share options at  
June 30 2013

Director/officer Number

Average 
price 

R Number

Market 
price 

R Number

Average 
price 

R

BL Berson 30 000 51,51 – – 30 000 51,51

LP Ralphs 245 000 50,19 – – 245 000 50,19

275 000 50,33 – – 275 000 50,33

Former directors 170 000 52,66

445 000 51,22

These options were granted to directors prior to April 30 2005 and are exercisable over the period July 1 2013 to April 30 2015. A detailed 

register of options outstanding by tranche is available for inspection at the company’s registered office.

Share-based payment expense

Director
2013 

R’000
2012

R’000

BL Berson 5 717 5 450

DE Cleasby 3 944 5 107

AW Dawe 2 422 4 272

B Joffe 9 889 10 226

LP Ralphs 5 926 6 824

27 898 31 879

Former executive directors 4 803

36 682

Details of directors’ and officers’ outstanding conditional share plan (CSP)
A conditional award is a conditional right to a share, which is awarded subject to performance and vesting conditions.

Director

Balance 
at

June 30
2012

New
awards Forfeited*

Shares
awarded

Closing
balance
June 30

2013

BL Berson 148 064 45 000 – (24 032) 169 032

DE Cleasby 111 561 25 000 – (18 281) 118 280

AW Dawe 96 561 20 000 – (18 281) 98 280

B Joffe 223 126 100 000 – (36 563) 286 563

LP Ralphs 148 750 50 000 – (24 375) 174 375

CA Brighten 12 376 – – (2 438) 9 938

Total 740 438 240 000 – (123 970) 856 468

Former directors

LI Jacobs 19 500

AC Salomon 74 376

834 314

During 2013, the shares were awarded at R203,10 per share. 

* Shares forfeited as a result of performance targets not being met.
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Summary of executive directors’ long-term incentives (LTI)

Director

Share-
based

payment
expense

R’000

Benefit
arising

from the
exercise

of options*
R’000

Benefit 
arising

from
award 

of CSP
R’000

Gross
benefits

R’000

Previous
share-based

payment
expense

in respect
of awards

R’000

Actual LTI
benefit
R’000

2013

BL Berson 5 717 – 4 881 10 598 (2 879) 7 719

DE Cleasby 3 944 2 942 3 713 10 599 (2 730) 7 869

AW Dawe 2 422 11 930 3 713 18 065 (2 190) 15 875

B Joffe 9 889 – 7 426 17 315 (6 517) 10 798

LP Ralphs 5 926 – 4 951 10 877 (2 920) 7 957

2013 Total 27 898 14 872 24 684 67 454 (17 236) 50 218

2012

BL Berson 5 450 – 5 572 11 022 (4 578) 6 444

DE Cleasby 5 107 – 3 592 8 699 (2 905) 5 794

AW Dawe 4 272 – 3 592 7 864 (2 905) 4 959

LI Jacobs 1 380 1 560 1 916 4 856 (1 550) 3 306

B Joffe 10 226 20 350 7 184 37 760 (10 634) 27 126

P Nyman 12 5 301 – 5 313 – 5 313

LP Ralphs 6 824 – 4 789 11 613 (3 874) 7 739

AC Salomon 3 411 5 221 2 395 11 027 (2 834) 8 193

2012 Total 36 682 32 432 29 040 98 154 (29 280) 68 874

* Includes taxable benefits arising on the sale of shares and settlement of the Bidvest Incentive Scheme loans.

Directors’ service contracts
Directors do not have fixed-term contracts.

Directors’ and officers’ disclosure of interest in contracts
During the financial year no contracts were entered into in which directors and officers of the company had an interest and which 

significantly affected the business of the Group. The directors had no interest in any third party or company responsible for managing any  

of the business activities of the Group. 

Secretary
During the year under review, and in compliance with paragraph 3.84(i) and (j) of the JSE Listings Requirements, the board evaluated  

Mr CA Brighten, the company secretary, and is satisfied that he is competent, suitably qualified and experienced. Furthermore, since he  

is not a director, nor is he related to or connected to any of the directors, thereby negating a potential conflict of interest, it was agreed that 

he maintains an arm’s length relationship with the board. 

The business and postal addresses of the secretary, which are also the registered addresses of the company, are Bidvest House,  

18 Crescent Drive, Melrose Arch, Melrose, Johannesburg, 2196 and PO Box 87274, Houghton, 2041, respectively.
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The consolidated and separate financial statements (financial statements) have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS), the interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board, the SAICA Financial Reporting 

Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by Financial Reporting 

Standards Council and in terms of the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

1. Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that derivative financial instruments, financial instruments 

held-for-trading and financial instruments classified as available-for-sale are stated at their fair value. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Although 

estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 

under the circumstances (the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities 

that are not readily apparent from other sources), the actual outcome may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 

period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 

revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made in the application of IFRS that have had an effect on the financial statements and estimates with a risk of 

adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 38.

The accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements. The financial statements 

are presented in South African rand, which is the Group’s functional currency. All financial information has been rounded to the nearest 

thousand unless stated otherwise.

2. New and revised accounting standards
There were no changes to the Group’s accounting policies during the year with the exception of the adoption of the amendments to 

IAS 1 which requires the Group to present items in the statement of other comprehensive income based on whether they may be 

reclassified to profit or loss in the future. Details of new standards and interpretations that apply to the Group are contained in note 41 

to the financial statements.

3. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the company and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities 

controlled by the company. Control exists when the company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating 

policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable 

or convertible are taken into account. Operating results of businesses acquired or disposed of during the year are included from or to 

the effective date of acquisition or disposal, being the date that control commences until the date control ceases. The assets and 

liabilities of companies acquired are assessed and included in the statement of financial position at their estimated fair values to the 

Group at acquisition date.

Any increases and decreases in ownership interests in subsidiaries without a change in control are recognised as equity transactions in 

the Group financial statements. Accordingly, any premiums or discounts on subsequent purchases of equity instruments from, or sales 

of equity instruments to non controlling shareholders are recognised directly in the equity of the Group.

Transaction costs that the Group incurs with respect to an acquisition of a business are expensed as incurred.

Inter-group transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with jointly controlled 

entities and equity-accounted associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised losses are 

eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

The company carries its investments in subsidiaries at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
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4. Revenue
Revenue comprises amounts invoiced to customers for goods and services and includes finance charges, insurance premiums, gross 

billings, and commissions related to clearing and forwarding transactions and excludes value added tax. Revenue is net of returns and 

allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates.

5. Revenue recognition
The sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred to the buyer, recovery of 

the consideration is considered probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, and there is no 

continuing management involvement with the goods.

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the income statement in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at 

the statement of financial position date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to the terms of the contracts.

Revenue relating to banking activities consists primarily of margins earned on the purchase and sale of foreign exchange products and 

general commissions and transaction fees and is recognised when the services are provided. Net profits and losses on the revaluation 

of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities are also included in revenue.

In the event that a profit or loss arises from full maintenance motor contracts, it is recognised on termination of individual contracts 

after taking cognisance of any additional costs required. Provision is made for known losses during the contract period on an individual 

contract basis. 

Insurance premiums are stated before deducting reinsurance and commission. 

Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested.

Interest is recognised on an accrual basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the effective rate over the period to maturity, 

when it is determined that such income will accrue to the Group.

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

6. Non-current assets held-for-sale and discontinued operations
Non-current assets (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather 

than through continuing use are classified as held-for-sale and are carried at the lower of carrying value and fair value less cost to sell. 

Immediately before classification as assets held-for-sale, the measurement of the assets (and all assets and liabilities in a disposal 

group) is determined in accordance with applicable IFRS. Then, on initial classification as assets held-for-sale, non-current assets and 

disposal groups are recognised at the lower of the carrying amounts and fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal 

group is first allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to 

inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, and employee benefit assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with the 

Group’s accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains or losses on 

remeasurement are recognised in the income statement. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

A discontinued operation results from the sale or abandonment of an operation that represents a separate major line of business or 

geographical area of operations and of which the assets, net profit or loss and activities can be distinguished physically, operationally 

and for financial reporting purposes. A subsidiary acquired exclusively with the view to resell is also classified as a discontinued 

operation. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as 

held-for-sale, if earlier. When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative income statement is restated as if 

the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative period.

7. Distributions to shareholders
Distributions to shareholders are accounted for once they have been approved by the board of directors.
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8. Finance income and charges 
Finance charges comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method. The interest expense 

component of finance lease payments is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest rate method.

9. Capitalisation of expenditure/borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily take a substantial period 

of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 

complete. Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which active development is interrupted. All other borrowing costs 

are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

10. Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks net 

of bank overdrafts, investment in money market instruments and variable rate cumulative redeemable preference shares, all of which are 

available for use by the Group unless otherwise stated. 

11. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reflected at cost to the Group, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Land is stated at cost. The present value of the estimated cost of dismantling and removing items and restoring the site in which they 

are located is provided for as part of the cost of the asset. Depreciation is provided for on the straight-line basis over the estimated 

useful lives of the property, plant and equipment which are as follows:

Buildings  Up to 50 years

Leasehold premises Over the period of the lease

Plant and equipment 5 to 20 years

Office equipment, furniture and fittings 3 to 15 years

Vehicles and craft 3 to 10 years

Vessels 28 to 55 years

Rental assets 3 to 5 years

Capitalised leased assets The same basis as owned assets

Residual values, depreciation method and useful lives are reassessed annually.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of 

property, plant and equipment.

The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of such an item 

when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied in the item will flow to the Group and the cost of 

the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the income statement as an expense when incurred.

12. Leases
Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset to the Group are classified as finance 

leases. Assets acquired in terms of finance leases are capitalised at the lower of fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 

payments at inception of the lease, and depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. The capital element of future obligations 

under the leases is included as a liability in the balance sheet. Lease payments are allocated using the effective interest rate method to 

determine the lease finance cost, which is charged against income over the lease period, and the capital repayment, which reduces 

the liability to the lessor.

Leases where the lessor retains the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset are classified as operating leases. 

Operating leases, which have a fixed determinable escalation, are charged against income on a straight-line basis. Leases with 

contingent escalations are expensed as and when incurred. 
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13.  Goodwill
Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries. All business combinations are accounted for by applying the 

purchase method. In respect of business acquisitions that have occurred since March 31 2004, goodwill represents the difference 

between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired. 

Goodwill is stated at deemed cost or cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and 

is tested annually for impairment. 

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised immediately in the income statement. 

14. Intangible assets 
Software development costs are capitalised and are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated  

impairment losses.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated  

impairment losses. 

Expenditure on research, internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

   

Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied 

in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred. 

Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets unless 

such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are systematically tested for impairment at each statement  

of financial position date. Other intangible assets are amortised from the date they are available for use. The estimated useful lives  

are currently:

Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles 3 to 12 years

Computer software  3 to 8 years

Useful lives are also examined on an annual basis and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis.

15. Impairment of assets
The carrying value of assets is reviewed annually to assess whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 

the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. Where the carrying value exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, such assets 

are written down to their recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount of cash-generating units to which goodwill is allocated is estimated annually on March 31 each year. For 

assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated  

at each statement of financial position date.

Impairment losses are recognised whenever the carrying amount of the asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 

amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 

allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that are largely independent from other assets 

and groups.

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 

recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.
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15. Impairment of assets (continued)

An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its current fair value. For unlisted 

shares classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered  

to be objective evidence of impairment. 

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

– significant financial difficulty of the counterparty; or

– default in interest or principal payments; or

– it becoming probable that the counterparty will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation.

When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised directly in equity and there is objective 

evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in the income 

statement even though the financial asset has not been derecognised. The amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in the 

income statement is the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 

previously recognised in the income statement.

The recoverable amount of the Group’s investments in held-to-maturity securities and receivables carried at amortised cost is 

calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (the effective interest 

rate is computed on initial recognition of these financial assets). Receivables with a short duration are not discounted. Individually 

significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively  

in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

In respect of trade receivables, receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment 

on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of 

collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as 

observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and their value in use. In assessing their value 

in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a held-to-maturity security or receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent 

increase in the recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

An impairment loss in respect of an investment in an equity instrument classified as available-for-sale is not reversed through the 

income statement. If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively 

related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the income statement, the impairment loss is reversed, with 

the amount of the reversal recognised in the income statement.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of  

trade receivables and banking advances, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account. 

When a trade receivable or banking advance is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the impairment allowance account. 

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount 

of the impairment allowance account are recognised in the income statement.

Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed. 

In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that 

the loss has decreased or no longer exists. Impairment losses are reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 

determine the recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 

have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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16. Taxation
Income taxation comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it 

relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current taxation comprises tax payable calculated on the basis of the expected taxable income for the year, using the tax rates 

enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment of tax payable for previous years.

Deferred taxation is recognised using the balance sheet liability method based on temporary differences between the tax base of an 

asset or liability and its balance sheet carrying amount. Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amount of assets 

and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax base. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected 

manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted  

at the statement of financial position date. The following temporary differences are not provided for: initial recognition of goodwill; the 

initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that are not business combinations and that affect neither accounting nor 

taxable profit; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. Deferred taxation is charged to the income statement except to the extent that it relates to a transaction that is recognised 

directly in equity, or a business combination that is an acquisition. The effects on deferred taxation of any changes in tax rates are 

recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that they relate to items previously charged or credited directly to equity.

A deferred taxation asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 

associated unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 

date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

17. Associates
An associate is a company which the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence, but not control, over its financial and 

operating policies. 

The equity method of accounting for associates is adopted in the Group financial statements. In applying the equity method, account 

is taken of the Group’s share of accumulated retained earnings and movements in reserves from the effective dates on which the 

companies became associates and up to the effective dates of disposal. In the event of associates making losses, the Group 

recognises the losses to the extent of the Group’s exposure.

The company carries its investment in associates at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

18. Foreign operations
Assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated into 

South African rand at rates of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date. Income, expenditure and cash flow items are 

translated into South African rand at rates approximating to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Since 

July 1 2004, the Group’s date of transition to IFRS, foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised directly in equity 

as a foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the foreign 

currency translation reserve is transferred to the income statement. 

The revenues and expenses of foreign operations in hyperinflationary economies are translated to South African rand at the foreign 

exchange rates ruling at the statement of financial position date. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are recognised 

directly in a separate component of equity.

Acquisitions and disposals of foreign operations are accounted for at the rate ruling on the date of the transaction.
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19. Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognised when the Group or company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the arrangement.

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus, for instruments not carried at fair value through profit and loss, any directly 

attributable transaction costs. 

An instrument is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is held-for-trading, is a derivative or is designated as such upon 

initial recognition. 

A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future or it has 

been part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of 

short-term profit-making.

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in 

the income statement. The gain or loss recognised in the income statement excludes the interest and dividends earned on the financial 

asset, which are separately disclosed as such in the income statement. Held-for-trading financial instruments are measured at 

amortised cost if their fair value cannot be determined. 

Financial instruments classified as available-for-sale financial assets are carried at fair value with any resultant gain or loss, other  

than impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary items, being recognised directly in equity. When  

these investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or  

loss. Where these investments are interest bearing, interest calculated using the effective interest rate method is recognised in  

profit or loss.

Listed government bonds held in terms of statutory requirements are accounted for as available-for-sale financial assets.

If the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then they are classified as held-to-maturity. 

Investments that meet the criteria for classification as held-to-maturity financial assets are carried at amortised cost. 

Where the instrument is not classified as one of the above, it is carried at amortised cost.

Listed and unlisted investments are classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale financial assets. 

Fair value of listed investments is calculated by reference to stock exchange quoted selling prices at the close of business on the 

statement of financial position date. Fair value of unlisted investments is determined by using appropriate valuation models. 

Trade and other receivables originated by the Group or company are stated at amortised cost less an allowance for impairment losses. 

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value, based on the relevant exchange rates at statement of financial position date. 

Financial liabilities other than derivatives are recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Derivative instruments are measured at fair value through profit and loss. 

Where a derivative financial instrument is used to economically hedge the foreign exchange exposure of a recognised financial asset or 

liability, no hedge accounting is applied and any gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the income statement. It is the 

policy of the Group not to trade in derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Gains or losses arising from measuring the hedging instruments relating to a fair value hedge at fair value are recognised in the income 

statement. The hedged item is also stated at fair value in respect of the risk being hedged, with any gains or losses recognised in the 

income statement.
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19. Financial instruments (continued)

Where a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective part of the gains or losses from remeasuring the hedging 

instruments to fair value are initially recognised directly in equity. If the hedged firm commitment or forecast transaction results in the 

recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, the cumulative amount recognised in equity up to the transaction date is adjusted 

against the initial measurement of the non-financial asset or liability. The ineffective part of any gain or loss is recognised in the income 

statement immediately. For other cash flow hedges, the cumulative amount recognised in equity is included in net profit or loss in the 

period when the commitment or forecast transaction affects profit or loss.

Where the hedging instrument or hedge relationship is terminated but the hedged transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative 

unrealised gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the aforementioned policy when the 

transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss is recognised in  

the income statement immediately.

A financial asset is derecognised (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group of similar financial assets is 

derecognised) if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or if the Group transfers the financial 

assets to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all 

the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing 

involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 

lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to 

repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where an existing liability 

is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 

modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,  

and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit and loss. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when the company 

has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and 

settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial instruments have been grouped into classes for the purpose of financial instrument risk disclosure. The classes are the 

segments as disclosed in the segmental report as the operations within each segment have similar types of risks. 

20. Banking advances
Advances are stated at amortised cost after the deduction of amounts that, in the opinion of the directors, are required as specific  

and general impairments. Specific impairments are raised for doubtful advances, including amounts in respect of interest not being 

serviced and after taking security values into account, and are deducted from advances where the outstanding balance exceeds the 

value of the security held. A general impairment based on historic experience is raised to cover doubtful advances, which may not be 

specifically identified at the statement of financial position date. The specific and general impairments made during the year are 

charged to the income statement.

21.  Vehicle rental fleet
Vehicle rental fleet is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis to write off the cost 

of the vehicles to their residual value over their estimated useful lives of between nine and 12 months. 

22.  Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value. Estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling 

price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. The cost of raw materials, 

finished goods, parts and accessories is determined on either the first-in, first-out or average cost basis. The cost of manufactured 

inventory and work in progress includes materials and parts, direct labour, other direct costs and includes an appropriate portion of 

overheads, but excludes interest expense. 
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22.  Inventories (continued)

Vehicles and vehicle parts purchased in terms of manufacturers’ standard franchise agreements or floorplan facilities are recognised as 

assets when received as this is when significant risks and rewards have been transferred. This policy is applied irrespective of the fact 

that certain agreements provide that the legal ownership of this inventory shall remain with the supplier or floorplan provider until the 

purchase price has been paid.

23. Treasury shares
Shares in the company, held by its subsidiary and The Bidvest Incentive Scheme are classified in the Group’s shareholders’ interest as 

treasury shares. These shares are treated as a deduction from the issued and weighted average number of shares. The cost price of 

the shares is presented as a deduction from total equity. Distributions received on treasury shares are eliminated on consolidation. 

24. Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities 

in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date. Translation differences are 

recognised in the income statement.

25. Share-based payments
The Bidvest Incentive Scheme grants options to acquire shares in the company to executive directors and staff. The fair value of 

options granted is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant 

date and spread over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the 

options is measured using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The 

amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where staff are unable to 

meet the scheme’s employment requirements.

The Bidvest Incentive Scheme grants loans to staff for the acquisition of shares in the company. The fair value of services  

received in return for shares allotted is measured based on a binomial model taking into account the expected contractual life  

of the loan obligation.

In terms of the conditional share plan scheme, a conditional right to a share is awarded to employees subject to performance and 

vesting conditions. The fair value of services received in return for the conditional share awards has been determined by multiplying the 

number of conditional share awards expected to vest by the share price at the date of the award less discounted by anticipated future 

distribution flows.

26.  Employee benefits
Leave benefits due to employees are recognised as a liability in the financial statements. 

The Group’s liability for post-retirement benefits, accruing to past and current employees in terms of defined benefit schemes, is 

actuarially calculated. Where the plan is funded, the obligation is reduced by the fair value of the plan assets. Unfunded obligations  

are recognised as a liability in the financial statements.

The Group’s obligation for post-retirement medical aid to past and current employees is actuarially determined and provided for in full.

The projected unit credit method is used to determine the present value of the defined benefit obligations and the related current 

service cost and, where applicable, past service cost.

Actuarial gains or losses in respect of defined benefit plans are recognised in the income statement if the net cumulative unrecognised 

actuarial gains and losses at the end of the previous reporting period exceed the greater of:

– 10% of the present value of the defined benefit obligation at that date, before deducting plan assets; or 

– 10% of the fair value of any plan assets at that date. 

However, when the actuarial calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the recognised asset is limited to the net total of any 

unrecognised past service costs and the present value of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions  

to the plan.
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Accounting policies

26.  Employee benefits (continued)

The amount recognised is the excess in terms of the aforementioned formula, divided by the expected average remaining working lives 

of the employees participating in that plan.

Past service costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested.  

To the extent that the benefits have vested, past service costs are recognised immediately.

Liabilities for employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are discounted using the market yields at  

the statement of financial position date on high-quality bonds with terms that most closely match the terms of maturity of the  

related liabilities.

Contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred. 

27. Short-term insurance 
Insurance contracts are those contracts under which the Group (as insurer) accepts significant insurance risk from another party (the 

policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder or other beneficiary if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) 

adversely affects them. Short-term insurance is provided in terms of benefits under short-term policies which cover motor, property 

and warranty. 

Premiums are earned from the date the risk attaches, over the indemnity period, based on the pattern of the risk underwritten. 

Unearned premiums, which represent the proportion of premiums written in the current year which relate to risks that have not expired 

by the end of the financial year, are calculated on a time proportionate basis. 

Receipts and payments under investment contracts are not classified as insurance transactions in the income statement but instead 

are deposit accounted in the statement of financial position in accordance with IAS 39. The deposits liability recognised in the 

statement of financial position represents the expected amounts payable to the holders of the insurance contract. Claims incurred 

consist of claims paid during the financial year, together with the movement in the provision for outstanding claims and are charged to 

income as incurred. The provision for outstanding claims comprise the Group’s estimate of the undiscounted ultimate cost of settling 

all claims incurred but unpaid at statement of financial position date, whether reported or not. Related anticipated reinsurance 

recoveries are disclosed separately as assets. 

Premiums are earned from the date the risk attaches, over the indemnity period, based on the pattern of the risk underwritten. 

Unearned premiums, which represent the proportion of premiums written in the current year which relate to risks that have not expired 

by the end of the financial year, are calculated on a time proportionate basis. Deferred acquisition costs are recognised on a basis 

consistent with the related provisions for earned premiums. A provision for claims arising from events that occurred before the close  

of the accounting period, but which have not been reported to the Group by that date, is maintained. The calculation is based on the 

preceding six years’ insurance premium revenue per insurance category multiplied by percentages as specified in the Short Term 

Insurance Act.

28. Life assurance 
Insurance contracts are those contracts under which the Group (as insurer) accepts significant insurance risk from another party (the 

policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder or other beneficiary if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) 

adversely affects them. Life assurance benefits are provided in terms of individual credit life contracts. These contracts are decreasing 

term assurance, designed to pay outstanding loans provided by finance houses to purchasers of motor vehicles. The outstanding loan is 

settled (subject to certain limits) following death or disability of the contract holder. In addition, there are dread disease, retrenchment and 

funeral benefits. Policyholder liabilities under insurance contracts, representing the liability in respect of unmatured policies, are valued in 

terms of the Financial Soundness Valuation (FSV) basis contained in PGN104. 

Receipts and payments under investment contracts are not classified as insurance transactions in the income statement but instead are 

deposit accounted in the statement of financial position in accordance with IAS 39. The deposits liability recognised in the statement of 

financial position represents the expected amounts payable to the holders of the insurance contract. Claims expenses are charged to the 

income statement as incurred based on the liability in terms of the policy at the date of the claim. 
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28. Life assurance (continued)

Contracts entered into by the Group with reinsurers under which the Group is compensated for losses on one or more contracts issued 

by the Group are classified as reinsurance contracts held. The benefits to which the Group is entitled under its reinsurance contracts are 

recognised as reinsurance assets. These consist of short-term balances due to/from reinsurers, as well as longer-term receivables 

(classified as reinsurance assets) that are dependent on the expected claims and benefits arising under the related insurance contracts. 

Amounts recoverable from/due to reinsurers are measured consistently with the amounts associated with the insurance contracts and in 

accordance with the terms of each contract. Reinsurance liabilities are primarily premiums payable and are recognised as an expense 

when due. The Group assesses its reinsurance assets for impairment on an annual basis. If there is objective evidence that the 

reinsurance asset is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount of the reinsurance asset to its recoverable amount and recognises 

the impairment loss in the income statement. The Group gathers the objective evidence that a reinsurance asset is impaired using the 

same basis adopted for financial assets held at amortised cost.

29. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, for which it is probable that 

an outflow of economic benefits will occur, and where a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the 

effect of discounting is material, provisions are discounted. The discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan and the restructuring 

has either commenced or has been announced publicly. Future operating costs are not provided for.

The Group recognises a provision calculated as the present value of the estimated cost of dismantling and removing items and 

restoring the site in which they are located when the legal or constructive obligation arises or when the damage to the site occurs. 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract are lower than 

the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the 

expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net costs of continuing the contract. Before a provision is established, the 

Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.

Customer loyalty points are accounted for at fair value of the consideration received or receivable in respect of the initial sale, and are 

allocated between the loyalty points and the other components of the sale. The consideration allocated to the customer loyalty points 

is measured by reference to their fair value, which is the amount for which the loyalty points could be sold at, multiplied by the 

probability of their redemption. This amount is recognised as a provision until such time as the customer loyalty points are redeemed. 

Once the loyalty points are redeemed, the amount will be recognised as revenue.

30. Segmental reporting
The reportable segments of the Group have been identified based on the nature of the businesses. This basis is representative of the 

internal structure for management purposes. Information is also supplied for the various geographies in which the Group operates.

Segmental operating profit includes revenue and expenses directly relating to a business segment but excludes net finance charges  

and taxation which cannot be allocated to any specific segment. Share-based payment costs are also excluded from the result as  

this is not a criteria used in the management of the reportable segments.

Segmental trading profit is defined as operating profit excluding items of a capital nature and is the basis on which management’s 

performance is assessed.

Segment operating assets and liabilities include property, plant and equipment, investments, inventories, trade and other receivables, 

trade and other payables, banking assets and liabilities, insurance funds and post-retirement obligations but exclude cash, borrowings, 

current taxation and deferred taxation. Intangible assets are allocated to the cash-generating unit in the segment to which they relate.



THE BIDVEST GROUP LIMITED

Annual Integrated Report 2013
86

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended June 30

 Note 

 2013
 R’000 

 2012

 R’000 

Revenue 1  153 404 532  133 533 633 

Cost of revenue  (123 039 972)  (106 241 730)

Gross profit  30 364 560  27 291 903 

Other income  800 817  646 058 

Operating expenses  (23 490 150)  (20 923 733)

 Sales and distribution expenses  (15 610 550)  (13 993 709)

 Administration expenses  (5 002 728)  (4 365 840)

 Other expenses  (2 876 872)  (2 564 184)

Trading profit  7 675 227  7 014 228 

 Share-based payment expense  (119 650)  (121 524)

 Profit on partial disposal of investment in Mumbai International Airport Private Limited –  399 100 

 Acquisition costs  (14 181)  (17 762)

 Net capital items  (102 476)  (133 743)

Operating profit 2  7 438 920  7 140 299 

 Net finance charges 3  (764 546)  (784 666)

  Finance income  76 659  46 256 

  Finance charges  (841 205)  (830 922)

Share of profit of associates  161 824  77 298 

 Dividends received  64 466  43 733 

 Share of current year earnings  97 358  33 565 

Profit before taxation  6 836 198  6 432 931 

Taxation 4  (1 783 782)  (1 695 458)

Profit for the year  5 052 416  4 737 473 

Attributable to 

 Shareholders of the company  4 772 432  4 442 902 

 Minority shareholders  279 984  294 571 

 5 052 416  4 737 473 

Basic earnings per share (cents) 5  1 526,8  1 431,7 

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 5  1 518,1  1 428,4 

Headline earnings per share (cents) 5  1 560,6  1 474,2 

Diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 5  1 551,6  1 470,8 

Normalised headline earnings per share (cents) 5  1 560,6  1 352,3 

Dividends per share (cents) 6  720,0  702,0 
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Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
for the year ended June 30

2013
 R’000 

 2012

 R’000 

Profit for the year  5 052 416  4 737 473 

 Shareholders of the company  4 772 432  4 442 902 

 Minority shareholders  279 984  294 571 

Other comprehensive income (expense) net of taxation

 Items that may be classified subsequently to profit or loss  1 869 387  1 148 558 

 Increase in foreign currency translation reserve   1 836 112  1 144 511 

  Shareholders of the company  1 815 753  1 133 881 

  Minority shareholders  20 359  10 630 

 Increase (decrease) in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets  (9 306)  4 047 

 Increase in fair value of cash flow hedges  42 581 –

   Fair value gains arising during the year  58 722 –

   Deferred tax charge  (16 141) –

Total comprehensive income for the year  6 921 803  5 886 031 

Attributable to

 Shareholders of the company  6 621 460  5 580 830 

 Minority shareholders  300 343  305 201 

 6 921 803  5 886 031 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended June 30

 Note 

 2013
R’000 

 2012

R’000 

Cash flows from operating activities  2 666 069  4 577 878 

 Cash generated by operations 7  7 367 243  8 941 983 

 Finance income  76 659  46 256 

 Finance charges 8  (703 208)  (715 210)

 Taxation paid 9  (1 847 495)  (1 632 383)

 Distributions to shareholders 10  (2 227 130)  (2 062 768)

Cash effects of investment activities  (3 168 357)  (3 151 751)

 Amounts repaid by (advanced to) associates  36 966  (37 078)

 Proceeds on disposal of investments  427 088  1 002 891 

 Investments acquired  (530 602)  (421 034)

 Additions to property, plant and equipment  (2 606 217)  (2 468 865)

 Additions to vehicle rental fleet  (1 350 724)  (1 170 432)

 Additions to intangible assets  (301 441)  (299 327)

 Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  404 879  656 080 

 Proceeds on disposal of vehicle rental fleet  1 068 238  795 129 

 Proceeds on disposal of intangible assets  14 188  4 778 

 Acquisition of businesses, subsidiaries and associates 11  (514 955)  (1 253 009)

 Proceeds on disposal of interests in subsidiaries and associates, and 

  disposal and closure of businesses 12  184 223  39 116 

Cash effects of financing activities  2 459 971  165 521 

 Proceeds from share issues  

 – Company –  56 247 

 – subsidiaries  30 635  42 415 

 Sale of treasury shares  151 539  182 188 

 Borrowings raised  11 874 439  8 099 715 

 Borrowings repaid  (9 596 642) (8 215 044)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  1 957 683  1 591 648 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  4 615 458  2 809 043 

Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents  519 014  214 767 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  7 092 155  4 615 458 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise

Cash and cash equivalents  23  8 452 559  5 871 306 

Bank overdrafts included in short-term portion of borrowings  27  (1 360 404)  (1 255 848)

 7 092 155  4 615 458 
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Consolidated statement of financial position
at June 30

 Note 

 2013
 R’000 

2012

 R’000 

ASSETS 

Non-current assets  28 820 557  24 756 540 

 Property, plant and equipment 13  13 872 872  12 445 541 

 Intangible assets 14  1 025 768  860 957 

 Goodwill 15  8 853 973  7 449 997 

 Deferred taxation assets 16  519 828  413 427 

 Defined benefit pension surplus 28  101 794  100 215 

 Interest in associates 17  1 199 879  1 089 858 

 Investments 18  2 507 906  1 889 141 

 Banking and other advances 19  738 537  507 404 

Current assets  37 857 862  31 138 606 

 Vehicle rental fleet 20  1 363 704  1 272 720 

 Inventories 21  11 839 302  10 248 120 

 Short-term portion of banking and other advances 19  276 173  211 215 

 Trade and other receivables 22  15 926 124  13 535 245 

 Cash and cash equivalents 23  8 452 559  5 871 306 

Total assets  66 678 419  55 895 146 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Capital and reserves  27 550 719  22 599 453 

 Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of the company 24  26 373 592  21 630 154 

 Minority shareholders  1 177 127  969 299 

Non-current liabilities  8 937 319  5 498 206 

 Deferred taxation liabilities 16  604 586  553 919 

 Life assurance fund 26  30 174  31 640 

 Long-term portion of borrowings 27  7 469 635  4 039 858 

 Post-retirement obligations 28  312 739  380 669 

 Long-term portion of provisions 32  371 353  340 289 

 Long-term portion of operating lease liabilities 30  148 832  151 831 

Current liabilities  30 190 381  27 797 487 

 Trade and other payables 31  21 858 775  20 001 100 

 Short-term portion of provisions 32  363 136  308 261 

 Vendors for acquisition  113 971  61 325 

 Taxation  299 967  298 240 

 Banking liabilities 29  2 024 236  1 681 679 

 Short-term portion of borrowings 27  5 530 296  5 446 882 

Total equity and liabilities  66 678 419  55 895 146 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended June 30

2013
R’000 

 2012

R’000 

Equity attributable to shareholders of the company  26 373 592  21 630 154 

 Share capital  16 387  16 387 

  Balance at beginning of the year  16 387  16 367 

  Shares issued during the year –  20 

 Share premium  137 485  137 485 

  Balance at beginning of the year  137 485  81 258 

  Shares issued during the year –  56 260 

  Share issue costs –  (33)

 Foreign currency translation reserve  3 181 802  1 366 049 

  Balance at beginning of the year  1 366 049  248 830 

  Realisation of reserve on disposal of subsidiaries –  (16 662)

  Arising during the year  1 815 753  1 133 881 

 Statutory reserves – –

  Balance at beginning of the year –  15 894 

  Transfer to retained earnings –  (15 894)

  Hedging reserve  42 581 –

  Balance at beginning of the year – –

  Fair value gains arising during the year  58 722 –

  Deferred tax recognised directly in reserve  (16 141) –

 Equity-settled share-based payment reserve  255 319  165 237 

  Balance at beginning of the year  165 237  391 430 

  Arising during current year  119 414  121 454 

  Deferred tax recognised directly in reserve  15 859  1 419 

  Utilisation during the year  (45 191)  (56 273)

  Transfer to retained earnings –  (292 793)

 Movement in retained earnings  24 592 164  21 948 681 

  Balance at beginning of the year  21 948 681  19 101 358 

  Attributable profit  4 772 432  4 442 902 

  Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets  (9 306)  4 047 

  Net dividends paid  (2 088 982)  (1 920 923)

  Transfer of reserves as a result of changes in shareholding of subsidiaries  (30 661)  12 610 

  Transfer from other reserves –  308 687 

 Treasury shares  (1 852 146)  (2 003 685)

  Balance at beginning of the year  (2 003 685)  (2 185 873)

  Shares disposed of in terms of share incentive scheme  151 539  182 188 

Equity attributable to minority shareholders of the company  1 177 127  969 299 

 Balance at beginning of the year  969 299  787 728 

 Attributable profit  279 984  294 571 

 Movement in foreign currency translation reserve  20 359  10 630 

 Dividends paid  (138 148)  (141 845)

 Movement in equity-settled share-based payment reserve  236  69 

 Capital invested  30 635  42 415 

 Changes in shareholding  (15 899)  (11 659)

 Transfer of reserves as a result of changes in shareholding of subsidiaries  30 661  (12 610)

Total equity  27 550 719  22 599 453 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30

 2013
 R’000 

2012

 R’000 

1. Revenue
Sale of goods  119 925 966  104 768 528 

Rendering of services  12 485 927  12 155 384 

Commissions and fees earned  1 005 102  964 799 

Gross billings relating to clearing and forwarding transactions  22 887 951  18 558 825 

Insurance  248 253  330 945 

 156 553 199  136 778 481 

Inter-group eliminations  (3 148 667)  (3 244 848)

Revenue  153 404 532  133 533 633 

2. Operating profit
Determined after charging (crediting)

Auditors’ remuneration  77 530  70 009 

 Audit fees  62 604  56 752 

 Audit-related expenses  1 114  804 

 Consulting fees  4 468  1 585 

 Taxation services  4 405  4 605 

 Other services  4 939  6 263 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  1 724 699  1 710 363 

 Buildings  75 823  45 037 

 Leasehold premises  74 047  67 261 

 Plant and equipment  542 809  530 592 

 Office equipment, furniture and fittings  289 672  289 495 

 Vehicles, vessels and craft  443 316  384 366 

 Rental assets  130 662  123 411 

 Capitalised leased assets  4 166  3 354 

 Full maintenance lease assets  164 204  266 847 

Depreciation of vehicle rental fleet  192 300  166 281 

Amortisation of intangible assets  180 265  125 220 

 Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles  43 862  35 252 

 Computer software  136 403  89 968 

Impairment of assets  392 555  256 971 

 Property, plant and equipment  3 536  13 223 

 Intangible assets  98 637  8 263 

 Goodwill  29 328  8 141 

 Banking and other advances  18 022  6 089 

 Trade receivables  243 032  221 255 

Impairment and (reversal) of impairment of associates (refer note 17)  (5 000)  96 700 

Directors’ emoluments

 Executive directors 78 010  95 175 

  Basic remuneration 36 811  46 058 

  Retirement and medical benefits 2 656  3 033 

  Other benefits and costs 2 456  3 053 

  Cash incentives  36 087  43 031 

 Non-executive directors  6 809  8 663 

  Fees  5 155  4 032 

  Emoluments for other services  1 654  4 631 

Employer contributions to  1 003 898  897 739 

 Defined contribution pension funds  109 032  103 557 

 Provident funds  451 117  411 689 

 Retirement funds  58 829  59 736 

 Social securities  122 715  74 052 

 Medical aid funds  262 205  248 705 
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 2013
 R’000 

2012

 R’000 

2. Operating profit (continued)

Expense (income) related to post-retirement obligations for current service costs  (54 667)  13 973 

 Defined benefit pension plans  26 190  29 526 

 Post-retirement medical aid obligations  (30 642)  27 433 

 Defined benefit early retirement plan  (50 215)  (42 986)

Share-based payment expense  119 650  121 527 

 Staff  91 752  84 845 

 Executive directors  27 898  36 682 

Staff costs excluding directors’ emoluments and employer contributions 15 499 988  13 862 720 

Fees for administrative, managerial and technical services  9 835  5 728 

Research and development expenditure  1 348  485 

Foreign exchange losses (gains) on hedging activities  (11 464)  (8 145)

 Forward exchange contracts  (11 858)  (7 542)

 Foreign bank accounts  394  (603)

Other foreign exchange gains  (55 949)  (91 710)

 Realised  (41 147)  (89 476)

 Unrealised  (14 802)  (2 234)

Income from investments  (450 996)  (681 209)

 Dividends received from listed investments  (29 393)  (27 700)

 Dividends received from unlisted investments  (553)  (49)

 Profit on disposal  (109 642)  (447 877)

 Fair value adjustments on investments held-for-trading  (311 408)  (205 583)

Net capital loss (profit)  (24 025)  7 416 

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  6 214  43 

Net loss on disposal of intangible assets –  9 012 

Net profit on disposal of interests in subsidiaries and associates, and disposal and  

 closure of businesses  (30 239)  (1 639)

JSE fees  258  219 

Operating lease charges  1 720 631  1 578 821 

 Land and buildings  1 298 215  1 239 179 

 Equipment and vehicles  422 416  339 642 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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3. Net finance charges
Finance income  231 567  147 034 

 Interest income on banking and other advances  176 877  95 515 

 Interest income on bank balances  48 996  46 199 

 Interest income on unimpaired available-for-sale financial investments  5 694  5 320 

Finance charges  (912 930)  (890 029)

 Interest expense on banking liabilities  (72 645)  (60 689)

 Interest expense on bank overdrafts  (191 258)  (203 221)

 Interest expense on listed bonds and commercial paper  (348 137)  (314 897)

 Interest expense on financed assets  (5 880)  (6 407)

 Interest expense on vehicle lease creditors and floorplan creditors  (33 606)  (38 379)

 Interest expense on other borrowings  (191 597)  (211 518)

 Interest imputed on post-retirement obligations  (72 355)  (60 487)

 Less borrowing costs capitalised to property, plant and equipment  2 548  5 569 

 (681 363)  (742 995)

Less net finance income from banking operations included in operating profit  (83 183)  (41 671)

 Income  (154 908)  (100 778)

 Charges  71 725  59 107 

 (764 546)  (784 666)

The applicable weighted average interest rate is used to determine the amount of borrowing  

costs eligible for capitalisation.

4. Taxation
Current taxation  1 793 311  1 592 849 

 Current year  1 782 641  1 620 284 

 Prior years under (over) provision  10 670  (27 435)

Deferred taxation  (19 870)  (7 549)

 Current year  (5 286)  (24 391)

 Prior years under (over) provision  (5 475)  14 627 

 Change in rate of taxation  (9 109)  2 215 

Secondary taxation on companies –  99 756 

Foreign withholding taxation  10 341  10 402 

Total taxation per consolidated income statement  1 783 782  1 695 458 

Comprising

 South African taxation  1 151 932  1 056 534 

 Foreign taxation  631 850  638 924 

 1 783 782  1 695 458 
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4. Taxation (continued)

The reconciliation of the effective tax rate with the company tax rate is:

Taxation for the year as a percentage of profit before taxation  26,1  26,4 

Associates  0,8  0,3 

Secondary taxation on companies –  (1,5)

Effective rate excluding secondary taxation on companies and associate income  26,9  25,2 

Dividend and exempt income  2,0  3,7 

Foreign taxation rate differential  (0,2)  (0,2)

Non-deductible expenses  (1,3)  (1,1)

Utilisation of deferred taxation assets not previously raised  0,5  0,1 

Exempt portion of capital gains  0,1  0,1 

Changes in prior years’ estimation  (0,1)  0,2 

Change in rate of taxation  0,1 –

Rate of South African company taxation  28,0  28,0 

 R’000  R’000 

Estimated tax losses available for offset against future taxable income  740 083  413 376 

Utilised in the computation of deferred taxation  (415 680)  (192 033)

Not accounted for in deferred taxation  324 403  221 343 

Deferred taxation assets have not been recognised in respect of these tax losses as the directors 

believe it is not probable that the relevant companies will generate taxable profit in the near future, 

against which the benefits can be utilised.

5. Earnings per share
Weighted average number of shares (’000)

Weighted average number of shares in issue for basic earnings per share and  

 headline earnings per share calculations  312 577  310 324 

Potential dilutive impact of outstanding staff share options and conditional awards  1 802  713 

 Number of outstanding staff share options  11 178  10 795 

 Number of share options deemed to be issued at fair value  (9 690)  (10 280)

 Contingent issuable shares in terms of conditional share plan to be issued at fair value  314  198 

Adjusted weighted average number of shares in issue used for the calculation  

 of diluted earnings and diluted headline earnings per share  314 379  311 037 

Attributable earnings (R’000) 

Basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share are based on profit attributable to 

 shareholders of the company  4 772 432  4 442 902 

Basic earnings per share (cents)  1 526,8  1 431,7 

Diluted basic earnings per share (cents)  1 518,1  1 428,4 

Dilution (%)  0,6  0,2 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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5. Earnings per share (continued)

Headline earnings

Profit attributable to shareholders of the company  4 772 432  4 442 902 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets  101 101  26 470 

 Property, plant and equipment  3 536  13 223 

 Goodwill  29 328  8 141 

 Intangible assets  98 637  8 263 

 Tax relief  (30 400)  (1 134)

 Minority shareholders –  (2 023)

Net loss (profit) on disposal of interests in subsidiaries and disposal and closure of businesses  12 779  (968)

 Net loss (profit) on disposal and closure  17 749  (2 614)

 Tax charge (relief)  (4 970)  1 646 

Net loss (profit) on disposal, impairment and reversal of impairment of investments in associate  (41 230)  97 675 

 Net loss (profit) on change in shareholding in associates  (47 988)  975 

 Impairment of investment in associate  75 000  96 700 

 Reversal of impairment of investment in associate  (80 000) – 

 Tax charge  11 758 – 

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  4 183  8 793 

 Property, plant and equipment  6 214  43 

 Intangible assets –  9 012 

 Tax relief  (2 031)  (1 525)

 Minority shareholders –  1 263 

Non-headline earnings items included in equity-accounted earnings of associated companies  28 755 – 

Headline earnings  4 878 020  4 574 872 

Profit on partial disposal of investment in Mumbai International Airport Private Limited –  (399 100)

Secondary taxation on companies on special dividend paid –  20 781 

Normalised headline earnings  4 878 020  4 196 553 

Headline earnings per share (cents)  1 560,6  1 474,2 

Diluted headline earnings per share (cents)  1 551,6  1 470,8 

Dilution (%)  0,6  0,2 

Normalised headline earnings per share (cents)  1 560,6  1 352,3 

6. Dividend per share
Interim dividend (cents)

 Dividend paid to shareholders on April 2 2013 (2012: Dividend paid to shareholders  

  on April 16 2012)  324,0  280,0 

Final dividend (cents)

 Dividend payable to shareholders on September 23 2013 (2012: Dividend payable to  

  shareholders on September 25 2012)  396,0  342,0 

Special dividend

 Dividend paid to shareholders on April 2 2012 –  80,0 

 720,0  702,0 
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7. Cash generated by operations
Profit before taxation  6 836 198  6 432 931 

Costs incurred in respect of acquisitions  14 181  17 762 

Net finance charges  764 546  784 666 

Share of current year earnings of associates  (97 358)  (33 565)

Adjustment for depreciation and amortisation  2 097 264  2 001 864 

Adjustment for other non-cash items  (244 115)  (454 466)

Reduction in post-retirement obligations  (110 832)  (2 419)

Decrease in life assurance fund  (1 466)  (2 374)

Working capital changes  (1 891 175)  197 584 

Increase in inventories  (894 074)  (825 498)

Increase in trade and other receivables  (895 115)  (967 606)

Increase in banking and other advances  (296 091)  (270 683)

Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables and provisions  (148 452)  1 855 588 

Increase in banking liabilities  342 557  405 783 

Cash generated by operations  7 367 243  8 941 983 

8. Finance charges
Charge per income statement  (841 205)  (830 922)

Amounts capitalised to borrowings  140 545  121 281 

Amounts capitalised to property, plant and equipment  (2 548)  (5 569)

Amounts paid  (703 208)  (715 210)

9. Taxation paid
Amounts payable at beginning of year  (298 240)  (201 313)

Current taxation charge  (1 803 652)  (1 703 007)

Businesses acquired  (10 125)  (7 208)

Businesses disposed of –  1 366 

Exchange rate adjustments  (35 445)  (20 461)

Amounts payable at end of year  299 967  298 240 

Amounts paid  (1 847 495)  (1 632 383)

10. Distributions to shareholders
Dividends paid to shareholders  (2 182 715)  (2 014 585)

Dividends received by subsidiaries on treasury shares  93 733  93 662 

Dividends paid to minority shareholders  (138 148)  (141 845)

Amounts paid  (2 227 130)  (2 062 768)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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11. Acquisition of businesses, subsidiaries and associates
Property, plant and equipment  (138 467)  (234 212)

Deferred taxation  (190)  25 399 

Interest in associates  (100 548)  (424 180)

Inventories  (103 497)  (225 368)

Trade and other receivables  (197 255)  (237 690)

Cash and cash equivalents  (88 309)  (1 583)

Borrowings  227 602  60 119 

Trade and other payables and provisions  222 899  221 227 

Taxation  10 125  7 208 

Net fair value of liabilities (assets)  (167 640)  (809 080)

Goodwill  (450 456)  (486 927)

Intangible assets  (7 734)  (1 609)

Minority shareholders  (15 899) – 

Total value of acquisitions  (641 729)  (1 297 616)

Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired  88 309  1 583 

Vendors for acquisition at beginning of year  (61 325)  (539)

Vendors for acquisition at end of year  113 971  61 325 

Costs incurred in respect of acquisitions  (14 181)  (17 762)

Net amounts paid  (514 955)  (1 253 009)

The Group acquired 100% of the issued capital of MGS Management Services Limited T/A South Lincs Foodservice with effect from  

July 1 2012, for £10 million, and 75% of the capital of Oliver Kay Limited with effect from October 30 2012, for £8 million. Both these 

acquisitions operate in the foodservice industry in the United Kingdom.

The Group also undertook a number of other smaller acquisitions during the year.
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11. Acquisition of businesses, subsidiaries and associates (continued)

The impact of the above acquisitions on the Group’s results can be 

summarised as follows:

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Property, plant and equipment  27 312  2 125  109 030  138 467 

Deferred taxation  (403)  1 280  (687)  190 

Interest in associates  100 548  100 548 

Inventories  15 246  5 992  82 259  103 497 

Trade and other receivables  34 069  65 449  97 737  197 255 

Cash and cash equivalents  56  107 611  (19 358)  88 309 

Borrowings  (13 023)  (148 571)  (66 008)  (227 602)

Trade and other payables and provisions  (30 229)  (55 139)  (137 531)  (222 899)

Taxation  (5 500)  (3 402)  (1 223)  (10 125)

Intangible assets – –  7 734  7 734 

Total net identifiable assets  27 528  (24 655)  172 501  175 374 

Contribution to results of the year

Revenue  297 453  284 022  627 673  1 209 148 

Operating profit before acquisition costs  24 948  26 677  (6 705)  44 920 

Contribution to results for the year had the acquisitions been  
effective on July 1 2012

Revenue  297 453  416 304  932 407  1 646 164 

Operating profit before acquisition costs  24 366  38 634  7 206  70 206 

2013
 R’000 

2012

 R’000 

12. Proceeds on disposal of interest in subsidiaries and 
associates and disposal and closure of businesses
Property, plant and equipment  4 709 10 296

Intangibles – 1 512

Goodwill  4 605  – 

Deferred taxation – 9 032

Interest in associates  76 049 9 283

Inventories  77 483 22 818

Trade and other receivables  270 44 867

Cash and cash equivalents  379 (585)

Borrowings – (460)

Trade and other payables and provisions  (9 132) (30 185)

Taxation – (1 366)

Net fair value of tangible assets  154 363 65 212

Minority shareholders – (11 658)

Realisation of foreign currency translation reserves – (16 662)

Net profit on disposal of interest in subsidiaries and associates, and disposal  

 and closure of businesses  30 239 1 639

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (overdrafts) disposed of  (379) 585

Net proceeds  184 223 39 116

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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13. Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land and buildings  4 963 219 4 007 411

 Cost  6 092 579 4 874 719

 Accumulated depreciation and impairments  (1 129 360) (867 308)

Leasehold premises  1 042 630 1 019 570

 Cost  1 638 299 1 568 270

 Accumulated depreciation and impairments  (595 669) (548 700)

Plant and equipment  2 860 246 2 610 217

 Cost  7 057 721 6 132 502

 Accumulated depreciation and impairments  (4 197 475) (3 522 285)

Office equipment, furniture and fittings  845 710 798 821

 Cost  2 997 847 2 673 127

 Accumulated depreciation and impairments  (2 152 137) (1 874 306)

Vehicles, vessels and craft  2 177 650 1 953 753

 Cost  4 920 518 4 269 218

 Accumulated depreciation and impairments  (2 742 868) (2 315 465)

Rental assets  263 555 274 228

 Cost  766 002 714 133

 Accumulated depreciation and impairments  (502 447) (439 905)

Capitalised leased assets  12 999 11 315

 Cost  70 690 55 298

 Accumulated depreciation and impairments  (57 691) (43 983)

Full maintenance leased assets  1 223 601 1 506 212

 Cost  1 730 600 1 954 304

 Accumulated depreciation and impairments  (506 999) (448 092)

Capital work in progress  483 262 264 014

 13 872 872 12 445 541

Property, plant and equipment with an estimated carrying value of R133 million (2012:  

R175 million) is pledged as security for borrowings of R129 million (2012: R141 million)  

(refer note 27).

A register of land and buildings is available for inspection by shareholders at the registered office  

of the company.

Movement in property, plant and equipment

Carrying value at beginning of year  12 445 541  11 603 183 

Capital expenditure  2 608 765  2 474 434 

 Freehold land and buildings  533 483  365 034 

 Leasehold premises  101 591  110 066 

 Plant and equipment  668 784  547 375 

 Office equipment, furniture and fittings  309 341  259 252 

 Vehicles, vessels and craft  555 029  593 640 

 Rental assets  134 809  133 527 

 Capitalised leased assets  3 560 –

 Full maintenance leased assets  100 649  412 176 

 Capital work in progress  201 519  53 364 

  Expenditure  691 786  403 300 

  Transfers to other categories  (490 267)  (349 936)

Balance carried forward 15 054 306 14 077 617
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13. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Movement in property, plant and equipment (continued)

Balance brought forward 15 054 306 14 077 617

Acquisition of businesses  138 467  234 212 

 Freehold land and buildings  91 684  128 647 

 Plant and equipment  27 390  32 221 

 Office equipment, furniture and fittings  7 619  11 142 

 Vehicles, vessels and craft  11 774  44 908 

 Rental assets –  4 723 

 Capital work in progress –  12 571 

Disposals  (411 092)  (656 122)

 Freehold land and buildings  (8 156)  (58 048)

 Leasehold premises  (50 885)  (6)

 Plant and equipment  (34 649)  (20 033)

 Office equipment, furniture and fittings  (7 405)  (6 328)

 Vehicles, vessels and craft  (76 034)  (148 728)

 Rental assets  (14 907)  (10 271)

 Capitalised leased assets –  (17)

 Full maintenance leased assets  (219 056)  (404 538)

 Capital work in progress –  (8 153)

Disposal of businesses  (4 709)  (10 296)

 Freehold land and buildings –  (872)

 Leasehold premises –  (311)

 Plant and equipment  (1 844)  (3 521)

 Office equipment, furniture and fittings  (2 865)  (3 521)

 Vehicles, vessels and craft –  (1 311)

 Rental assets –  (760)

Exchange rate adjustments  824 135  523 716 

 Freehold land and buildings  414 620  234 664 

 Leasehold premises  46 401  42 262 

 Plant and equipment  136 693  90 337 

 Office equipment, furniture and fittings  29 871  23 123 

 Vehicles, vessels and craft  176 444  122 336 

 Rental assets  87  217 

 Capitalised leased assets  2 290  791 

 Capital work in progress  17 729  9 986 

Depreciation (refer note 2)  (1 724 699)  (1 710 363)

Impairments losses (refer note 2)  (3 536)  (13 223)

Carrying value at end of year  13 872 872  12 445 541

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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14. Intangible assets
Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles  260 664  230 677 

 Cost  1 296 460  1 184 933 

 Accumulated amortisation and impairments  (1 035 796)  (954 256)

Computer software  744 847  596 042 

 Cost  1 906 485  1 439 685 

 Accumulated amortisation and impairments  (1 161 638)  (843 643)

Capital work in progress  20 257  34 238 

 1 025 768  860 957 

Movement in intangible assets

Carrying value at beginning of year  860 957  672 105 

Additions  301 441  299 327 

 Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles  25 790  13 932 

 Computer software  291 502  293 798 

 Capital work in progress  (15 851)  (8 403)

  Expenditure  32 442  53 236 

  Transfers to other categories  (48 293)  (61 639)

Acquisition of businesses  7 734  1 609 

 Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles  5 809  1 474 

 Computer software  1 925  37 

 Capital work in progress –  98 

Disposals  (14 188)  (13 790)

 Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles  (1 400)  (9 012)

 Computer software  (12 788)  (4 778)

Disposal of businesses –  (1 512)

 Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles –  (1 477)

 Computer software –  (35)

Exchange rate adjustments  148 726  36 701 

 Patents, trademarks, tradenames and other intangibles  43 650  12 156 

 Computer software  103 206  20 895 

 Capital work in progress  1 870  3 650 

Amortisation (refer note 2)  (180 265)  (125 220)

Impairment losses (refer note 2)  (98 637)  (8 263)

Carrying value at end of year  1 025 768  860 957 

The amortisation and impairment charges are included in other expenses in the income statement.
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15. Goodwill
Carrying value at beginning of year  7 449 997  6 354 825 

Acquisition of businesses  450 456  486 927 

Disposal of businesses  (4 605) – 

Impairment of goodwill  (29 328)  (8 141)

Exchange rate adjustments  987 453  616 386 

Carrying value at end of year  8 853 973  7 449 997 

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been attributed to individual cash-

generating units. The carrying amount of goodwill was subject to an annual impairment test as  

at March 31 using either the discounted cash flow basis or at fair value less costs to sell method. 

An amount of R29 million (2012: R8 million) was identified as being impaired for the current 

financial year.

The most significant portion of the Group’s goodwill, R7,8 billion (2012: R6,4 billion), relates to 

operations in Bidvest Europe and Bidvest Asia Pacific. The recoverable amount of each cash-

generating unit within these divisions was determined using the fair value less costs to sell method 

and exceeds the carrying value by some R16,3 billion (2012: R10,1 billion). These calculations 

use projected annualised earnings based on actual operating results. A price to earnings ratio 

was applied to obtain the recoverable amount for each business unit. The earning yields are 

considered to be consistent with similar companies within the industry and geographic segments. 

Attributable earnings for these operations amounted to R1 452 million (2012: R1 275 million) for 

the financial year. 

The remaining goodwill of R1,1 billion (2012: R1,0 billion) is allocated across multiple cash-

generating units. The recoverable amount for these remaining units was calculated on the 

aforementioned basis. For those units where the carrying amount was in excess of the recoverable 

amount and a permanent diminution had taken place, an impairment was recognised.

16. Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation assets  519 828  413 427 

Deferred taxation liabilities  (604 586)  (553 919)

Net deferred taxation liability  (84 758)  (140 492)

Movement in net deferred taxation assets and liabilities

Balance at beginning of year  (140 492)  (116 713)

Per consolidated income statement  19 870  7 549 

Items recognised directly in share-based payment reserve  (282)  1 419 

On acquisition of businesses  190  (25 399)

On disposal of businesses –  (9 032)

Exchange rate adjustments  35 956  1 684 

Balance at end of year  (84 758)  (140 492)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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16. Deferred taxation (continued)

Temporary differences

2013

Differential between carrying values and tax values of property,  

 plant and equipment  (13 344)  (742 361)  (755 705)

Differential between carrying values and tax values of intangible assets  (6 327)  (35 722)  (42 049)

Estimated taxation losses  66 037  37 733  103 770 

Staff-related allowances and liabilities  194 672  200 980  395 652 

Operating lease liabilities  59 117  (1 873)  57 244 

Inventories  75 740  (7 923)  67 817 

Investments  (771)  (127 908)  (128 679)

Trade and other receivables  35 259  (9 844)  25 415 

Trade, other payables and provisions  109 445  82 332  191 777 

 519 828  (604 586)  (84 758)

2012

Differential between carrying values and tax values of property,  

 plant and equipment  401  (703 425)  (703 024)

Differential between carrying values and tax values of intangible assets  (8 844)  (30 695)  (39 539)

Estimated taxation losses  13 691  24 989  38 680 

Staff-related allowances and liabilities  180 593  146 033  326 626 

Operating lease liabilities  61 314  1 460  62 774 

Inventories  75 396  (13 288)  62 108 

Investments  (724)  (59 986)  (60 710)

Trade and other receivables  29 837  7 343  37 180 

Trade, other payables and provisions  61 763  73 650  135 413 

 413 427  (553 919)  (140 492)

Deferred taxation has been provided at rates ranging between 10% and 35% (2012: 10% and 35%). The variance in rates arises as a 

result of the differing tax and capital gains taxation rates present in the various countries in which the Group operates.



THE BIDVEST GROUP LIMITED

Annual Integrated Report 2013
104

2013
 R’000 

2012

 R’000 

17. Interest in associates
Listed associates  767 551  666 759 

 Net asset value at acquisition  569 508  492 206 

 Inherent goodwill  463 843  445 353 

 Provision for impairment  (265 800)  (270 800)

Unlisted associates  103 081  156 751 

 Net asset value at acquisition  72 030  92 469 

 Inherent goodwill  31 051  64 282 

Investments in associates at cost less impairments  870 632  823 510 

Attributable share of post-acquisition reserves of associates  279 028  188 476 

 At beginning of year  188 476  139 861 

 Share of current year earnings net of dividends  97 358  33 565 

 Share of movement of other reserves  3 516  15 557 

 Reversal of prior year reserves on becoming subsidiary, disposal or change in shareholding  (10 322)  (507)

Advances  50 219  77 872 

 1 199 879  1 089 858 

Advances to associates bear interest at rates of between 0% and 11% (2012: 0% and 11%)  

and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Market value of listed associates  993 280  772 500 

Directors’ valuation of unlisted associates  396 666  440 197 

 1 389 946  1 212 697 

Summarised aggregated financial information of associates: 

Income statement

Revenue  11 747 907  8 387 064 

Operating profit  745 495  357 473 

Net finance charges  (69 788)  (8 914)

Profit before taxation  675 707  348 559 

Taxation  (200 119)  (120 382)

Profit for the year  475 588  228 177 

Statement of financial position

Assets

 Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  3 720 705  2 733 935 

 Investments  32 319  52 647 

 Net current assets  809 007  693 930 

 4 562 031  3 480 512 

Equity and liabilities

 Capital and reserves  2 725 001  2 715 626 

 Deferred taxation  89 691  55 992 

 Borrowings  1 747 339  708 894 

 4 562 031  3 480 512 

Details of major associates are reflected on page 154 of this report.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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18. Investments
Listed held-for-trading  1 431 277  992 577 

Unlisted held-for-trading  773 958  760 724 

Listed available-for-sale  98 191  101 264 

Unlisted available-for-sale  204 480  34 576 

 2 507 906  1 889 141 

Fair value and hierarchy of investments

Investments held at cost  99 340  73 488 

Investments held at fair value as determined on inputs based on:  2 408 567  1 815 653 

 Unadjusted quoted prices in an active market for identical assets  1 529 468  1 066 695 

 Factors that are observable for the asset either as prices or derived from prices  62 939  148 899 

 Factors that are not based on observable market data  816 160  600 059 

 2 507 907  1 889 141 

Listed investments available-for-sale include interest-bearing listed government bonds which 

amount to R81 million (2012: R80 million), with coupon interest rates of between 8,8% to 13,5% 

(2012: 8,8% to 13,5%) which mature in one to two years (2012: two to three years). These 

investments may be realised prior to their maturity dates. 

Listed investments held-for-trading include interest-bearing listed government bonds which 

amount to R47 million (2012: R43 million), with coupon interest rates of between 6,8% and 8,0% 

(2012: 8,3%) which mature in four to eight years (2012: five years). These investments may be 

realised prior to their maturity dates. 

Included in categories, factors that are not based on observable market data, and unlisted 

investment held-for-trading, is the Group’s effective beneficial interest in the Indian-based Mumbai 

International Airport Private Limited. The carrying value of this investment based on the directors’ 

valuation at June 30 2013 is R578 million (2012: R490 million). The directors used a discounted 

cash flow method to value this investment. The anticipated cashflows were discounted at a rate 

of 15,1% (2012: 15,8%) derived from a nominal risk free rate of 7,6% (2012: 8,3%); an equity 

premium risk rate of 4,5% (2012: 4,5%); sovereign risk rate of 1,5% (2012:1,5%); and a project 

risk premium of 1,5% (2012: 1,5%).

A register of investments is available for inspection by shareholders at the registered office of the 

company.

19. Banking and other advances
Instalment finance and vehicle lease receivables  700 037  487 699 

Call and term loans  186 231  180 124 

Other  152 185  80 995 

 1 038 453  748 818 

Impairment allowances  (23 743)  (30 199)

 1 014 710  718 619 

Maturity analysis

Maturing in one year  276 173  211 215 

Maturing after one year but within five years  606 810  453 826 

Maturing after five years  131 727  53 578 

 1 014 710  718 619 

Interest rates are based on contractual agreements with customers.

Refer note 35 for further disclosure.
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2012
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20. Vehicle rental fleet
Cost  1 533 533  1 492 884 

Accumulated depreciation  (169 829)  (220 164)

 1 363 704  1 272 720 

Movement in vehicle rental fleet

Carrying value at beginning of year  1 272 720  1 063 371 

Additions  1 350 724  1 170 432 

Disposals  (1 068 238)  (795 129)

Depreciation  (192 300)  (166 281)

Exchange rate adjustments  798  327 

Carrying value at end of year  1 363 704  1 272 720 

21. Inventories
Raw materials  488 927  424 958 

Work in progress  63 691  45 115 

Finished goods  8 364 718  7 278 319 

New vehicles and motor cycles  1 221 517  958 276 

Used vehicles  708 043  657 416 

Demonstration vehicles  696 862  691 087 

Parts and accessories  295 544  192 949 

 11 839 302  10 248 120 

Ownership of new and used motor vehicle inventory acquired under floorplan arrangements 

remains with the respective floorplan provider until the purchase price has been paid.

Amounts included in borrowings relating to these assets (refer note 27).  696 832  440 383 

Amounts included in trade and other payables relating to these assets (refer note 31).  635 726  634 439 

 1 332 558  1 074 822 

Write down of inventory to net realisable value charged to the income statement  4 169  14 107 

22. Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables  14 578 539  12 401 234 

Impairment allowance  (464 321)  (437 309)

Net trade receivables  14 114 218  11 963 925 

Forward exchange contracts asset  26 566  11 142 

Interest rate swaps  57 647 –

Prepayments and other receivables  1 727 693  1 560 178 

 15 926 124  13 535 245 

The majority of trade and other receivables are fixed in the subsidiaries’ local currency. Since 

trade and other receivables have limited exposure to exchange rate fluctuations, a currency 

analysis has not been included.

Refer note 35 for further disclosure on trade receivables, impairment allowances, forward 

exchange contracts and interest rate swaps.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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2012
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23. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and at bank  8 452 559 5 871 306

Amounts included in cash and cash equivalents relating to banking and insurance  

subsidiaries where the balances form part of the reserving requirements as required by  

the Financial Services Act  195 750 231 169

24. Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of the company
Share capital

 Issued share capital  16 387  16 387 

 Share premium  137 485  137 485 

Reserves  28 071 866  23 479 967 

 Foreign currency translation reserve  3 181 802  1 366 049 

 Hedging reserve  42 581 –

 Equity-settled share-based payment reserve  255 319  165 237 

 Retained earnings  24 592 164  21 948 681 

 28 225 738  23 633 839 

Less shares held by subsidiary as treasury shares  (1 852 146)  (2 003 685)

Share capital  (709)  (789)

Share premium  (1 851 437)  (2 002 896)

Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of the company  26 373 592  21 630 154 

Reserves comprise

Company and subsidiaries  27 792 838  23 291 491 

Associates  279 028  188 476 

 28 071 866  23 479 967 
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24. Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of the company (continued)

Share capital

Authorised

540 000 000 (2012: 540 000 000) ordinary shares of 5 cents each  27 000  27 000 

Number Number

Issued

Number of shares issued  327 734 929  327 734 929 

 Balance at beginning of year  327 734 929  327 348 572 

 Shares issued in terms of the share incentive scheme –  386 357 

Less: Shares held by subsidiary as treasury shares  (13 297 150)  (14 340 363)

 Balance at beginning of year  (14 340 363)  (15 658 596)

 Sale of shares by subsidiary to staff in terms of share incentive scheme  1 043 213  1 318 233 

Less: Shares held by share purchase scheme  (882 341)  (1 442 092)

 Balance at beginning of year  (1 442 092)  (2 669 432)

 Shares acquired by staff in terms of share incentive scheme  559 751  1 227 340 

Net shares in issue  313 555 438  311 952 474 

30 000 000 (2012: 30 000 000) of the unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the directors until the next annual general 

meeting.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 

operations.

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve represents the cumulative effective portion of gains or losses arising on changes in fair value of hedging 

instruments entered into for cash flow hedges. The cumulative gain or loss arising on changes in fair value of the hedging instruments 

that are recognised and accumulated under the hedging reserve will be reclassified to profit or loss only when the hedged transaction 

affects the profit or loss, or is included as a basis adjustment to the non-financial hedge item.

Equity-settled share-based payment reserve
The equity-settled share-based payment reserve includes the fair value of the options granted and conditional share awards  

made to executive directors and staff, which have been recognised over the vesting period at fair value with a corresponding  

expense to the income statement. The reserve also includes a share-based cost resulting from an empowerment transaction  

entered into by a subsidiary.

25. Share-based payments
The Bidvest Share Incentive Scheme (Scheme) grants options and advances loans to employees of the Group to acquire shares in the 

company. Both the share options scheme and share purchase scheme have been classified as equity-settled schemes, and therefore 

an equity-settled share-based payment reserve has been recognised.

A conditional share plan, which awards employees with a conditional right to receive shares in the company, free of any cost, is also 

operated by the Group. As it is anticipated that the participants will receive shares in settlement of their awards, a share-based payment 

reserve has been recognised.

Share option scheme
The terms and conditions of the options are:

Option holders are only entitled to exercise their options if they are in the employment of the Group in accordance with the terms 

referred to hereafter, unless otherwise recommended by the board of the company to the trustees of the Bidvest Share Incentive Trust.

Option holders in the scheme may exercise the options at such times as the option holder deems fit, but not so as to result in the 

following proportions of the holder’s total number of instruments being purchased prior to: 50% of total number of instruments at  

the expiry of three years; 75% of total number of instruments at the expiry of four years; and 100% of total number of instruments  

at the expiry of five years from the date of the holder’s acceptance of an option. All options must be exercised no later than the  

10th anniversary on which they were granted unless approval is obtained from the trustees.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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25. Share-based payments (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are:

2013 2012

Number 

Average 
price

R Number 

 Average 

price 

R 

Beginning of the year  9 353 410  118,50  6 716 407  96,51 

Granted  2 575 500  208,91  4 063 000  135,11 

Lapsed  (760 397)  109,84  (90 476)  104,12 

Exercised  (872 758)  56,63  (1 335 521)  59,50 

End of the year  10 295 755  147,00  9 353 410  118,50 

The options outstanding at June 30 2013 have an exercise price in 

the range of R39,10 to R208,91 (2012: R39,10 to R165,72) and a 

weighted average contractual life of 0,5 to 9,8 years (2012: 1,0 to  

9,5 years). The average share price of The Bidvest Group Limited 

during the year was R221,27 (2012: R164,81).

Share options outstanding at June 30 by year of grant are:

2003  494 000  39,11 

2004  488 200  47,64  704 835  50,35 

2005  345 700  69,47  675 705  69,12 

2006  17 000  87,82  41 000  89,12 

2008 – –  12 500  112,00 

2009  31 500  100,00  41 500  100,00 

2011  2 933 855  134,96  3 349 870  135,11 

2012  3 904 000  135,13  4 034 000  135,12 

2013  2 575 500  208,91 

 10 295 755  147,00  9 353 410  118,50 

The fair value of services received in return for shares allotted is measured based on a binomial model. The contractual life of the option 

is used as an input into this model. 

The fair value of the shares allotted during the current year and the assumptions used are:

2013 2012

Fair value at measurement date (rand)  68,05 – 75,65  40,14 – 51,96 

Exercise price (rand)  208,26 – 208,91  134,56 – 160,65 

Expected volatility (%)  28,39 – 31,92  21,24 – 25,84 

Option life (years)  4,00 – 6,00  4,00 – 6,00 

Distribution yield (%)  2,87 – 2,88  2,95 – 3,21 

Risk-free interest rate (based on national government bonds) (%)  5,35 – 6,15  6,42 – 6,96 

The volatility is based on the recent historic volatility. 
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25. Share-based payments (continued)

Share purchase scheme
In terms of the share purchase scheme, the scheme advances loans to employees to acquire shares in the company. Interest is 

charged on the loans at interest rates determined by the board of directors of the company, the loans must be settled no later than the 

10th anniversary on which the shares were allotted and the shares are held by the scheme as security for the loans.

The employees are entitled to settle the loans at such times as they deem fit, but not so as to result in the following proportions of the 

employees’ total number of allotted shares being paid for prior to: 50% of total number of allotted shares at the expiry of three years; 

75% of total number of allotted shares at the expiry of four years; and 100% of total number of allotted shares at the expiry of five years 

from the date of the holder’s acceptance of the allotted share, unless otherwise determined by the board.

Distributions arising on the allotted shares are utilised to settle any interest or income tax obligations with any excess being applied to 

settle the outstanding liability.

The number and weighted average exercise prices of shares allotted in terms of the share purchase scheme are:

2013 2012

Number 

 Average 
price 

R Number

Average

price

R

Beginning of the year  1 442 092 106,65  2 669 432 109,26

Repurchased  (50 496) 104,33  (17 018) 108,54

Shares taken up by staff  (509 225) 102,36  (1 210 322) 108,89

End of year  882 371 103,40  1 442 092 106,65

The fair value of services received in return for shares allotted is measured based on a binomial model. The expected contractual life of the 

loan obligation is used as an input into this model. 

No shares were allotted during the year (2012: Nil).

Conditional share plan
In terms of the conditional share plan scheme, a conditional right to a share is awarded to employees subject to performance and vesting 

conditions. The vesting period is as follows: 50% of total number of awards vest at the expiry of three years; 75% of total number of 

awards vest at the expiry of four years; and 100% of total number of allotted awards vest at the expiry of five years from the date of the 

award, unless otherwise determined by the board. These share awards do not carry voting rights attributable to ordinary shareholders.  

A total number of 4 395 148 (2012: 3 277 349) conditional share awards are available to be granted to employees in the forthcoming year.

The fair value of services received in return for the conditional share awards has been determined by multiplying the number of conditional 

share awards expected to vest, by the share price at the date of the award less discounted by anticipated future distribution flows. A total 

number of 846 539 (2012: 886 669) of the 1 002 952 (2012: 995 169) shares are expected to vest, taking into account the performance 

of the various operations to date and forecasts to the end of the performance period, against the targets set at the time of the award. The 

average discounted share price used in the calculation of the share-based payment charge on the conditional share awards allotted during 

the year is R159,77 (2012: R134,28) per share. These awards will vest in the next four years.

11 758 (2012: 126 599) conditional share awards were forfeited as a result of performance conditions not being met.

The number of conditional share awards in terms of the conditional share award scheme are:

 2013
Number

2011

Number

Beginning of the year  995 169  1 045 000 

Allotted during the year  240 000  542 500 

Awarded during the year  (220 459)  (386 357)

Forfeited during the year  (11 758)  (126 599)

Lapsed during the year –  (79 375)

End of the year  1 002 952  995 169 

Other equity-settled share based payment schemes
Bidvest Namibia Limited, a subsidiary, also operates its own share option scheme, the expense of which has been included in the 

consolidated income statement and the resulting reserve, in the consolidated share-based payment reserve in equity. Details as to how 

this expense has been calculated have not been included above, but are published in the integrated annual report of Bidvest Namibia 

Limited, which is available on the website www.bidvest.com.na.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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26. Life assurance fund
The carrying value of the assurance fund agrees with the amount of the actuarial value of liabilities 

under life insurance policies and contracts at that date.

Net assurance fund at beginning of year  31 640  34 014 

 Gross  51 934  79 601 

 Reinsurer’s share  (20 294)  (45 587)

Transfer to income statement  (1 466)  (2 374)

 Gross  (21 394)  (27 667)

 Reinsurer’s share  19 928  25 293 

Net assurance fund at end of year  30 174  31 640 

27. Borrowings
Loans secured by mortgage bonds over fixed property (refer note 13)  29 494  20 289 

Loans secured by lien over certain property, plant and equipment in terms of financial leases  

 and suspensive sale agreements (refer note 13)  99 221  120 718 

Unsecured loans  10 813 980  7 649 502 

 Listed bonds  2 925 000  1 850 000 

 Listed commercial paper  2 134 840  2 105 842 

 Other  5 754 140  3 693 660 

Floorplan creditors secured by pledge of inventories (refer note 21)  696 832  440 383 

Borrowings  11 639 527  8 230 892 

Bank overdrafts  1 360 404  1 255 848 

Total borrowings  12 999 931  9 486 740 

Less: Short-term portion of borrowings  (5 530 296)  (5 446 882)

Long-term portion of borrowings  7 469 635  4 039 858 

Schedule of repayment of borrowings  

Year to June 2013  4 191 034 

Year to June 2014  4 169 892  1 168 543 

Year to June 2015  4 561 708  2 022 242 

Year to June 2016  1 000 925  467 308 

Year to June 2017  100 886  98 159 

Thereafter  1 806 116  283 606 

 11 639 527  8 230 892 

Total borrowings comprise

Borrowings  11 639 527  8 230 892 

 Local subsidiaries  6 451 277  5 127 347 

 Foreign subsidiaries  5 188 250  3 103 545 

Overdrafts  1 360 404  1 255 848 

 Local subsidiaries  1 360 404  1 217 094 

 Foreign subsidiaries  –  38 754 

 12 999 931  9 486 740 

% %

Effective weighted average rate of interest on

Local borrowings excluding overdrafts  7,5  8,0 

Foreign borrowings excluding overdrafts  2,3 2,7
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2013 2012

Currency Nominal
interest rate

%

Year of 
maturity

Carrying
value
R’000

Carrying

value

R’000 

27. Borrowings (continued)

Terms and debt repayment schedule

Terms and conditions of outstanding loans were:

Borrowings of local subsidiaries  6 451 277 5 127 347

  Loans secured by lien over certain property, 

plant and equipment in terms of financial leases 

and suspensive sale agreements ZAR 9,0 – 10,5 2016  390 –

 Listed bonds ZAR 7,2 – 10,2 2014 – 2018  2 925 000  1 850 000 

 Commercial paper ZAR 5,3 – 5,8 2014  2 134 840  2 105 842 

 Unsecured loans ZAR 5,3 – 11,5 2014 – 2020  694 215  731 122 

  Floorplan creditors secured by pledge of 

inventories ZAR 7,3 – 8,5 2014  696 832  440 383 

Borrowings of foreign subsidiaries  5 188 250  3 103 545 

  Loans secured by mortgage bonds over fixed 

property  GBP 2,2 – 9,6 2014 – 2019  29 494  20 289 

  Loans secured by lien over certain property, plant 

and equipment in terms of financial leases and 

suspensive sale agreements  GBP 5,6 – 8,0 2014 – 2017  4 245  7 078 

 PLN 3,4 – 4,1 2016 – 2017  24 640  24 390 

 EUR 3,0 – 4,5 2014 – 2031  69 946  85 494 

 Other  –  3 756 

 Unsecured loans  GBP 4,5 2015  451 575  517 752 

 EUR 1,8 – 8,9 2014 – 2020  2 080 470  220 782 

 USD 1,3 – 10,0 2014  18 299  53 944 

 HKD 1,0 – 3,8 2014 – 2016  1 005 351  784 409 

 SGD 1,1 – 1,2 2014 – 2015  655 442  610 680 

 CZK 1,6 – 2,9 2018  724 276  730 075 

 PLN 3,4 – 4,1 2017  48 254  39 665 

 NZD 4,9 2014  48 262  – 

 Other 1,6 – 17,4 2013 – 2015  27 996  5 231 

Total interest-bearing borrowings  11 639 527  8 230 892 

The expected maturity dates are not expected to  

differ from the contractual maturity dates.

Refer note 35 for further disclosure.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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28. Post-retirement obligations
Defined benefit pension surplus  (101 794)  (100 215)

Post-retirement obligations  312 739  380 669 

Post-retirement medical aid obligations  124 825  185 203 

Unfunded defined benefit early retirement plan  187 914  195 466 

 210 945  280 454 

Pension and provident funds
The Group provides retirement benefits for its permanent employees through pension funds with 

defined benefit and defined contribution categories and defined contribution provident funds or 

appropriate industry funds.

There are also a number of small funds within various employers of the Group. All funds are 

administered independently of the Group and are subject to the relevant pension fund legislation.

Employer contributions are set out in note 2. 

Summarised details of the defined benefit funds

Number of members at June 30  2 502  2 587

R’000 R’000

Employer contribution  72 255  73 589 

Employee contribution  6 362  1 067 

Total pension fund asset

 Fair value of plan assets  1 306 321  1 010 886 

 Actuarial present value of defined benefit obligations  (1 197 304)  (847 436)

 Surplus in the plans  109 017  163 450 

 Unrecognised actuarial losses (gains)  68 085  (40 545)

 Surplus in the plans not recognised due to the uncertainties 

  relating to the apportionment of these surpluses  (75 308)  (22 690)

 101 794  100 215 

Movement in the liability for defined benefit obligations

 Balance at beginning of year  (847 436)  (471 499)

 Recognised on take-on of funds  –  (273 642)

 Benefits paid by plans  41 210  25 766 

 Current service costs  (68 949)  (54 490)

 Interest  (52 062)  (53 218)

 Member contributions  (935)  (1 067)

 Actuarial losses  (128 548)  (101 879)

 Settlement  –  106 534 

 Exchange rate adjustments on foreign plans  (140 584)  (23 941)

 Balance at end of year  (1 197 304)  (847 436)
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28. Post-retirement obligations (continued)

Pension and provident funds (continued)

Movement in the plan’s assets

 Balance at beginning of year  1 010 886  714 098 

 Recognised on take-on of funds  –  273 642 

 Contributions paid into the plans  78 617  74 656 

 Benefits paid by the plans  (43 112)  (27 806)

 Expected return on plan’s assets  65 607  79 535 

 Actuarial gains  56 677  28 201 

 Transfer on settlement  –  (157 568)

 Exchange rate adjustments on foreign plans  137 646  26 128 

 Balance at end of year  1 306 321  1 010 886 

The plan’s assets comprise

 Cash  20 929  76 101 

 Equity securities  306 076  294 245 

 Bonds  898 155  597 162 

 Property  20 044  1 975 

 Other  61 117  41 403 

 1 306 321  1 010 886 

Amounts recognised in the income statement

 Current service costs  68 949  54 490 

 Interest on obligations  52 062  53 218 

 Expected return on plan’s assets  (65 607)  (79 535)

 Net actuarial losses recognised in current year  1 309  28 285 

  Net amounts not recognised in income statement or statement of the financial position 

  of the Group due to the uncertainties relating to the apportionment of the pension  

fund surpluses  21 539  26 286 

  78 252  82 744 

Actual return on plan assets  116 189  46 791 

Key actuarial assumptions % % 

 Expected rate of return on plan assets  3,4 – 8,2  7,0 – 8,4 

 Discount rate  2,2 – 8,2  1,1 – 8,4 

 Inflation rate  1,9 – 5,7  1,5 – 5,5 

 Salary increase rate  1,9 – 6,7  1,5 – 6,5 

 Pension increase allowance  4,0  3,9 

 Date of valuations  June 30 2013 June 30 2012

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables. 

The expected long-term rate of return is based on the expected rate of returns on the individual 

asset categories. The return is based exclusively on historical returns, without adjustments.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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28. Post-retirement obligations (continued)

Pension and provident funds (continued)

The Group expects to pay R61,7 million (2012: R76,0 million)  

in contributions to defined benefit plans in the year ending  

June 30 2014.

Historical information 

 Actuarial present value of the defined benefit obligations  (1 197 304) (847 436)  (471 499)  (444 957)  (468 574)

 Fair value of plan’s assets  1 306 321 1 010 886  714 098  709 702  668 804 

 Surpluses in the plans  109 017 163 450  242 599  264 745  200 230 

 Experience adjustments arising on plan’s liabilities  

  – gains (losses)  (128 548) (101 879)  (24 318)  7 601  4 763 

 Experience adjustments arising on plan’s assets  

  – gains (losses)  56 677 59 920  2 054  44 628  (98 448)

 2013
R’000

2012

R’000

Post-retirement medical aid obligations

The Group provides post-retirement medical benefit subsidies to certain retired employees and is 

responsible for the provision of post-retirement medical benefit subsidies to a limited number of 

current employees.

Provision for post-retirement medical aid obligations

 Opening provision raised against unfunded obligation  185 203  163 861 

 Expense (income) recognised in income statement  (30 642)  27 433 

 Payments charged against provisions  (29 736)  (9 821)

 Acquisition of businesses  –  3 730 

 Closing provision raised against unfunded obligation  124 825  185 203 

Actuarially determined present value of total obligation using projected unit credit  

 valuation method  124 825 185 203

Key actuarial assumptions %  % 

 Discount rate  8,2  8,4 

 Inflation rate (CPI)  5,7  5,5 

 Healthcare cost inflation  8,1 6,1

A change in the medical inflation rates will not have a significant impact on the post-retirement 

medical aid costs and related obligations.

Historical information

 2013
R’000 

 2012

R’000 

 2011

R’000 

 2010

R’000 

 2009

R’000

 Present value of the unfunded obligations  (124 825)  (185 203)  (163 861)  (174 465)  (182 884)

 Experience adjustments arising on plan’s 

  liabilities – losses (gains)  (45 955)  9 704  (18 686)  1 816  148 

Unfunded defined benefit early retirement plan

A subsidiary provides an early retirement plan for its employees. The liability recognised is based 

on the actuarial valuation performed as at June 30.

 2013 2012

Number of members at June 30  423 512

R’000 R’000

Total unfunded pension liability

 Actuarial present value of defined benefit obligations  164 664  154 135 

 Unrecognised actuarial gains  23 250  41 331 

 187 914  195 466 
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28. Post-retirement obligations (continued)

Unfunded defined benefit early retirement plan (continued)

Movement in the liability for unfunded defined benefit early retirement plan

 Balance at beginning of year  154 135  182 450 

 Benefits paid by employer  (48 374)  (44 803)

 Current service costs  4 413  4 593 

 Interest  5 628  7 269 

 Actuarial gains (losses)  19 754  (6 832)

 Exchange rate adjustments on foreign plans  29 108  11 458 

 Balance at end of year  164 664  154 135 

Amounts recognised in income statement

 Current service costs  4 413  4 593 

 Interest on obligations  5 628  7 269 

 Net actuarial gains recognised in current year  (54 628)  (47 579)

  (44 587)  (35 717)

Key actuarial assumptions %  % 

 Discount rate  3,5  3,9 

 Salary increase rate  1,9  1,5 

 Date of valuation  June 30 2013  June 30 2012 

 2013
R’000 

 2012

R’000 

 2011

R’000 

 2010

R’000 

 2009

R’000 

Historical information

Present value of the unfunded obligations  (164 664)  (154 135)  (182 450)  (177 190)  (210 715)

Experience adjustments arising on plan’s 

 liabilities – losses (gains)  (19 754)  6 832  (6 276)  (10 543)  (35 940)

2013
R’000 

2011

 R’000 

29. Banking liabilities
Call deposits  1 254 372  970 255 

Fixed and notice deposits  769 864  711 424 

 2 024 236  1 681 679 

All banking liabilities mature within one year.

Effective rates of interest % %

Call deposits  3,2  2,1 

Fixed and notice deposits  5,5  6,2 

Banking liabilities other than fixed and notice deposits are at floating interest rates.

Refer note 35 for further disclosure.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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 2013
 R’000 

2012

 R’000 

30. Operating leases
The Group has entered into various operating lease agreements in respect of premises. 

Leases which have fixed determinable escalations are charged to the income statement on a 

straight-line basis and liabilities are raised for the difference between the actual lease expense and 

the charge recognised in the income statement. The liabilities are classified based on the timing of 

the reversal which will occur when the actual cash flow exceeds the income statement amounts. 

Operating lease liabilities  204 358  224 423 

Less short-term portion included in trade and other payables  (55 526)  (72 592)

Long-term portion  148 832  151 831 

Operating lease commitments

Land and buildings  7 467 165 7 219 214

 Due in one year  1 259 573 1 128 438

 Due after one year but within five years  3 100 288 2 980 693

 Due after five years  3 107 304 3 110 083

Equipment and vehicles  737 865 581 177

 Due in one year  232 265 189 013

 Due after one year but within five years  443 206 313 898

 Due after five years  62 394 78 266

 8 205 030 7 800 391

Less: Amounts raised as liabilities  (204 358) (224 423)

 8 000 672 7 575 968

31. Trade and other payables
Trade payables  15 911 229 13 715 528

Non-interest-bearing floorplan creditors  635 726 634 439

Forward exchange contracts liability  8 817 6 696

Other payables and accrued expenses  5 303 003 5 644 437

 21 858 775 20 001 100

The majority of trade and other payables are fixed in the subsidiaries’ local currency. Since trade 

and other payables have limited exposure to exchange rate fluctuations, a currency analysis has 

not been included.

Refer note 35 for further disclosure.
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 2013
 R’000 

2012

 R’000 

32. Provisions
Long-term portion  371 353  340 289 

Short-term portion  363 136  308 261 

 734 489  648 550 

 Onerous
 contracts

R’000

 Insurance
 liabilities

R’000 

 Dismantling
 and site

 restoration
R’000 

Customer
loyalty

programme
R’000

 Other
R’000 

 Total
R’000 

Balance at June 30 2011  88 165  211 878  145 238  37 211  27 379  509 871 

Created  75 997  107 365  34 756  35 765  13 851  267 734 

Utilised  (43 466)  (72 525)  (23 644)  (25 664)  (15 014)  (180 313)

Net acquisition of businesses  7 925  –  –  –  360  8 285 

Exchange rate adjustments  9 207  –  25 780  6 478  1 508  42 973 

Balance at June 30 2012  137 828  246 718  182 130  53 790  28 084  648 550 

Created  13 606  144 266  31 376  68 675  20 627  278 550 

Utilised  (80 380)  (116 576)  (17 854)  (27 536)  (6 232)  (248 578)

Net acquisition of businesses  147  –  694  –  2 201  3 042 

Exchange rate adjustments  15 448  –  27 530  7 932  2 015  52 925 

Balance at June 30 2013  86 649  274 408  223 876  102 861  46 695  734 489 

Onerous contracts
Onerous contracts are identified through regular reviews of the terms and conditions of contracts as well as on the acquisition of 

businesses. A provision for onerous contracts is calculated as the present value of the portion which management deem to be  

onerous in light of the current market conditions, discounted using market-related rates. An annual expense is recognised over  

the life of the contracts.

Insurance liabilities
Insurance liabilities include amounts provided for: unearned premiums, which represent the proportion of premiums written in the 

current year which relate to risks that have not expired by the end of the financial year and are calculated on a time proportionate 

basis; deferred acquisition costs, which are recognised on a basis consistent with the related provisions for unearned premiums; 

claims, which are calculated on the settlement amount outstanding at year end; and claims incurred but not reported, for claims arising 

from events that occurred before the close of the accounting period but which had not been reported to the Group by that date, and 

are calculated based on the preceding six years’ insurance premium revenue multiplied by percentages specified in the Short Term 

Insurance Act.

Provision for cost of dismantling and restoration of site
A provision is raised for the estimated costs of dismantling and removing items and restoring the site on which they are located.  

The change in the liability arising as a result of unwinding the discount is recognised in the income statement as a finance charge.  

The dismantling of the plant and recommissioning of buildings is expected to coincide with the end of the useful life of the plant and  

lease periods.

Customer loyalty programme
This is a customer loyalty programme introduced by certain operations within the Group, whereby customers can earn points for 

redemption in the form of gift certificates and products of the operations. The provision is calculated based on the points  

outstanding at year end. 

Other
Consists of various individually insignificant provisions.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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 2013
 R’000 

2012

 R’000 

33. Commitments
Capital expenditure approved

Contracted for  1 011 840  914 709 

Not contracted for  808 060  575 254 

 1 819 900  1 489 963 

Capital expenditure amounting to R1 760 million (2012: R1 368 million) is in respect of property, 

plant and equipment and the remaining balance is in respect of computer software. It is 

anticipated that capital expenditure will be financed out of existing cash resources.

In addition to the above capital expenditure, the Group acquired entire issued share capital of 

Home of Living Brands Holdings Limited (formerly Amalgamated Appliance Holdings Limited) 

that it did not already own for a consideration of R532 million with effect from July 1 2013  

(refer note 40).

34. Contingent liabilities
Guarantees issued in respect of obligations of associates and investments  166 000 56 000

The Group has outstanding legal and other claims arising out of its normal ongoing operating activities which have to be resolved. 

None of these claims are significant.

Refer note 35 for further disclosure in respect of guarantees.

35. Financial instruments
35.1 Risk management overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity risk; interest rate risk; foreign 

currency risk and market price risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the aforementioned risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and 

processes for measuring and managing risk and the Group’s management of capital. IFRS 7 requires certain disclosures by class of 

instrument. The Group has determined that its classes of instruments would be the segments as disclosed in the segmental report. 

The Group’s major financial risks are mitigated in the way that it operates firstly through diversification of industry and geography and 

secondly through decentralisation. Bidvest is an international group with operations in South Africa, United Kingdom, Europe, Asia, 

Australia, New Zealand, Namibia and various other southern African countries. The Group also comprises a variety of businesses 

within the services, trading and distribution industries. As a result of this diversification in terms of industry and geographical location, 

the Group is exposed to a range of financial risks, each managed in appropriate ways. However, the impact of any one particular 

financial risk within any of these geographies or industries is not considered to be material to the Group. 

The Group’s philosophy has always been to empower management through a decentralised structure thereby making them 

responsible for the management and performance of their operations, including managing the financial risks of the operation. 

Operational management reports to divisional management who in turn reports to the Group’s board of directors. Divisional 

management is also held responsible for managing the financial risks of the operations within the divisions. Operational 

management’s remuneration is based on its operation’s performance and divisional management based on its division’s  

performance resulting in a decentralised and entrepreneurial environment. 

Due to the diverse structure and decentralised management of the Group, the Group risk committee has implemented guidelines 

of acceptable practices and basic procedures to be followed by divisional and operational management. The information provided 

below for each financial risk has been collated for disclosure based on the manner in which the business is managed and what is 

believed to be useful information for shareholders.

The total process of risk management in the Bidvest Group, which includes the related system of control, is the responsibility of the 

board of directors. The Group risk committee has been constituted as a committee of the Group’s board of directors in the discharge 

of its duties and responsibilities in this regard. The Group risk committee has a charter and reports regularly to the board of directors 

on its activities.
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.1 Risk management overview (continued)

The primary purposes of the Group risk committee are:

–  To establish and maintain a common understanding of the risk universe (framework), which needs to be addressed in order  

to meet Bidvest corporate objectives.

–  To identify the risk profile and agree the risk appetite of the Group.

–  To satisfy the risk management reporting requirements.

–  To coordinate the Group’s risk management and assurance efforts.

–  To report to the board of directors on the risk management work undertaken and the extent of any action taken by management  

to address areas identified for improvement.

–  To report to the board of directors on the company’s process for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations. 

The Group risk committee has documented a formal policy framework in order to achieve the following:

–  To place accountability on management for designing, implementing and monitoring the process of risk management.

–  To place responsibility on management for integrating the risk management process into the day-to-day activities and operations 

of the Group.

–  To ensure that the risk strategy is communicated to all stakeholders so that it may be incorporated into the culture of the Group.

The Group has operations trading in the banking, short-term insurance and life assurance industries (Financial Services segment). 

These operations are exposed to financial risks which are unique to these industries and differ significantly to the remainder of the 

Group’s operations operating within the services, trading and distribution sectors. While the financial risks to which these particular 

operations are exposed could have a significant effect on the individual operations, they would not have a significant impact on 

the Group. For this reason, the information provided below mainly provides qualitative and quantitative information regarding the 

management and exposure to financial risks to which the trading operations of the Group are exposed based on what is believed to 

be useful to shareholders. Bidvest Bank Limited is a public company for which financial statements are prepared including detailed 

disclosure in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 7. 

The Bidvest Group has, due to the diversity of its operations in nature and geography, determined that it would be better to develop 

an in-house strategy, as opposed to adopting a recognised strategy and forcing its operations to adapt to the constraints of the 

strategy selected. The Group has determined that utilising a common framework for the identification of risk would assist the 

divisions to reduce the implementation time and cost and would give some assurance that all inherent risks have been considered. 

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk 

limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly 

to reflect changes in market conditions and Group activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and 

procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and 

responsibilities. 

To assist the Group risk committee in discharging its responsibilities, it has:

–  assigned risk management responsibilities to divisional/operational risk committees; and

–  determined that each division should appoint risk/compliance officers on a divisional (operational) level as nominated by the 

divisional risk committees. The role of the risk officer is to develop, communicate, coordinate and monitor the enterprise-wide  

risk management.

Through the divisional risk committees, each division has a forum for the discussion and identification of risks relevant to the 

particular division. Only risk matters that affect the Group as a whole are escalated to the Group risk committee. The minutes  

of the divisional risk committees are submitted to the Group risk committee. The Group risk manager is authorised to attend the  

divisional risk committee meetings, and to provide guidance to and coordinate the efforts of these committees in providing the  

Group adequate risk management.

Each division has its own audit committee, which subscribes to the same Group audit committee philosophies and practices.  

The divisional audit committees report to both the divisional board and the Group audit committee. The Group audit committee 

reviews the divisional audit committee reports. The divisional audit committees oversee how divisional management monitors 

compliance with the Group’s policies and guidelines in respect of the financial reporting process, the system of internal control, the 

management of financial risks, the audit process (both internal and external) and code of business conduct. The divisional audit 

committees are assisted in their oversight role by the Group’s internal audit department. Divisional internal audit undertakes both 

regular and ad hoc reviews of financial and operational risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported 

to the divisional audit committee. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 

obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers, banking advances, investments and guarantees.

The Group risk committee with the assistance of internal audit has implemented a “delegation of authority matrix” which provides 

guidelines by division, as to the level of authorisation required for various types of transactions. 

Except as detailed below in respect of guarantees issued, the carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial 

statements, which is net of impairment losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk after taking account  

of the value of any collateral obtained. The carrying values, net of impairment allowances, amount to R14 114 million (2012:  

R11 964 million) for trade receivables (refer note 22), R1 015 million (2012: R717 million) for banking and other advances  

(refer note 19), and R2 508 million (2012: R1 889 million) for investments (refer note 18).

The impairment allowance account in respect of trade receivables and banking advances are used to record impairment losses 

unless the Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point, the amount which is considered 

irrecoverable is written off against the financial assets directly.  

Impairments of investments classified as available-for-sale or held-for-trading are written off against the investment directly and an 

impairment allowance account is not utilised.

The Group has a general credit policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where 

appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. In accordance with the decentralised structure, the 

operational management, under the guidance of the divisional management, are responsible for implementation of policies to 

meet the above objective. This includes credit policies under which new customers are analysed for credit worthiness before the 

operation’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered, determining whether collateral is required, and if so 

the type of collateral to be obtained, and setting of credit limits for individual customers based on their references and credit ratings. 

Operational management are also held responsible for monitoring the operations’ credit exposure. 

35.2.1 Trade receivables 

Refer note 22 for further disclosure.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas. Ongoing credit 

evaluation is performed by the operational management on the financial condition of the operation’s customers.

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having  

similar characteristics. The largest 10 trade debtors based on the turnover derived from these trade debtors was reported by class. 

On compilation of the information, it was noted that the Group’s largest exposure to a single group, across multiple geographies is 

R576 million.

The total number of debtors per reporting division was obtained and the average turnover per trade debtor was calculated for each 

reporting division. Based on the average turnover per trade debtor in comparison to the Group’s total turnover for the year, there  

was no significant concentration of credit risk to any single trade debtor. The concentration of credit risk is therefore limited due to 

the customer base being large and independent.

Each operation establishes an impairment allowance that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other 

receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures, 

and a collective loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not  

yet identified. 

As a result of the decentralised structure, operational management have the responsibility of determining the impairment allowance 

in respect of trade receivables. This is done under the oversight of the divisional audit committees, and ultimately the Group 

audit committee. The operation’s average credit period depends on the type of industry in which it operates as well as the credit 

worthiness of its customers. The majority of the customers are given credit terms ranging from cash on delivery to 60 days from 

statement. The largest impairment raised for a specific trade receivable was obtained for each reporting operation and calculated as 

a percentage of the Group’s total impairment allowance. At year-end and it was determined that the percentage did not exceed 5,0% 

(2012: 5,0%) of the total allowance raised.
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.2 Credit risk (continued)

35.2.1 Trade receivables (continued)

Movement in impairment allowance in respect of trade receivables

Balance at July 1  437 309  427 446 

Allowance raised during the year  223 578  180 459 

 Bidvest South Africa

  Automotive  6 653  22 004 

  Electrical  27 473  1 911 

  Financial Services  409  5 859 

  Freight  13 860  6 441 

  Industrial  1 286  1 417 

  Office  3 108  3 387 

  Paperplus  9 536  7 783 

  Rental and Products  3 688  1 307 

  Services  6 329  3 576 

  Travel and Aviation  13 044  5 458 

 Bidvest Foodservice

  Asia Pacific  66 452  61 782 

  Europe  46 760  32 322 

  Southern Africa  17 143  17 828 

 Bidvest Namibia  7 504  6 791 

 Bidvest Corporate  333  2 593 

Allowance utilised during the year  (127 799)  (110 536)

 Bidvest South Africa

  Automotive  (6 492)  (4 345)

  Electrical  (14 429)  (15 272)

  Financial Services  (671) –

  Freight  (2 098)  (1 972)

  Industrial  (737)  (419)

  Office  (3 917)  (2 838)

  Paperplus  (3 951)  (3 726)

  Rental and Products  (3 939)  (2 589)

  Services  (1 057)  (1 637)

  Travel and Aviation  (4 370)  (707)

 Bidvest Foodservice

  Asia Pacific  (37 146)  (30 741)

  Europe  (39 089)  (34 050)

  Southern Africa  (8 346)  (9 560)

 Bidvest Namibia  (1 299)  (2 290)

 Bidvest Corporate  (258)  (390)

Balance carried forward 533 088 497 369

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.2 Credit risk (continued)

35.2.1 Trade receivables (continued)

Balance brought forward 533 088 497 369

Net acquisition of businesses and inter-class transfers  6 600  23 363 

 Bidvest South Africa

  Electrical –  16 117 

  Freight  (116)  (1 204)

  Paperplus  (569) –

  Rental and Products –  1 276 

 Bidvest Foodservice

  Asia Pacific –  421 

  Europe  7 285  5 459 

 Bidvest Namibia –  1 294 

Impairment written off against trade receivables  (115 233)  (110 719)

 Bidvest South Africa

  Automotive  (9 875)  (17 865)

  Electrical  (17 398)  (445)

  Financial Services  (24)  (154)

  Freight  (22 662)  (23 165)

  Industrial  442  (1 303)

  Office  (962)  (2 934)

  Paperplus  (4 172)  (3 422)

  Rental and Products  (798)  (3 551)

  Services  (1 831)  (7 744)

  Travel and Aviation  (11 118)  (4 261)

 Bidvest Foodservice

  Asia Pacific  (23 687)  (31 157)

  Europe  (10 474)  (3 412)

  Southern Africa  (5 231)  (5 360)

 Bidvest Namibia  (7 443)  (5 902)

 Bidvest Corporate –  (44)

Exchange rate adjustments  39 866  27 296 

Balance at June 30  464 321  437 309 
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.2 Credit risk (continued)

35.2.1 Trade receivables (continued)

Ageing of trade receivables at June 30

2013 2012

Gross trade
receivables

R’000

Impairment
allowance

R’000

Net trade
receivables

R’000

Gross trade

receivables

R’000

Impairment

allowance

R’000

Net trade

receivables

R’000

Not past due  11 498 617  (15 120)  11 483 497 9 852 406 (30 622) 9 821 784

 Bidvest South Africa

  Automotive  172 066  (129)  171 937 252 969 (6 939) 246 030

  Electrical  467 668 –  467 668 482 111  – 482 111

  Financial Services  33 326  (70)  33 256 48 169 (17) 48 152

  Freight  1 372 802  (256)  1 372 546 969 063 (554) 968 509

  Industrial  156 312  (78)  156 234 97 826 (183) 97 643

   Office  343 557  (274)  343 283 334 065  – 334 065

  Paperplus  301 016 –  301 016 324 501 (7) 324 494

  Rental and Products  154 558  (2)  154 556 144 360 (347) 144 013

  Services  164 310  (2 333)  161 977 151 313 (371) 150 942

  Travel and Aviation  278 485  (630)  277 855 266 245  – 266 245

 Bidvest Foodservice

  Asia Pacific  2 823 476  (5 571)  2 817 905 2 429 908 (8 844) 2 421 064

  Europe  4 384 737  (5 774)  4 378 963 3 521 624 (12 203) 3 509 421

  Southern Africa  566 516 –  566 516 577 244  – 577 244

 Bidvest Namibia  229 555  (3)  229 552 208 075 (1 152) 206 923

 Bidvest Corporate  50 233 –  50 233 44 933 (5) 44 928

Past due  

0 – 30 days  1 976 574  (15 999)  1 960 575 1 560 250 (28 142) 1 532 108

 Bidvest South Africa

  Automotive  176 114  (1 414)  174 700 99 516 (2 762) 96 754

  Electrical  210 568 –  210 568 176 115 (52) 176 063

  Financial Services  3 382  (137)  3 245 635 (264) 371

  Freight  142 301  (332)  141 969 129 608 (1) 129 607

  Industrial  18 505  (64)  18 441 21 182 (33) 21 149

  Office  101 116  (11)  101 105 107 345 (89) 107 256

  Paperplus  102 382 –  102 382 112 554 (19) 112 535

  Rental and Products  32 790  (59)  32 731 54 737 (91) 54 646

  Services  126 027  (619)  125 408 93 450 (27) 93 423

  Travel and Aviation  219 388  (1 501)  217 887 160 606 (1 662) 158 944

 Bidvest Foodservice

  Asia Pacific  393 828  (7 944)  385 884 291 578 (7 137) 284 441

  Europe  302 023  (3 545)  298 478 170 106 (15 396) 154 710

  Southern Africa  97 516 –  97 516 74 862 (164) 74 698

 Bidvest Namibia  31 160  (373)  30 787 37 292 (445) 36 847

 Bidvest Corporate  19 474 –  19 474 30 664  – 30 664

Balance carried forward 13 475 191 (31 119) 13 444 072 11 412 656 (58 764) 11 353 892

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.2 Credit risk (continued)

35.2.1 Trade receivables (continued)

Ageing of trade receivables at June 30

2013 2012

Gross trade
receivables

R’000

Impairment
allowance

R’000

Net trade
receivables

R’000

Gross trade

receivables

R’000

Impairment

allowance

R’000

Net trade

receivables

R’000

Balance brought forward 13 475 191 (31 119) 13 444 072 11 412 656 (58 764) 11 353 892

31 – 180 days  787 396  (204 936)  582 460  702 690  (186 637)  516 053 

 Bidvest South Africa

  Automotive  50 003  (6 502)  43 501  34 454  (10 222)  24 232 

  Electrical  155 458  (15 257)  140 201  139 142  (18 969)  120 173 

  Financial Services  1 691  (171)  1 520  15 662  (11 736)  3 926 

  Freight  35 035  (4 250)  30 785  53 759  (16 060)  37 699 

  Industrial  9 141  (1 298)  7 843  10 249  (1 555)  8 694 

  Office  48 554  (9 272)  39 282  39 353  (5 930)  33 423 

  Paperplus  34 322  (2 871)  31 451  23 529  (5 371)  18 158 

  Rental and Products  21 664  (2 184)  19 480  23 353  (1 957)  21 396 

  Services  20 517  (2 779)  17 738  20 106  (2 089)  18 017 

  Travel and Aviation  46 599  (20 761)  25 838  37 427  (24 898)  12 529 

 Bidvest Foodservice

  Asia Pacific  125 191  (42 658)  82 533  111 879  (26 268)  85 611 

  Europe  134 263  (62 220)  72 043  93 139  (27 181)  65 958 

  Southern Africa  84 032  (29 024)  55 008  69 589  (29 191)  40 398 

 Bidvest Namibia  14 897  (4 739)  10 158  22 695  (4 463)  18 232 

 Bidvest Corporate  6 029  (950)  5 079  8 354  (747)  7 607 

181 + days  315 952  (228 266)  87 686  285 888  (191 908)  93 980 

 Bidvest South Africa

  Automotive  11 968  (4 246)  7 722  3 495  (2 086)  1 409 

  Electrical  60 215  (19 874)  40 341  48 722  (20 466)  28 256 

  Financial Services  12 630  (11 352)  1 278 – – –

  Freight  21 335  (13 259)  8 076  28 484  (12 193)  16 291 

  Industrial  8 251  (3 073)  5 178  5 000  (1 751)  3 249 

  Office – – –  7 230  (5 309)  1 921 

  Paperplus  5 529  (5 529) –  2 725  (2 158)  567 

  Rental and Products  1 392  (323)  1 069  2 959  (1 208)  1 751 

  Services  9 296  (5 672)  3 624  7 630  (5 076)  2 554 

  Travel and Aviation  6 059  (3 644)  2 415  2 226  (2 226) –

 Bidvest Foodservice

  Asia Pacific  62 744  (51 619)  11 125  54 633  (46 270)  8 363 

  Europe  76 394  (72 551)  3 843  63 128  (59 722)  3 406 

  Southern Africa  7 511  (6 686)  825  28 884  (2 773)  26 111 

 Bidvest Namibia  7 288  (5 098)  2 190  5 390  (5 390) –

 Bidvest Corporate  25 340  (25 340) –  25 382  (25 280)  102 

Total  14 578 539  (464 321)  14 114 218 12 401 234 (437 309) 11 963 925
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.2 Credit risk (continued)

35.2.1 Trade receivables (continued)

Collateral held on past due amounts

2013 2012

Fair value of
collateral held

R’000

Trade
receivables

net of
impairment
allowance

R’000

Fair value of

collateral held

R’000 

 Trade

receivables

net of

impairment

allowance

R’000 

Personal surety  *  96 730  *  93 444 

 Bidvest South Africa

  Automotive  5 350  3 557 

  Electrical  85 923  74 500 

  Freight  3 500  1 367 

  Office  1 957  11 464 

 Bidvest Foodservice

  Southern Africa –  2 556 

Cover by credit insurance  377 757  374 822  373 544  377 784 

 Bidvest South Africa

  Electrical  232 258  229 665  215 190  215 190 

  Freight  11 765  11 765  58 569  58 569 

  Industrial  5 405  5 265  11 694  11 694 

 Bidvest Foodservice

  Asia Pacific  70 124  67 457  32 582  32 582 

  Europe  51 746  54 211  44 379  48 619 

  Southern Africa  6 444  6 444  3 126  3 126 

 Bidvest Namibia  15  15  8 004  8 004 

Pledge of assets  172  172  3 794  3 794 

 Bidvest South Africa

  Automotive  172  172  211  211 

  Office – –  2  2 

  Travel and Aviation – –  3 581  3 581 

Other  13 469  13 469  34 181  34 181 

 Bidvest South Africa

  Automotive – –  2 375  2 375 

  Electrical  4 894  4 894 – –

  Industrial  8 575  8 575  31 806  31 806 

Total  391 398  485 193  411 519  509 203 

* An accurate fair value cannot be attached to personal surety.

In certain instances the Group’s operations reserve the right to collect inventory sold when the outstanding debt is not settled by the 

customer. Where it is the business of the operation to finance assets, the assets are held as collateral in respect of the outstanding 

debt. The collateral detailed above is in addition to these aforementioned measures taken to reduce credit risk in respect of trade 

receivables. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.2 Credit risk (continued)

35.2.2 Banking and other advances

Refer note 19 for further disclosure.

The impairment allowance account comprises a specific and portfolio impairment allowance. Specific impairments are raised for 

doubtful advances, including amounts in respect of interest not being serviced and after taking security values into account, and are 

deducted from advances where the outstanding balance exceeds the value of the security held. A portfolio impairment allowance 

based on historic experience is raised to cover doubtful advances, which may not be specifically identified at the balance sheet date. 

The specific and portfolio impairments made during the year are charged to the income statement.

Movement in impairment allowance in respect of banking and other advances

 2013
R’000

2012

R’000

Financial Services

Balance at July 1  30 199  29 177 

Allowance raised during the year  11 566  7 111 

Allowance utilised during the year  (781)  (6 089)

Impairment written off against banking and other advances  (17 241) –

Balance at June 30  23 743  30 199 

Ageing of banking and other advances at June 30

2013  2012

Gross
banking

and other
advances

R’000

Impairment
allowance

R’000

Net
banking

and other
advances

R’000

Gross

banking

and other

advances

R’000

Impairment

allowance

R’000

Net

banking

and other

advances

R’000

Not past due  1 037 418  (23 523)  1 013 895  747 494  (30 199)  717 295 

Past due  1 035  (220)  815  1 324 –  1 324 

 0 – 30 days  815 –  815  1 154 –  1 154 

 31 – 180 days  194  (194) –  170 –  170 

 181 + days  26  (26) – – – –

Total  1 038 453  (23 743)  1 014 710  748 818  (30 199)  718 619 
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.2 Credit risk (continued)

35.2.2 Banking and other advances (continued)

Collateral held on past due amounts 

2013 2012

Fair value of
collateral held

R’000

Banking
and other

 advances net
of impairment

allowance
R’000

Fair value of

collateral held

R’000 

Banking

and other

advances net

of impairment

allowance

R’000 

Pledge of assets  815  815 1 324 1 324

35.2.3 Investments

Refer note 18 for further disclosure.

The classes for investments are listed as held-for-trading, unlisted held-for-trading, listed available-for-sale and unlisted available-for-

sale. Refer note 18 for the carrying amounts for each of these categories.

There were no impairment losses recognised in respect of investments (2012: Nil).

35.2.4 Guarantees

Over and above the guarantees issued to subsidiaries of the Group, the Group has provided guarantees for fixed amounts in respect 

of obligations to associates and investments as disclosed in note 34. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of guarantees at the reporting date was as follows:

 2013
R’000

2012

R’000

Guarantees issued in respect of obligations of associates  166 000  56 000 

35.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to 

managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both 

normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group manages its borrowings centrally for each of the following countries and regions: South Africa, United Kingdom and 

continental Europe and Asia Pacific. The divisions within each region are therefore not responsible for the management of liquidity 

risk but rather senior management for each of these regions is responsible for implementing procedures to manage the regional 

liquidity risk.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

35.3.1 Contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements

Undiscounted contractual cash flows

Carrying
amount

R’000
Total

R’000

6 months
or less
R’000

6 – 12
months

R’000

1 – 2
years
R’000

2 – 5
years
R’000

More than
5 years

R’000

2013  

Total borrowings (refer note 27)

  Loans secured by mortgage bonds  

 over fixed property  29 494  29 494  1 625  1 625  3 317  11 109  11 818 
  Loans secured by lien over certain  

  property, plant and equipment 

in terms of financial leases and 

suspensive sale agreements  99 221  104 136  10 824  9 251  23 775  29 400  30 886 
 Unsecured loans  10 813 980  11 657 140  3 418 129  1 330 404  3 127 916  3 510 227  270 464 
  Floorplan creditors secured by  

 pledge of inventories  696 832  696 832  696 832 – – – –
 Bank overdrafts  1 360 404  1 360 404 –  1 360 404 – – –

 12 999 931  13 848 006  4 127 410  2 701 684  3 155 008  3 550 736  313 168 

Trade and other payables (refer note 31)

  Trade and other payables (excluding  

 forward exchange contracts)  21 849 958  21 849 958  21 841 275  8 174  92  417 –

Banking liabilities (refer note 30)

 Call deposits  1 254 372  1 356 729  1 356 729 – – – –
 Fixed and notice deposits  769 864  782 940  727 197  55 743 – – –

 2 024 236  2 139 669  2 083 926  55 743 – – –

2012

Total borrowings (refer note 27)

  Loans secured by mortgage bonds  

 over fixed property  20 289  35 825  957  959  1 759  5 935  26 215 

  Loans secured by lien over certain  

  property, plant and equipment 

in terms of financial leases and 

suspensive sale agreements  120 718  121 972  23 479  14 111  21 459  55 320  7 603 

 Unsecured loans  7 649 502  8 120 157  3 591 356  391 012  2 731 760  1 116 218  289 811 

  Floorplan creditors secured by  

 pledge of inventories  440 383  440 383  440 383 – – – –

 Bank overdrafts  1 255 848  1 255 848 –  1 255 848 – – –

 9 486 740  9 974 185  4 056 175  1 661 930  2 754 978  1 177 473  323 629 

Trade and other payables (refer note 31)

  Trade and other payables (excluding  

 forward exchange contracts)  19 994 404  19 994 404  19 988 784  5 620 – – –

Banking liabilities (refer note 29)

 Call deposits  970 255  1 069 110  1 069 110 – – – –

 Fixed and notice deposits  711 424  724 074  697 201  26 873 – – –

 1 681 679  1 793 184  1 766 311  26 873 – – –

The expected maturity of financial liabilities is not expected to differ from the contractual maturities as disclosed above.

There were no defaults or breaches of any of the borrowing terms or conditions.
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 2013
R’000 

 2012 

R’000

35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

35.3.2 Trade and other payables by class 

Trade payables

 Bidvest South Africa

  Automotive  552 950  610 806 

  Electrical  595 392  652 365 

  Financial Services  102 040  138 869 

  Freight  2 295 158  1 948 337 

  Industrial  149 611  179 621 

  Office  425 614  375 071 

  Paperplus  309 461  285 375 

  Rental and Products  128 997  127 174 

  Services  62 125  53 385 

  Travel and Aviation  420 105  371 681 

 Bidvest Foodservice

 Asia Pacific  3 220 832  2 817 070 

 Europe  6 682 217  5 297 849 

  Southern Africa  572 057  532 061 

 Bidvest Namibia  322 194  265 708 

 Bidvest Corporate  72 476  60 156 

 15 911 229  13 715 528 

Refer note 31 for further disclosure.

35.3.3 Undrawn facilities

The Group has the following undrawn facilities at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk:

Unsecured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable on 364 days’ notice  11 044 372  10 701 311 

 Utilised  1 360 404  406 495 

 Unutilised  9 683 968  10 294 816 

Secured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable on call  64 358 –

 Utilised – –

 Unutilised  64 358 –

Unsecured loan facility with various maturity dates through to 2016 and which may be  

extended by mutual agreement  8 503 229  6 629 506 

 Utilised  5 603 663  3 567 760 

 Unutilised  2 899 566  3 061 746 

Secured loan facilities with various maturity dates through to 2013 and which may be  

extended by mutual agreement  2 594 350  2 064 299 

 Utilised  904 451  1 116 173 

 Unutilised  1 689 899  948 126 

Other banking facilities  2 451 136  2 301 084 

 Utilised  303 368  586 021 

 Unutilised  2 147 768  1 715 063 

Unsecured Domestic Medium Term Notes Programme  9 000 000  4 500 000 

 Utilised  5 059 840  3 955 842 

 Unutilised  3 940 160  544 158 

Total facilities  33 657 445  26 196 200 

 Utilised  13 231 726  9 632 291 

 Unutilised  20 425 719  16 563 909 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.4 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market price, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the 

Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and 

control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

35.4.1 Currency risk

The Group’s financial instruments are not significantly exposed to currency risk for the reasons provided below. A sensitivity analysis 

has therefore not been performed.

Borrowings are matched to the same foreign currency as the division raising the loan thereby limiting the division’s exposure to 

changes in a foreign currency which differs to their functional currency. Interest on borrowings is denominated in currencies that match 

the cash flows generated by the underlying divisions of the Group thereby providing an economic hedge for each class of borrowing.

Banking advances (refer note 19), banking liabilities (refer note 29) and investments (refer note 18) are all denominated in the same 

functional currency as the operation in which they are held, thus these financial instruments are not exposed to currency risk.

The Group incurs currency risk as a result of purchases and sales which are denominated in a currency other than the Group entity’s 

functional reporting currency. It is Group policy that Group entities hedge all trade receivables and trade payables denominated in 

a foreign currency which differs to its functional currency. At any point in time the entities also take out economic hedges over their 

estimated foreign currency exposure resulting from sales and purchases. The Group entities hedge their foreign currency risk exposure 

either by taking out forward exchange contracts (FECs) or alternatively by purchasing in advance the foreign currency which will be 

required to settle the trade payables. Most of the forward exchange contracts have maturities of less than one year after the balance 

sheet date. Where necessary, the forward exchange contracts are rolled over at maturity. It is the Group’s policy not to trade in derivative 

financial instruments for speculative purposes with the exception of Bidvest Bank Limited whose business is to trade in derivatives.

Changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts that economically hedge monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies 

(in relation to the operation’s functional currency) and for which no hedge accounting is applied are recognised in the income 

statement. Both the changes in fair value of the forward exchange contracts and the foreign exchange gains and losses relating to 

the monetary items are recognised in operating profit (refer note 2). 

The periods in which the cash flows associated with the forward exchange contracts are expected to occur are detailed below under 

the heading “settlement”. The periods in which the cash flows are expected to impact the income statement are believed to be in the 

same time frame as when the actual cash flows occur.
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.4 Market risk (continued)

35.4.1 Currency risk (continued)

Contract value

Settlement 

Foreign 
amount

000’s

Rand 
amount

000’s

2013

In respect of forward exchange contracts relating to 

foreign liabilities as at June 30 2013

 Japanese yen July 2013 to October 2013  (2 646 631)  (258 696)

  US dollar July 2013 to February 2014  (32 314)  (316 890)

  Euro July 2013 to September 2013  (13 749)  (176 727)

 Sterling July 2013 to October 2013  (388)  (5 904)

 HKD August 2013  (2 069)  (2 623)

 AUD August 2013 to December 2013  (878)  (8 030)

 Other July 2013 to August 2013  (769)  (2 622)

 (771 492)

In respect of forward exchange contracts relating to 

foreign assets as at June 30 2013

 US dollar July 2013 to September 2013  4 309  40 539 

  Euro July 2013  23  305 

40 844

In respect of forward exchange contracts relating to 

goods and services ordered not accounted for as at 

June 30 2013

 Japanese yen July 2013 to October 2013  (48 806)  (4 813)

 US dollar July 2013 to July 2014  (37 649)  (366 545)

 Euro July 2013 to December 2013  (3 392)  (43 486)

 Sterling August 2013  (30)  (478)

 Norwegian krone November 2013  (5 400)  (8 718)

 AUD July 2013 to December 2013  (975)  (8 929)

 Other July 2013  (42)  (398)

 (433 367)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.4 Market risk (continued)

35.4.1 Currency risk (continued)

Contract value

Settlement 

Foreign 
amount

000’s

Rand 
amount

000’s

2012

In respect of forward exchange contracts relating to 

foreign liabilities as at June 30 2012

 Japanese yen July 2012 to October 2012  (1 944 122)  (193 843)

  US dollar July 2012 to October 2012  (37 573)  (310 111)

  Euro July 2012 to November 2012  (9 105)  (96 826)

 Sterling July 2012 to September 2012  (346)  (4 514)

 AUD July 2012 to September 2012  (1 132)  (10 016)

 Other July 2012 to October 2012  (1 400)  (2 782)

 (618 092)

In respect of forward exchange contracts relating to 

foreign assets as at June 30 2012

 US dollar July 2012 to September 2012  231  1 989 

In respect of forward exchange contracts relating to 

goods and services ordered not accounted for as at 

June 30 2012

 Japanese yen July 2012 to August 2012  (62 404)  (6 546)

 US dollar July 2012 to July 2014  (90 563)  (742 450)

 Euro July 2012 to December 2012  (4 001)  (42 868)

 Sterling July 2012 to August 2012  (71)  (917)

 Norwegian krone – –

 AUD July 2012 to March 2013  (5 543)  (46 715)

 Other July 2012  (586)  (161)

 (839 657)

The total value of trade receivables and trade payables which payment terms are fixed in a foreign currency other than its operational 

currency are R701,1 million (2012: R496,1 million) and R1 406,9 million (2012: R1 141,3 million), respectively.
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.4 Market risk (continued)

35.4.2 Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as it borrows funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. This risk is managed by 

maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating borrowings and by the use of interest rate swap contracts. The Group’s 

investments in listed bonds, accounted for as available-for-sale and held-for-trading financial assets and banking advances and 

liabilities are exposed to a risk of change in fair value due to movements in interest rates. Investments in equity securities accounted 

for as held-for-trading financial assets and trade receivables and payables are not exposed to interest rate risk.

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments was:

2013
R’000 

 2012

R’000 

Fixed rate instruments

 Financial assets

 Available-for-sale listed bonds  76 312  80 292 

 Held-for-trading listed bonds  117 735  42 760 

 Banking and other advances  160 016  205 718 

 Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships  57 646 –

Financial liabilities

 Borrowings  (6 303 391)  (4 854 630)

 Banking liabilities  (94 268)  (63 294)

Variable rate instruments

Financial assets

 Cash and cash equivalents  8 452 559  5 871 305 

 Banking and other advances  878 437  543 100 

Financial liabilities

 Borrowings  (5 336 136)  (3 376 262)

 Banking liabilities  (1 929 968)  (1 618 385)

 Overdrafts  (1 360 404)  (1 255 848)

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial assets and liabilities are detailed in the various notes within the financial statements.

The variable rates are influenced by movements in the prime borrowing rates.

Sensitivity analysis

The effect of a change in interest rate on the fair value of the listed bonds accounted for as held-for-trading and available-for-sale is 

not believed to have a significant effect on the Group’s profit for the year and equity.

Group borrowings have been categorised by geographical location and the percentage change used for each category has 

been selected based on what could reasonably be expected as a change in interest rates within that region based on historical 

movements in interest rates within that particular region. This sensitivity analysis has been prepared using the average borrowings for 

the financial year as the actual borrowings at June 30 are not representative of the borrowings during the year. This analysis assumes 

that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analyses are performed on the same basis as 2012. 

A decrease in interest rates would have an equal and opposite effect on profit after taxation as detailed below.

2013 2012

Increase in
interest rates 

%

Decrease in
profit after

taxation 
R’000

Increase in

interest rates 

%

Decrease in

profit after

taxation 

R’000

 Southern Africa  0,50  13 519  0,50  13 166 

 United Kingdom and continental Europe  0,25  26 194  0,25  21 138 

 Asia Pacific  0,25  7 511  0,25  8 508 

 47 224   42 812 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended June 30



THE BIDVEST GROUP LIMITED

Annual Integrated Report 2013
135

35. Financial instruments (continued)

35.4 Market risk (continued)

35.4.2 Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate swap contracts

The Group has entered into interest rate swap contracts, in order to fix the interest rates on the R1 425 million, five-year, variable 

rate corporate bonds issued in November 2012 (refer note 27). The variable rate of three-monthly JIBAR plus 1,3% has been fixed 

at an average fixed rate of 7,15% per annum. The swap contract matches the duration of the bond and expires in November 2017. 

The difference between fixed and floating interest rates are settled on a quarterly basis simultaneously with the payment of interest to 

bondholders. The interest rate swap contracts have enabled the Group to mitigate the risk of fluctuating interest rates on the fair value of 

the bonds issued. The interest rate swaps have been designated as hedging instruments and accounted for as a cash flow hedge. The 

fair value of the interest rate swaps at the reporting date, is determined by discounting the future cash flows using the interest rate curves 

at the reporting date and the credit risk inherent in the contract, resulting in a fair value asset of R58 million.

35.4.3 Market price risk

Equity price risk arises from investments classified as held-for-trading and available-for-sale (refer note 18). Available-for-sale financial 

assets include listed bonds held by the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary Bidvest Bank Limited. Held-for-trading investments comprise a 

listed share portfolio which performance is monitored closely by senior management and the Group actively trades in these shares. The 

Group’s subsidiaries, Bidvest Insurance Limited and Bidvest Life Limited, hold investment portfolios with a fair value of R478 million (2012: 

R419 million) and R227 million (2012: R199 million) respectively, for the purpose of being utilised to cover liabilities arising under the life 

assurance fund. These portfolios comprise domestic and international equity investments and money market funds. Unlisted investments 

comprise unlisted shares and loans which are classified as held-for-trading and available-for-sale, and are valued at fair value using a price 

earnings (PE) model.

35.5 Fair values

The carrying amounts of all financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values with the exception of borrowings and trade 

receivables (which have been accounted for at amortised cost and certain investments for which fair value cannot be determined).  

The fair value of borrowings, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, classified by class (being geographical 

location), are as follows:

2013 2012

Carrying
amount

R’000
Fair value

R’000

Carrying

amount

R’000

Fair value

R’000

Borrowings (refer note 27)

 Southern Africa  7 812 053  7 811 861  6 348 681  6 345 687 

  Loans secured by lien over certain property, 

   plant and equipment in terms of financial 

   leases and suspensive sale agreements  390  421  3 252  3 213 

  Unsecured loans  5 754 427  5 754 204  4 686 964  4 684 009 

  Floorplan creditors secured by a pledge 

   of inventories  696 832  696 832  440 383  440 383 

  Bank overdrafts  1 360 404  1 360 404  1 218 082  1 218 082 

 Europe  3 460 895  3 460 895  1 572 061  1 572 061 

  Loans secured by mortgage bonds over 

   fixed property  29 494  29 494  20 288  20 288 

  Loans secured by lien over certain property, 

   plant and equipment in terms of financial 

   leases and suspensive sale agreements  98 831  98 831  503  503 

  Unsecured loans  3 332 570  3 332 570  1 513 504  1 513 504 

  Bank overdrafts – –  37 766  37 766 

 Asia Pacific  1 726 983  1 726 983  1 565 998  1 565 998 

  Loans secured by lien over certain property, 

   plant and equipment in terms of financial 

   leases and suspensive sale agreements – –  116 962  116 962 

  Unsecured loans  1 726 983  1 726 983  1 449 036  1 449 036 

 12 999 931  12 999 739  9 486 740  9 483 746 

Unrecognised gain  192  2 994 

The methods used to estimate the fair values of financial instruments are discussed in note 39.

The interest rates used to discount cash flows, in order to determine fair values, are based on market related rates at June 30 2013 plus 

an adequate constant credit spread, and range from 1,0% to 17,4% (2012: 1,1% to 11,3%).
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36. Capital management
The board of directors’ policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, supplier and market confidence while 

also being able to sustain future development of the businesses. The board of directors monitors both the demographic spread of 

shareholders, as well as the return on capital, which the Group defines as total shareholders’ equity, excluding minority interests and 

the level of distributions to ordinary shareholders. The Group’s objective is to maintain a distribution cover of approximately 2,2 times 

headline earnings for the foreseeable future. The methods of distribution include dividends, return of share premium, capitalisation 

issues as well as share buy-backs in lieu of distributions. The level of cover of distributions takes into account prevailing market 

conditions, future cash requirements of the businesses, Group liquidity requirements, as well as capital adequacy ratios.

The board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of gearing and the 

advantages and security afforded by a sound equity position. The Group’s target is to achieve a return on shareholders’ interest of 

between 20% and 25%. In 2013 the return was 22,1% (2012: 25,1%). Refer to pages 12 and 13 of this report for the historical return  

on total shareholders’ interest since 2004.

In the early days of the Group, acquisition activity was generally funded via the raising of equity capital however over the past five years, 

far more favourable credit markets have enabled the use of debt as a far more effective tool of capital. The current credit markets have 

been extremely volatile, increasing the cost of debt in the weighted average cost of capital for the Group thereby enabling a potential 

return to tapping the equity markets to fund future growth.

From time to time the Group purchases its own shares on the market, the timing of these purchases depends on market prices. 

Primarily the shares are intended to be used for issuing shares under the Bidvest Share Incentive Scheme (refer note 25). The 

maximum number of share options which can be issued to employees under the Bidvest Share Incentive Scheme is limited to  

43 954 148 shares. The Group does not have a defined share buy-back plan. These shares are currently held as treasury shares.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

With the exception of the Group’s banking and insurance subsidiaries, whose capital is well within the statutory requirements, neither 

the company nor any of its other subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. The Group has principally a target 

debt:equity ratio of 40%, however in a trading and services business, the debt/equity ratio is a poor measure of the funding capacity of 

the Group. In order to ensure a more reflective measure of debt capacity is utilised, the Group has adopted an interest cover target of 

between five to six times. Net interest cover for the year to June 30 2013 was 10 times (2012: nine times).

37. Related parties
Identification of related parties
The Group has a related-party relationship with its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. Key management personnel has been 

defined as the executive and non-executive directors of the company. The definition of key management includes the close members 

of family of key management personnel and any other entity over which key management exercise control. Close members of family are 

those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by that individual in their dealings with the Group. They may 

include the individual’s domestic partner and children, the children of the individual’s domestic partner, and dependents of the individual 

or the individual’s domestic partner.

Transactions with key management personnel
Independent non-executive directors do not participate in the Group’s share option, share purchase schemes or conditional  

share awards.

Details pertaining to executive directors’ compensations are set out in the directors’ report. Directors’ remuneration in total is included 

in note 2.

The Group encourages its employees to purchase goods and services from Group companies. These transactions are generally 

conducted on terms no more favourable than those entered into with third parties on an arm’s length basis, although in some cases 

nominal discounts are granted. Transactions with key management personnel are conducted on similar terms. No abnormal or 

non-commercial credit terms are allowed, and no impairments were recognised in relation to any transactions with key management 

personnel during the year, nor have they resulted in any non-performing debts at the year-end.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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37. Related parties (continued)

Transactions with key management personnel (continued)

Similar policies are applied to key management personnel at subsidiary level who are not defined as key management personnel at 

Group level.

Certain directors of the Group are also non-executive directors of other public companies which may transact with the Group. The 

relevant directors do not believe they have significant influence over the financial or operational policies of those companies. Those 

companies are thus not regarded as related parties.

The following transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s-length transactions between subsidiaries of the 

Group and key management personnel (as defined above) and/or organisations in which key management personnel have significant 

influence:

2013
R’000

 2011

R’000 

Sales and services provided by the Group  1 573  1 661 

Purchases  5 368  6 194 

Outstanding amounts due to the Group at year-end included in respect of the share  

 purchase scheme  31 056  52 023 

Outstanding amounts due to the Group at year-end included in banking advances  700  – 

Outstanding amounts due by the Group at year-end included in banking liabilities  99  7 578 

Guarantees issued  –  – 

Transactions with associates
The following transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in 

arm’s-length transactions between subsidiaries and associates of the Group:

Sales and services provided by the Group  22 674  22 393 

Purchases  52 794  143 014 

Outstanding amounts due to the Group at year-end included in advances to associates  50 219  77 872 

Outstanding amounts due to the Group at year-end included in trade receivables  6 329  8 018 

Outstanding amounts due by the Group at year-end included in borrowings  7 853  7 853 

Outstanding amounts due by the Group at year-end included in trade payables  173  27 898 

Guarantees issued  166 000  56 000 

Details of effective interest, investments and loans to associates are disclosed in note 17.

38. Accounting estimates and judgements
The board of directors has considered the Group’s critical accounting policies, key sources of uncertainty and areas where critical 

accounting judgements were required in applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Critical accounting policies
The audit committee is satisfied that the critical accounting policies are appropriate to the Group.

Key sources of uncertainty
Key sources of uncertainty relate to the liabilities of the benefit funds or related assets due to the surplus apportionment in terms of the 

Pensions Fund Act which have yet to be finalised and approved. Details relating to the current surpluses and deficits are included in 

note 28.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
Judgements made in the application of IFRS that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Property, plant and equipment
The residual values of the property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually after considering future market conditions, the 

remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values. The estimation of the useful lives is based on historic performance as well 

as expectation about future use and, therefore, requires a degree of judgement to be applied. The depreciation rates represent 

management’s current best estimate of the useful lives of the assets. The properties held in Bidvest Properties segment are accounted 

for as own use assets and are thus held at cost less depreciation. Market indicators reflect that these properties could realise more 

than their carrying values if disposed of.



THE BIDVEST GROUP LIMITED

Annual Integrated Report 2013
138

38. Accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

Goodwill
The Group has assessed the carrying value of goodwill to determine whether any of the amounts have been impaired. The carrying values 

were assessed using a combination of discounted cash flow and price earnings methods, based on the actual results and forecasts for 

future years.

Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the taxable income will be available against which they can 

be utilised. Future taxable profits are estimated based on business plans which include estimates and assumptions regarding economic 

growth, interest, inflation and taxation rates and competitive forces.

Investments
The Group reflects its held-for-trade and available-for-sale investments at fair value. The directors’ value of unlisted investments was 

determined using a combination of discounted cash flow, net asset value and price earnings methods. Investments held are of a long-

term nature and uncertainty surrounds their valuation, which may result in a significant change in value.

Inventories
Impairment allowances are raised against inventory when it is considered that the amount realisable from such inventory’s sale is 

considered to be less than its carrying amount. The impairment allowances are made with reference to an inventory age analysis.

Trade receivables
Management identifies impairment of trade receivables on an ongoing basis. An impairment allowance in respect of doubtful debts 

is raised against trade receivables when their collectibility is considered to be doubtful. Management believes that the impairment 

adjustment is conservative and there are no significant trade receivables that are doubtful which have not been impaired or for which 

no allowance has been provided. In determining whether a particular receivable could be doubtful, the age, customer current financial 

status and disputes with the customer are taken into consideration.

Provisions
Refer note 32 for further disclosure.

Post-retirement obligations
The Group provides retirement benefits for its permanent employees through pension funds with defined benefit and defined 

contribution categories. Actuarial valuations are based on assumptions which include the discount rate, inflation rate, salary increase 

rate, expected return on plan assets and the pension increase allowance rate.

39. Determination of fair values
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair values, for both financial and non-

financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following 

methods. Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes 

specific to that asset or liability.

Property, plant and equipment
The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based on market values. The 

market value of property is the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing 

buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, 

prudently and without compulsion. The market values of other assets are based on the quoted market prices for similar items.

Intangible assets
The fair value of intangible assets is based on the discounted cash flows expected to be derived from the use and eventual sale of  

the assets.

Inventory
The fair value of inventory acquired in a business combination is determined based on its estimated selling price in the ordinary course 

of business less the estimated costs of completion and sale, and a reasonable profit margin based on the efforts required to complete 

and sell the inventory.

Investments
Fair value of listed investments is calculated by reference to stock exchange quoted selling prices at the close of business on  

the statement of financial position date. Fair value of unlisted investments is determined by using appropriate valuation models  

(refer note 18).

Forward exchange contracts
The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their market prices. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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39. Determination of fair values (continued)

Borrowings
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash 

flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. For finance leases the market rate of interest is determined by 

reference to similar lease agreements. The carrying value of the bank overdrafts is the fair value.

Share-based payments
The fair value of the share options is measured using a binomial method. Measurement inputs include share price at measurement 

date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on the historic volatility), option life, distribution yield and the risk-free 

interest rate (based on national government bonds).

40. Subsequent event
With effect from July 1 2013 the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Home of Living Brands Holdings Limited (formerly 

Amalgamated Appliance Holdings Limited) (HLB) that it did not already own, being 71,7%, for a consideration of R532 million. 

The Group’s management believes that the acquisition will enable HLB to continue to service its customers more efficiently, with a 

significantly enhanced offering. HLB will also benefit from being able to offer its products to the wider customer base of the Group.  

The Group funded the acquisition from its existing banking resources.

As the initial accounting for this acquisition was not completed at the time that the financial statements were authorised for issue, 

details of the values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed have not been provided.

41. Accounting standards and interpretations not effective at June 30 2013
At the date of approval of the annual financial statements, the following new standards and interpretations that apply to the Group were 

in issue but not yet effective:

Standard/interpretation Description Effective date
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments January 1 2015

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements January 1 2013

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements January 1 2013

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities January 1 2013

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement January 1 2013

IAS 19 Employee Benefits January 1 2013

IFRS 9
IFRS 9 addresses the initial measurement and classification of financial assets and will replace the relevant sections of IAS 39. Under 

IFRS 9 there are two options in respect of classification of financial assets namely, financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair 

value. Financial assets are measured at amortised cost when the business model is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash 

flows and when they give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. All other 

financial assets are measured at fair value.

Management does not expect any significant impact on the financial results.

IFRS 10
IFRS 10 addresses the divergence arising from the control-based principles in IAS 27 and the risks and rewards based approach in 

SIC 12, and in addition, provides greater guidance on de facto control.

Management does not expect any significant impact on the financial results.

IFRS 11
IFRS 11 identifies two types of joint arrangements, joint operations and joint ventures, and prohibits the use of proportionate 

consolidation for joint ventures.

Management does not expect any significant impact on the financial results.

IFRIC 12
In order to provide greater transparency, IFRS 12 requires disclosure of the nature, risks and financial impact of consolidated and 

unconsolidated entities.

Management does not expect any significant impact on the financial results.
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41. Accounting standards and interpretations not effective at June 30 2013 (continued)

IFRS 13
IFRS 13 is a single cohesive standard consolidating the principles of fair value measurement and disclosures for financial reporting. Fair 

value measurements of a non-financial asset will take into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using 

the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

Management does not expect any significant impact on the financial results.

IAS 19
The elimination of the corridor method will require entities to recognise changes in defined obligations and plan assets immediately 

through other comprehensive income. The amendments in comprehensive income presentation result in the consistent treatment of 

changes in the defined obligation and plan assets.

Management does not expect any significant impact on the financial results.

IASB annual improvements 2009 – 2011 cycle
The amendments embodied in the annual improvements 2009 – 2011 cycle are effective for the Group for the year ending  

June 30 2014.

As part of its annual improvements project, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) made amendments to a number of 

accounting standards. These amendments were primarily made to resolve conflicts and remove inconsistencies between standards, 

clarify the status of application guidances in standards, clarify existing IFRS requirements, as well as conforming the terminology used 

in standards with that used in other standards and to those more widely used.

Management’s assessment of the improvements has not revealed any material impact on the Group’s results.

In addition to the aforementioned, management has assessed the impact of the changes to IAS 1, IAS 16, IAS 27, IAS 28, IAS 32 and 

IAS 34 and have determined these changes will not have any material impact on the Group’s results.

42. Changes in segmental information
During the year, certain operations were reclassified between segments, as a result of a change in how operations within the segments 

are managed. The comparative year’s segmental information has been represented to reflect these changes.

The above reorganisation had no impact on the results of the Group as previously reported, and as such, a restated consolidated 

financial position for the year to June 30 2011 has not been included with this report. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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2013 2012

43. Foreign currency exchange rates
The following exchange rates were used in the conversion of foreign interests and foreign 

transactions at June 30 

Rand/sterling

Closing rate  15,05  12,94 

Average rate  13,87  12,34 

Rand/euro

Closing rate  13,13  10,46 

Average rate  11,46  10,41 

Rand/Australian dollar

Closing rate  9,05  8,42 

Average rate  9,08  8,03 

Rand/New Zealand dollar 

Closing rate  7,66  6,60 

Average rate  7,27  6,26 

Rand/Hong Kong dollar 

Closing rate  1,28  1,07 

Average rate  1,14  1,00 

Rand/Singapore dollar

Closing rate  7,81  6,52 

Average rate  7,14  6,18 

Rand/Czech koruna

Closing rate  0,50  0,40 

Average rate  0,45  0,42 

Rand/Polish zloty

Closing rate  2,98  2,41 

Average rate  2,76  2,45 

Rand/US dollar

Closing rate  9,89  8,29 

Average rate  8,85  7,79 

Rand/Japanese yen

Closing rate  0,10  0,10 

Average rate  0,10  0,10 
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Company statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended June 30

Company statement of cash flows
for the year ended June 30

 Note 

2013
R’000

2012

R’000

Dividends received  1 554 178  1 335 152 

 Subsidiaries and joint ventures  1 514 067  1 291 491 

 Associates  40 111  43 661 

Administration expenses  (113) –

Fair value adjustments and impairment of investment in subsidiaries,  

 joint ventures and associates  (79 898)  (11 731)

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates  (3 523)  (82 552)

Unclaimed dividends written back  –  1 230

Profit before taxation  1 470 644  1 242 099

Taxation 1  (3 400) (97 393)

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders  1 467 244 1 144 706

Total comprehensive income for the year  1 467 244 1 144 706

 Note 

2013
R’000

2012

R’000

Cash flows from operating activities  (687 844)  (775 709)

 Cash generated by operations 2  1 498 271  1 336 269 

 Taxation paid 3  (3 400)  (97 393)

 Dividends paid  (2 182 715)  (2 014 585)

Cash effects of investment activities  697 747  712 077 

 Decrease in advances to subsidiaries  876 278  823 083 

 Decrease in advances to associates  8 779  – 

 Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates 4  (245 558)  (111 006)

 Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 5  58 248  – 

Cash effects of financing activities 

Proceeds from share issues  –  56 247 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  9 903  (7 385)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  89 628  97 013 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  99 531  89 628 
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Company statement of financial position
at June 30

2013
R’000

2012

R’000

Share capital  16 387  16 387 

 Balance at beginning of year  16 387  16 367 

 Shares issued in terms of the share incentive scheme  – 20

Share premium  137 485  137 485 

 Balance at beginning of year  137 485  81 258 

 Share issue costs  – (33)

 Shares issued in terms of the share incentive scheme  –  56 260 

Equity-settled share-based payment reserve  222 026  147 885 

 Balance at beginning of year  147 885  390 144 

 Arising during the year  119 332  117 669 

 Utilisation during the year  (45 191)  (56 273)

 Transfer to investment in subsidiaries  –  (303 655)

Movement in retained earnings  5 720 673  6 436 144 

 Balance at beginning of year  6 436 144  7 306 023 

 Total comprehensive income for the year  1 467 244  1 144 706 

 Dividends paid  (2 182 715)  (2 014 585)

Equity attributable to shareholders of the company  6 096 571 6 737 901

 Note 

2013
R’000

2012

R’000

ASSETS 

Non-current assets  5 951 724  6 658 751 

 Interest in subsidiaries 6  5 909 570  6 551 747 

 Interest in associates 7  41 804  106 654 

 Investments 8  350 350

Current assets  155 922  89 628 

 Trade and other receivables  56 391 – 

 Cash and cash equivalents  99 531  89 628 

Total assets  6 107 646  6 748 379 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  

Capital and reserves 9  6 096 571  6 737 901 

Current liabilities  

 Trade and other payables  11 075  10 478 

Total equity and liabilities  6 107 646  6 748 379 

Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended June 30
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2013
 R’000 

2012
 R’000 

1. Taxation 
Current taxation 

 Prior years  – (235)

Secondary taxation on companies  –  94 131 

Foreign withholdings tax  3 400  3 497 

Total taxation per income statement  3 400  97 393 

The reconciliation of the effective tax rate with the company tax rate is as follows:  % %

Taxation for the year as a percentage of profit before taxation  0,2 7,8

Dividend and exempt income  29,6 30,2

Withholding taxes  (0,2) (0,3)

Secondary taxation on companies  – (7,6)

Expenses not taxable or allowed  (1,6) (2,1)

Rate of South African company taxation  28,0 28,0

2. Cash generated by operations R’000  R’000

Profit before taxation  1 470 644  1 242 099 

Adjustment for non-cash items  83 421  93 053 

Working capital changes

 Increase in trade and other receivables  (56 391) –

 Increase in trade and other payables and provisions  597  1 117

Cash generated by operations  1 498 271  1 336 269 

3. Taxation paid
Amount payable at beginning of year  –  – 

Per income statement  (3 400)  (97 393)

Amount payable at end of year  –  – 

Amount paid  (3 400)  (97 393)

4. Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates 
Interest in subsidiaries  (245 558)  (111 006)
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2013
 R’000 

2012
 R’000 

5. Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries and associates 
Interest in subsidiaries  –  82 552 

Interest in associates  61 771 –

Net carrying value  61 771  82 552 

Profit (loss) on disposal  (3 523)  (82 552)

Net proceeds  58 248 –

6. Interest in subsidiaries 
Shares at net realisable value  3 755 972  3 521 871 

Due by subsidiaries  2 670 414  3 537 335 

Due to subsidiaries  (516 816)  (507 459)

 5 909 570  6 551 747 

Details of operational subsidiaries are reflected on pages 147 to 153 of this report.

7. Interest in associates 
Listed  5 742  5 742 

Unlisted  24 746  80 817 

 30 488  86 559 

Interest-free advances  11 316  20 095 

 41 804  106 654 

Market value of listed associates  35 583  29 700 

Directors’ value of unlisted associates  108 802  325 900 

 144 385  355 600 

Details of major associates are reflected on page 154 of this report.

8. Investments 
Unlisted shares  350 350

Directors’ value of unlisted investments  350 350

9. Capital and reserves
Share capital 

Authorised 

540 000 000 (2012: 540 000 000) ordinary shares of 5 cents each  27 000  27 000 

Number Number

Issued

 Balance at beginning of year  327 734 929  327 348 572 

 Shares issued in terms of the share incentive scheme  –  386 357 

Balance at end of year  327 734 929  327 734 929 
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2013
 R’000 

2012
 R’000 

9. Capital and reserves (continued)

Issued share capital

Share capital  16 387  16 387 

Share premium  137 485  137 485 

Reserves

Equity-settled share-based payment reserve  222 026  147 885 

Retained earnings  5 720 673  6 436 144 

 6 096 571  6 737 901 

30 000 000 (2012: 30 000 000) of the unissued shares are under the control of the directors until 

the next annual general meeting. 

10. Contingent liabilities
In respect of guarantees of banking and other facilities granted to subsidiaries  

 and associates  29 236 854  26 320 200 

Of which have been utilised  13 231 726  9 700 291 

11. Borrowing powers
Borrowing powers, in terms of the articles of association, are unlimited.

12. Related parties
The subsidiaries and associates of the Group are related parties of the company. The company has made loans to, and has received 

loans from, certain of these entities, details of which are reflected on pages 147 to 154 of this report.

Details of income received from these related parties are included in the income statement.

All expenditure incurred by the company is borne by a subsidiary in lieu of administration fees and interest.
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Interest in subsidiaries and associates
as at June 30

 Company’s interests 

Effective holdings Shares Indebtedness

Operational subsidiaries
2013

%
2012

%

2013
R’000

2012

R’000

2013
R’000

2012

R’000

Bidvest Automotive(A)

Autohaus Centurion (Pty) Limited  50  50  –  –  –  – 

Coltish Investments (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Inyanga Motors (Pty) Limited  90  90  –  –  –  – 

Inyanga Plaza Investments (Pty) Limited  90  90  –  –  –  – 

Kunene Brothers Sandton (Pty) Limited  40  40  –  –  –  – 

Kunene Motor Holdings Limited  64  64  –  –  –  – 

McCarthy Limited  100  100  758 675  759 301  –  – 

Bidvest Electrical(B)

Bellco Electrical (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Sanlic International (Pty) Limited  58  100  –  –  –  – 

Versalec Cables (Pty) Limited  100  100  84 617  84 315  –  – 

Voltex (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  (9 824)  (9 824)

Voltex Holdings Limited  100  100  255 283  251 074  –  – 

Bidvest Financial Services(C)

Bidvest Bank Holdings Limited  100  100  547 659  546 660  163  163 

Bidvest Bank Limited  100  100  –  –  45 291  49 833 

Bidvest Capital (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Insurance Brokers (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Insurance Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Life Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Master Currency (Pty) Limited  100  100  11 709  17 283  –  – 

McCarthy Retail Finance (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

MCY Management Services (Pty) Limited  100  100  716  716  –  – 

Namibia Bureau de Change (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Rennies Foreign Exchange (Botswana) (Pty) Limited(3)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Rennies Travel Holdings (Malawi) Limited(14)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Viamax (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Viamax Fleet Solutions (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Freight(D)

African Shipping Limited  100  100  9 604  9 377  –  – 

Bidfreight Intermodal (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidfreight Port Operations (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Freight (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bulk Connections (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Durban Coal Terminals Company Limited  100  100  112 521  111 230  –  – 

Ensimbini Terminals (Pty) Limited  50  50  4 540  4 540  –  – 

Island View Storage Limited  100  100  369 917  369 560  –  – 

Island View Storage Richards Bay (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Manica (Botswana) (Pty) Limited(3)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Manica (Malawi) Limited(14)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Manica (Zambia) Limited(32)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Manica Africa (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Manica Holdings Limited  100  100  55 697  55 697  –  – 

Manica Zimbabwe Limited(33)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Mocambique Freight Services Limitada(17)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Naval Servicos A Navegacao Limitada(17)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

P & I Associates (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Renfreight (Pty) Limited  100  100  96 317  96 032  (108)  (108)

Rennie Murray and Company (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 
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Interest in subsidiaries and associates
as at June 30

 Company’s interests 

Effective holdings Shares Indebtedness

Operational subsidiaries
2013

%
2012

%

2013
R’000

2012

R’000

2013
R’000

2012

R’000

Bidvest Freight(D) (continued)

Rennies Ships Agency (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Safcor Freight (Pty) Limited (t/a Bidvest  

 Panalpina Logistics)  100  100  107 759  105 885  –  – 

South African Bulk Terminals Limited  100  100  54 294  52 444  –  – 

South African Container Depots (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

South African Container Stevedores (Pty) Limited  82  82  1  1  –  – 

Bidvest Industrial(E)

Afcom Group Limited  100  100  12 496  12 496  31 587  31 587 

Berzack Brothers (Jhb) (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Berzack Brothers (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Afcom (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Materials Handling (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bloch & Levitan (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Buffalo Tapes (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Buffalo Tapes (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Ram Fasteners (Pty) Limited  100  100  3 319  3 319  4 806  4 806 

Sellotape (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Tuning Fork (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  151 858  180 000 

Vulcan Catering Supplies (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Office(F)

Back To School Supplies (Pty) Limited#  100  100  36  36  (36)  (36)

Bid Enterprise Development (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bid Information Exchange (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidoffice (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidoffice Furniture Manufacturing (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Medical (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Cecil Nurse (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Dauphin Office Seating SA (Pty) Limited  71  71  1 681  1 461  –  – 

Ditulo Office (Pty) Limited  43  43  143  143  –  – 

Global Payment Technologies (Pty) Limited#  100  100  44 301  44 301  (71 734)  (71 734)

Hortors Stationery (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Minolco (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Pago Designs (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  600  600 

Seating (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

South African Diaries (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Waltons (Pty) Limited#  100  100  31  31  (31)  (31)

Bidvest Paperplus(G)

Bidpaper Plus (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidpaper Plus Holdings Limited  100  100  140 635  139 655  –  – 

Blesston Printing and Associates (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Email Connection (Pty) Limited  100  100  1 708  1 708  –  – 

Expressed Solutions (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Globe Stationery Manufacturing Company  

 (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Kolok (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Kolok Africa (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Lithotech Afric Mail Cape (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Lithotech Afric Mail JHB (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Lithotech Corporate (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Lithotech Group Services (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Lithotech International Limited(31)  100  100  –  –  –  – 
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R’000
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R’000
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Bidvest Paperplus(G) (continued)

Lithotech Labels (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Lithotech Manufacturing Pinetown (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Lithotech Sales Cape (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Lithotech Sales Johannesburg (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Lithotech Sales Port Elizabeth (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Lithotech Sales Pretoria (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Lithotech Solutions (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Lufil Packaging (Pty) Limited  100  100  59 244  59 244  (73 462)  (73 462)

Mocobe Properties (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Ozalid South Africa (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Paragon Business Communications Limited  100  100  58 809  58 809  –  – 

Phakama Print (Pty) Limited  40  40  –  –  –  – 

Rotolabel (Tvl) (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Silveray Manufacturers (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Silveray Statmark Company (Pty) Limited  100  100  9 844  9 844  (9 844)  (9 844)

Bidvest Rental and Products(H)

Bidserv Industrial Products (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest (Zambia) (Pty) Limited(32)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Steripic & Promo Sachets (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bosnandi Laundry (Pty) Limited  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Clockwork Giant Clothing (Pty) Limited(26)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Execuflora (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

First Garment Rental (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

G Fox Swaziland (Pty) Limited(26)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Giant Clothing Limited(14)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Hotel Amenities Suppliers (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Industro-Clean Botswana (Pty) Limited(3)  75  75  –  –  –  – 

Masterguard Fabric Protection Africa (Pty) Limited#  100  100  2 597  2 597  –  – 

Pureau Fresh Water Company (Pty) Limited  82  82  24 570  24 570  –  – 

Rochester Midlands Industries SA (Pty) Limited#  100  50  7 266  167  –  – 

Silk By Design (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Steiner Hygiene (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Steiner Hygiene Swaziland (Pty) Limited(26)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Services(I)

Bidtrack (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Magnum (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Magnum Mining Security (Pty) Limited  100  58  6 660  976  –  – 

Bidvest Services (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Dinatla Property Services (Pty) Limited  100  100  9 948  9 948  –  – 

Langa Status Property Services (Pty) Limited  90  90  –  –  –  – 

Nomtsalane Property Services (Pty) Limited  86  86  –  –  –  – 

Prestige Cleaning Services (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Setsebi Property Services (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Taemane Cleaning Services (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

TMS Group Industrial Services (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  32  32 

Top Turf Botswana (Pty) Limited(3)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Top Turf Group (Pty) Limited#  100  100  4  4  (4)  (4)
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Bidvest Services(I) (continued)

Top Turf Mauritius (Pty) Limited(16)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Top Turf Seychelles (Pty) Limited(23)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Top Turf Swaziland (Pty) Limited(26)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

TopTurf Lesotho (Pty) Limited(12)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Total Manpower Solutions (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Umoja Property Solutions (Pty) Limited  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Travel and Aviation(J)

Bidair Hospitality (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidair Services (Pty) Limited  100  100  702  226  (11 734)  (11 734)

Bidtravel (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Commuter Handling Services (Pty) Limited  60  60  –  –  –  – 

Concorde Travel (Pty) Limited t/a Carlson 

 Wagonlit Travel  90  90  47 390  47 161  –  – 

Connex Travel (Pty) Limited t/a BCD Travel  61  61  26 718  18 594  6 738  6 738 

EAS Kenya Limited(10)  99  99  –  –  –  – 

EAS Tanzania Limited(27)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

EAS Uganda Limited(29)  100  100  –  –  –  –

EAS Zambia Limited(32)  60  60  –  –  –  – 

EAS Zimbabwe (Pvt) Limited(33)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Express Air Services (Namibia) (Pty) Limited(18)  90  90  –  –  –  – 

Express Air Services (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Harvey World Travel Southern Africa (Pty) Limited  50  50  3 464  3 464  –  – 

Macardo Lodge (Pty) Limited t/a Travelwise Travel(3)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

McCarthy Car Hire (Botswana) (Pty) Limited(3)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

McCarthy Investments (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  –

MyMarketdot Com (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Rennies Travel (Pty) Limited t/a  

 HRG Rennies Travel#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Travel Connections (Pty) Limited  60  60  9 000  9 000  –  – 

Webjet (Pty) Limited#  100  –  –  –  –  – 

World Travel (Pty) Limited#  100  100  3 350  3 601  (3 350)  (3 350)

Bidvest Foodservice Asia Pacific(K)

Angliss (Shenzhen) Food Service Company Limited(5)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Angliss Beijing Food Service Limited(5)  70  70  –  –  –  – 

Angliss China Limited (Acl)(8)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Angliss Guangzhou Food Service Limited(5)  90  90  –  –  –  – 

Angliss Hong Kong Food Service Limited(8)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Angliss International Investment Limited(8)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Angliss Macau Food Service Limited(5)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Angliss Seafood Pte Limited(24)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Angliss Shanghai Food Service Limited(5)  70  70  –  –  –  – 

Angliss Shanghai International Trading Limited(5)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Angliss Singapore Pte Limited(24)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Avid Foodservice Sdn Bhd(15)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest (NSW) Limited(1)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest (Victoria) (Pty) Limited(1)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest (WA) (Pty) Limited(1)  100  100  –  –  –  – 
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Bidvest Foodservice Asia Pacific(K) (continued)

Bidvest Australia Limited(1)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest New Zealand Limited(20)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Burleigh Marr Distributions (Pty) Limited(1)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

CaterPlus (Pty) Limited(1)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Crean Foodservice Limited(20)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Deli Meals Chile SA(4) 80 60  –  –  –  – 

Him Kee Food distribution Co Limited(8)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

John Lewis Foodservice (Pty) Limited(1)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

N Stephenson (Pty) Limited(1)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Ocean Fresh Asia Limited(8)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Pastry Global Food Service Limited(8)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Foodservice Europe(K)

Aktaes Holding AS(28)  41  –  –  –  –  – 

Al Diyafa Company for Catering Services LLC(22)  53  53  –  –  –  – 

BFS Group Limited (t/a 3663 and Bidvest Logistics)(31)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bid Foodservice (Europe) Limited(31)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bid Foodservice (Middle East) Holdings Limited(9)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidcorp Finance Limited(9)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest (UK) Limited(31)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Czech Republic sro(6)  94  94  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Foodservice International Limited(9)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Fresh Limited(31)  100  –  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Slovakia sro(25)  94  94  –  –  –  – 

BV Foodservice (Bosphorous) Holdings Limited(9)  80  –  –  –  –  – 

Cherrypik Trading LLC(30)  48  –  –  –  –  – 

Deli XL Belgie NV(2)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Deli XL BV(19)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Deli XL Europe BV(19)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Deli XL Flanders NV(2)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Deli XL NV(2)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Farutex Spzoo(21)  91  91  –  –  –  – 

Horeca KSA Trading FZCO(30)  53  53  –  –  –  – 

Horeca Trade LLC(30)  80  80  –  –  –  – 

MGS Management Services Limited (trading as  

 South Lincs Foodservice)(31)  100  –  –  –  –  – 

Nowaco Eesti OU(7)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Oliver Kay Holdings Limited(31)  75  –  –  –  –  – 

Seafood Holdings Limited(31)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

SIA Nowaco Latvia(11)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

UAB Nowaco Lietuva(13)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Foodservice Southern Africa(K)

3663 First for Food Service (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

BidFood Solutions (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidfood Technologies (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Bakery Solutions (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 
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Bidvest Foodservice Southern Africa(K) (continued)

Bidvest Food Exports (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Food Southern Africa (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Foodservice (Botswana) (Pty) Limited(3)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Foodservice (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  2 429  2 429 

Blue Marine Frozen Foods (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  – 

CCW Catering Supplies (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Catersales (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Chipkins Catering Supplies (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Crown National (Pty) Limited#  100  100  10  10  (10)  (10)

D and R Lowe Catering Supplies (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  (312)  (312)

Everyday Foods (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  5 989  507 

First Food Distributors (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

International Bakery Ingredients (Pty) Limited  100  100  7 830  7 830  –  – 

Lou's Wholesalers (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

M & M Quality Choice (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

NCP Yeast (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Patleys (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

RFS Catering Supplies (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Tri-Mark Industries (Pty) Limited  100  100  673  673  –  – 

Bidvest Namibia(B,D,F,J,K,L,M)

Bidvest Namibia Commercial Holdings (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Namibia Fisheries Holdings (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Namibia Information Technology (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Namibia Limited(18)  51  51  212 806  212 806  (1)  (1)

Bidvest Namibia Management Services (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Namibia Property Holdings (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Budget Rent a Car (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Caterplus Namibia (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Cecil Nurse Namibia (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Comet Investments Capital Incorporated(18)  35  35  –  –  –  – 

Elzet Development (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Kolok (Namibia) (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Lubrication Specialists (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Lüderitz Bay Shipping & Forwarding (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Manica Group Namibia (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Matador Enterprises (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Minolco (Namibia) (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Namibian Sea Products Limited(18)  35  35  –  –  –  – 

Namsov Fishing Enterprises (Pty) Limited(18)  35  35  –  –  –  – 

Namsov Industrial Properties (Pty) Limited(18)  35  35  –  –  –  – 

Pesca Fresca Limitada(18)  17  17  –  –  –  – 

Rennies Travel (Namibia) (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

T&C Properties Namibia (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

T&C Trading (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 
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Bidvest Namibia(B,D,F,J,K,L,M) (continued)

Taeuber & Corssen SWA (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Tetelestai Mariculture (Pty) Limited(18)  35  35  –  –  –  – 

Trachurus Fishing (Pty) Limited(18)  21  21  –  –  –  – 

Twafika Fishing Enterprises (Pty) Limited(18)  27  27  –  –  –  – 

United Fishing Enterprises (Pty) Limited(18)  35  35  –  –  –  – 

Voltex Namibia (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Waltons Namibia (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Walvis Bay Airport Services (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Walvis Bay Stevedoring Company (Pty) Limited(18)  28  28  –  –  –  – 

Woker Freight Services (Pty) Limited(18)  51  51  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Corporate(M)

Abland North (Pty) Limited  50  50  –  –  –  – 

Airport Logistics Property Holdings (Pty) Limited  50  50  142  142  –  – 

BB Investment Company (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bid Corporation (Pty) Limited  100  100  36 110  51 389  2 167 187  2 578 143 

Bid Industrial Holdings (Pty) Limited  100  100  128 826  63 257  146 422  446 464 

Bid Services Division (IOM) Limited(9)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bid Services Division (Pty) Limited  100  100  596  310  89 765  102 462 

Bid Services Division (UK) Limited(31)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bid Services Division Mauritius Limited(16)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidcorp Limited(31)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidcorp Outsourced Services Limited(31)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidcorp Property Limited(31)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Corporate Services (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  52  52 

Bidvest International Limited(9)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Procurement (Pty) Limited#  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Properties (Pty) Limited  100  100  –  –  180  180 

Bidvest Properties International Limited(9)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Bidvest Wits University Football Club (Pty) Limited  60  60  –  –  –  – 

Bidvestco Limited  100  100  44 068  44 068  (44 068)  (44 068)

Brentwood Technical Services Limited(31)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Gerlan Properties (Pty) Limited  50  50  5 700  5 700  –  – 

Ontime Automotive Limited(31)  100  100 –  –  –  – 

Ontime Global Automotive Services Limited(31)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Ontime Parking Solutions Limited(31)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Ontime Rescue & Recovery Limited(31)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Rennies Property Holdings (Pty) Limited  100  100  54 000  54 000  –  – 

Siki Fox Properties (Pty) Limited  50  50  1 000  1 002  –  – 

Silveray Properties (Pty) Limited  100  100  8 833  8 833  –  – 

Skillion Limited(31)  100  100  –  –  –  – 

Other 307 613 151 841  (274 983)  (149 602)

3 751 432 3 517 331  2 153 598  3 029 876 
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Interest in subsidiaries and associates
as at June 30

Country of incorporation if not South Africa
(1) Australia (18) Namibia 

(2) Belgium (19) Netherlands 

(3) Botswana (20) New Zealand 

(4) Chile (21) Poland 

(5) China (22) Saudi Arabia 

(6) Czech Republic (23) Seychelles 

(7) Estonia (24) Singapore 

(8) Hong Kong (25) Slovakia 

(9) Isle of Man (26) Swaziland 

(10) Kenya (27) Tanzania

(11) Latvia (28) Turkey 

(12) Lesotho (29) Uganda 

(13) Lithuania (30) United Arab Emirates 

(14) Malawi (31) United Kingdom 

(15) Malaysia (32) Zambia 

(16) Mauritius (33) Zimbabwe 

(17) Mozambique 

Nature of business
(A) Motor vehicle retailing and related services 

(B) Manufacturer and distributor of electrical products and services 

(C) Banking products and services, foreign exchange and insurance 

(D) Freight, forwarding, clearing, distribution, warehousing and allied activities 

(E) Distributor of forklifts, power and marine products, music and sound 

equipment, electrical appliances, packaging closures and catering equipment 

(F) Distributor of office stationery; furniture and office automation products and 

related services 

(G) Manufacturer, supplier and distributor of commercial office products, printer 

products, services, stationery and packaging products 

(H) Rental hygiene equipment, garments and water coolers; suppliers of 

consumables, specialised clothing and laundry services 

(I) Cleaning, hygiene, security, and interior and exterior landscaping services 

(J) Travel management services, aviation services and car rental 

(K) Catering supplies, food and allied products 

(L) Harvesting and processing of fish and related products

(M) Group services, investment and property holding

 Company’s interests 

Effective holdings Shares Indebtedness

Major associates
2013

%
2012

%

2013
R’000

2012

R’000

2013
R’000

2012

R’000

“K” Line Shipping (South Africa) (Pty) Limited  

 (December 31 year-end)(D)  49  49  –  –  –  – 

Amalgamated Appliance Holdings Limited(E)  31  28  –  –  –  – 

Amalgamated Automobile Distributors (Pty) Limited(A)  50  50  10 000  10 000  –  – 

Bidsport (Pty) Limited (t/a MSC Sports)(M)  50  50  9 636  9 636  –  – 

Comair Limited(J)  26  26  –  –  –  – 

Compu-Clearing Outsourcing Limited(D)  21  21  5 742  5 742  –  – 

CSAV Group Agencies (South Africa) (Pty) Limited(D)  40  40  –  –  –  – 

Imperial McCarthy (Pty) Limited(A)  50  50  –  –  –  – 

Mvelaserve Limited(I)  26  26  –  –  –  – 

Sebenza Forwarding & Shipping (Pty) Limited  

 (March 31 year-end)(D)  45  45  5 011  5 011  –  – 

Stellar Africa (Pty) Limited(M) 50  25  –  –  – 
Supaswift (Pty) Limited(D)  36  36  –  –  10 280  20 000 

Waltons Mozambique Limitada (December 31 year-end)(F)(17)  50  50  –  –  –  – 

Other  99  56 170  1 036  95 

 30 488 86 559  11 316  20 095 

Amounts owing by or to subsidiaries and associates are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment. 

*Less than R1 000.
#Trading as an agent.
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Shareholder information
as at June 30 2013

Number of

shares 

held

% 

of shares

issued

% of 

effective

holding

Beneficial shareholding

Major shareholders holding 1% or more of the shares in issue

Government Employees Pension Fund (GEPF) 49 398 069 15,07 15,75

BB Investment Company (Pty) Limited 13 297 148 4,06   

Lazard Emerging Markets Fund 10 080 652 3,08 3,21

Government Singapore Investment Corporation 7 149 897 2,18 2,28

Vanguard Emerging Markets 5 665 378 1,73 1,81

Old Mutual Life Assurance Company Limited 5 402 744 1,65 1,72

Genesis Emerging Markets 5 174 378 1,58 1,65

Genesis Group Trust For Employee Benefits 4 181 940 1,28 1,33

WDB Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited 3 887 797 1,19 1,24

iShares MSCI Emerging Markets Index Fund 3 883 467 1,18 1,24

108 121 470 32,99 34,48

Investment management holdings

Fund managers managing 3% or more of the shares in issue

Public Investment Corporation 41 519 160 12,67 13,24

Lazard Asset Management LLC Group 20 750 299 6,33 6,62

Sanlam Investment Management 16 601 897 5,07 5,29

JP Morgan Asset Management Group 16 354 643 4,99 5,22

Genesis Investment Management 16 190 307 4,94 5,16

BB Investment Company (Pty) Limited 13 297 148 4,06

BlackRock Inc 12 676 421 3,87 4,04

137 389 875 41,93 39,57

Shares in issue

Total number in issue 327 734 929

BB Investment Company (Pty) Limited (treasury shares)  (13 297 148)

The Bidvest Incentive Scheme  (882 339)

Effective number of shares in issue 313 555 442
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Shareholder information
as at June 30 2013

Number of

shares held

% 

of shares 

issued

Shareholder categories

Pension funds 96 942 593 29,58

Unit trusts/mutual fund 96 660 298 29,49

Other managed funds 39 349 620 12,01

Private investors 18 658 128 5,69

Sovereign wealth 17 976 768 5,48

Insurance companies 16 691 691 5,09

Corporate 13 297 148 4,06

Black economic empowerment 7 810 629 2,38

American depositary receipts 2 850 022 0,87

Exchange traded fund 2 571 270 0,78

Investment trust 1 427 386 0,44

Charity 362 078 0,11

Local authority 159 805 0,05

University 150 136 0,05

Hedge fund 52 190 0,02

Remainder 12 775 167 3,90

327 734 929 100,00

Geographic split of beneficial shareholders

South Africa 170 755 615 52,10

United States of America and Canada 79 982 036 24,40

United Kingdom 20 251 644 6,18

Rest of Europe 28 339 589 8,65

Rest of the world 28 406 045 8,67

327 734 929 100,00

Number of

shareholders

% of all

shareholders

Number of

shares held

% 

of shares 

issued

Analysis of shareholdings

 1  –  1 000 23 832  79,73 7 337 803  2,24 

 1 001  –  10 000 5 073  16,97 14 097 824  4,30 

 10 001  –  100 000 732  2,45 23 032 794  7,03 

 100 001  –  1 000 000 208  0,70 61 436 433  18,74 

 1 000 001 and more 46  0,15 221 830 075  67,69 

29 891  100,00 327 734 929  100,00 

Shareholder spread

Public shareholders 29 875  99,95 310 220 614  94,65 

Non-public shareholders 16  0,05 17 514 315  5,35 

 The Bidvest Share Incentive Scheme 1  – 882 339  0,27 

 BB Investment Company (Pty) Limited 1  – 13 297 148  4,06 

 Bidcorp Group Retirement Fund 2  0,01 858 310  0,26 

 Bidvest Dinatla Trust 1  – 380 700  0,12 

 Directors and Family Trusts 11  0,04 2 095 818  0,64 

 29 891  100,00 327 734 929  100,00 
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Shareholders’ diary 

Financial year-end June 30 

Annual general meeting November 

Report and accounts

Interim report for the half year ending December 31 February

Announcement of annual results August

Annual report October

Distributions Declaration Payment

Interim distribution February/March March

Final distribution August/September September 
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Administration 

The Bidvest Group Limited

Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa

Registration number: 1946/021180/06

ISIN: ZAE000117321

Share code: BVT

Secretary 
Craig Brighten

Auditors 
Deloitte & Touche

Legal advisers
Edward Nathan Sonnenbergs

Baker & McKenzie

Werksmans Inc

Bankers
The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited

Nedbank Limited

Investec Bank Limited

HSBC Bank plc

FirstRand Group Limited

Commonwealth Bank of Australia Limited

Barclays Bank Limited

ASB Bank Limited

ABSA Bank Limited

Share transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited

PO Box 61051

Marshalltown

2107

0861 100 950

Sponsor
Investec Securities Limited

 

Group financial director, Group corporate finance  
and investor relations
David Cleasby

Communications
Junette Davidson

Registered office
Bidvest House

18 Crescent Drive

Melrose Arch

Melrose

2196

South Africa

PO Box 87274

Houghton

2041

South Africa

Telephone +27 (11) 772 8700

Facsimile +27 (11) 772 8970

Website 
www.bidvest.com

Email  info@bidvest.com 

investor@bidvest.com  

Bidvest call line
0860 BIDVEST

Ethics line
Freecall 0800 50 60 90

Freefax 0800 00 77 88

Email bidvest@tip-offs.com

Freepost  Tip-offs Anonymous  

KwaZulu-Natal 138  

Umhlanga Rocks, 4320 

South Africa
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REGISTERED OFFICE SOUTH AFRICA
Bidvest House

18 Crescent Drive 

Melrose Arch

Melrose

Johannesburg

2196

South Africa

Website: www.bidvest.com 

Telephone: +27 (11) 772 8700

Facsimile: +27 (11) 772 8970

Email: info@bidvest.co.za


